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This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements 
with respect to future events and our future financial 
performances. All statements other than statements 
of historical fact are statements that could be forward-
looking statements, including but not limited to, 
statements regarding:  

 the growth and prospects of the digital  
advertising industry; 

 forecasts regarding Internet usage and  
advertising spend;

 projected levels of growth in our markets;

 our expectations about the factors that drive 
business;

 the growth of our business and revenues;  
the potential for declines in our revenue; 

 our plans to continue to invest in our people, 
processes and products; 

 our investments in international and emerging 
markets and sectors; 

 estimates of future compensation expenses;  
our plans to use funds; 

 operating expenses; and

 other statements regarding our prospects,  
and business strategies.

These forward-looking statements are subject to a 
number of risks and uncertainties, assumptions and 
other factors that could cause actual results and timing 
of events to differ materially from future results that are 
expressed or implied in our forward-looking statements.  
Among the key factors that could cause or contribute 
to such differences include the growth and prospects 
of the digital advertising industry, forecasts regarding 
internet usage and advertising spend, projected levels 
of growth in RhythmOne’s markets, RhythmOne’s 
expectations about the factors that drive business, 
RhythmOne’s investments in international and emerging 
market and sectors, anticipated trends and challenges 
in RhythmOne’s industry, including but not limited to 
the increasing quantity, variety and fragmentation of 
digital video content, platforms, distribution channels 
and technologies, the expansion of the digital media 
advertising market in general and the digital video 
advertising market in particular, RhythmOne’s operating 
results, including revenue, cost of revenue, expenses 
and liquidity, RhythmOne’s strategy and competition, 

market trends, including overall opportunities for digital 
media advertising and shifting advertising budget, the 
ongoing improvement and refinement of RhythmOne’s 
data science capabilities, developments in the regulatory 
framework applicable to RhythmOne’s business, and 
RhythmOne’s intellectual property and proprietary 
technologies, US and UK domestic and global economic 
and business conditions, the effects of blogs and media 
coverage, the effects of continued volatility in credit 
markets, market-related risks such as changes in interest 
rates and exchange rates, the policies and actions of 
governmental and regulatory authorities, changes in 
legislation, the further development of standards and 
interpretations under International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) applicable to past, current and 
future periods, evolving practices with regard to the 
interpretation and application of standards under IFRS, 
the outcome of pending and future litigation, the success 
of future acquisitions and other strategic transactions, 
and the impact of competition—a number of which are 
beyond RhythmOne’s control.

As used herein, “RhythmOne,” “the Company,” “the 
Group,” “we,” “our,” and similar terms include RhythmOne 
plc and its subsidiaries, unless the context indicates 
otherwise. Unless otherwise specified, this report 
covers results ending 31 March 2018 (“FY2018” or “the 
Period”). “RhythmOne” and other trademarks of ours 
appearing in this report are our property. This report 
contains additional trade names and trademarks of 
other companies. We do not intend our use or display of 
other companies’ trade names or trademarks to imply an 
endorsement or sponsorship of us by such companies, or 
any relationship with any of these companies.

Except as required by the Financial Conduct Authority 
(FCA), Alternative Investment Market (AIM), or applicable 
law, all forward-looking statements attributable to 
RhythmOne or persons acting on their behalf, are 
expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary 
statements set out herein and speak only as of the date 
they are made. Subject to compliance with applicable 
laws and regulations, RhythmOne disclaims any 
intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-
looking statements and undertakes no obligation to 
release publicly the results of any future revisions to 
the forward-looking statements to reflect events or 
circumstances after the date hereof or to reflect the 
occurrence of unanticipated events. Neither the content 
of the Company’s website (or any other website) nor the 
content of any website accessible from hyperlinks on the 
Company’s website (or any other website) is incorporated 
into, or forms part of, this report. None of these 
statements should be construed as a recommendation to 
invest in the Company.

SAFE HARBOR DISCLOSURE
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FY2018 was a year of strategic growth for RhythmOne. With accelerated 
profitability on an Adjusted EBITDA1 basis, the Company’s focus on 
mobile, video and programmatic trading has begun to bear fruit. Strong 
organic growth was augmented by the completion of two acquisitions 
during FY2018, both of which were aligned with the Company’s strategy 
to become the most efficient and effective quality marketplace for multi-
screen digital advertising – driving real business outcomes for advertisers.  

The Company remains focused on revenue growth and profitability 
by enhancing its unified programmatic platform, deepening its supply 
footprint in key channels like connected TV, and packaging unique 
supply into audiences designed to meet advertiser goals. 

Key financial and operating performance for the Period is outlined below:

FINANCIAL

 Maintained focus on strategic growth and accelerated profitability 
on an Adjusted EBITDA1 basis; 

 FY2018 performance in line with management expectations across 
key metrics, as follows:  
  Revenues of $255.1M (FY2017: $149.0M), up 71% year-on-year; 
  Adjusted EBITDA1 of $14.0M, an improvement of $12.5M or 912%   

(FY2017: $1.4M); 
  RhythmOne on-platform revenues of $89.7M (FY2017: $78.7M), up  

 14% year-on- year;

 Net Cash2 totaled $27.3M as at 31 March 2018  
(FY2017: $75.2M).

 
OPERATIONS AND GOVERNANCE
  Completed the acquisition of certain assets and liabilities of 

RadiumOne Inc., a data-driven marketing platform, enhancing the 
Company’s base of engaged audiences;

 Completed the acquisition of YuMe Inc., a video and connected TV 
innovator, augmenting the Company’s video and supply footprint 
and demand relationships; 
  Integration efforts are in line with management expectations,   

 the Company expects to realize approximately $15M in annualized  
 synergies from the YuMe merger; 
  In relation to the YuMe transaction, the Company completed its   

 SEC registration;

 On 26 July 2017, the Company completed a UK High Court 
approved capital reduction, the purpose of which was to create 
distributable reserves that provide the Company some flexibility 
should it wish to undertake the payment of dividends or a share 
buy-back program in the future;

 As we have in prior years, the Company will seek authority at its 
2018 Annual General Meeting from its shareholders to potentially 
implement a share buyback program that would enable the 
Company to make market purchases of its ordinary shares;

 Invested approximately $9M in product development and capital 
expenses to strengthen and improve product lines;

 During FY2018, the following executive hires and Board 
appointments were made: 
  Mr. Eric Singer as Chairman of the Board, providing extensive  

 business, corporate development and financial experience  
 across industries;  
  Mr. John Mutch as Non-Executive Director of the Board, bringing  

 extensive business, corporate leadership and financial expertise  
 across technology, software and IT industries; 
  Mr. Edward Reginelli as CFO and Executive Director of the Board,  

 bringing strong operations experience and financial cost discipline;

 Post FY2018 close, the following executive hire and board 
appointment was made: 
  Mr. Mark Bonney as President, CEO and Executive Director of the  

 Board, bringing extensive experience leading public companies  
 through integrations and other transformative events.

PRODUCTS
 RhythmOne platform ranked #1 internationally and in the US in quality 

for all of 2017, as measured by Pixalate’s Global Seller Trust IndexTM;

 Opportunity volume and price grew by 59% and 61% year-on-year, 
respectively;

 Expanded proprietary brand safety technology (“RhythmGuard”)  
to include scoring of traffic based on viewability and key 
performance metrics;

 Formed or renewed relationships with more than 30 demand side 
platforms and a number of top-tier brands and advertisers;

 Integrated 8 new supply side platform partners and signed over 
400 new publisher partners;

 Integrated RadiumOne’s demand-side and data management platforms 
(DSP and DMP) into the Company’s end-to-end technology stack. 

NON-GAAP MEASURES
1. ADJUSTED EBITDA. This Annual Report contains references 

to Adjusted EBITDA. This financial measure does not have any 
standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and is therefore referred to 
as non-GAAP measures. This non-GAAP measure used by RhythmOne 
may not be comparable to similar measures used by other companies. 
Adjusted EBITDA is defined as loss for the period, adjusted to exclude 
finance income and expense, taxation, depreciation and amortization, 
share based payments and exceptional items in continuing 
operations and in discontinued operations, which include goodwill 
impairment, change in intangible assets’ lives, acquisition-related 
costs, restructuring and severance costs, settlement of litigation, 
re-measurement of deferred consideration and unrealized foreign 
exchange gain and loss. Management believes that this measure 
is a useful supplemental metric as it provides an indication of the 
results generated by the Company’s principal trading activities prior to 
consideration of how the results are impacted by nonrecurring costs, 
how the results are taxed in various jurisdictions, or how the results 
are affected by the accounting standards associated with the Group’s 
share based payment expense.

2. NET CASH comprise of cash on hand and demand deposits, and 
other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible 
to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk 
of changes in value in addition to Marketable securities which are 
investments in corporate bonds, commercial papers, government 
bonds, collateralized securities and certificates of deposit net of 
borrowings under the Company’s revolving  
credit facility.

 
DESIGNATED FOREIGN ISSUER
The Company is a “designated foreign issuer” as such term is defined in 
National Instrument 71-102 – Continuous Disclosure and Other Exemptions 
Relating to Foreign Issuers of the Canadian Securities Administrators, and 
in addition to applicable securities laws in Canada, the Company is also 
subject to the applicable foreign regulatory requirements of the AIM market 
of the London Stock Exchange plc and other applicable securities laws and 
regulatory authorities in the United Kingdom.  Because the Company is a 
“designated foreign issuer”, the Company is permitted to satisfy certain of 
the obligations of applicable securities laws in Canada, including many of its 
disclosure obligations, by relying upon compliance with the requirements 
of the applicable foreign regulators and foreign securities laws.  In addition, 
persons or companies may be permitted to satisfy the early warning and 
insider reporting requirements of applicable Canadian securities laws 
by complying with the comparable requirements of applicable foreign 
regulators and foreign law requirements. Accordingly, the disclosure 
made by the Company, and persons and companies with an interest in 
the Company, may differ from the disclosure that would be required to 
be provided by the Company, or by such persons and companies, if the 
Company were not a “designated foreign issuer”.    

Millions FY2018 FY2017 Change

Revenue   $255.1   $149.0   71.2%
Adjusted EBITDA1   $14.0   $1.4   912.0%
Loss for the year   ($13.9)   ($18.8)   26.2%
Net Cash2   $27.3   $75.2   ($47.9)

KEY HIGHLIGHTS
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TOTAL 
REVENUE
$255.1M
$149.0M

ADJ. EBITDA1

$14.0M
$1.4M

NET CASH2

$27.3M
$75.2M

Time Period: FY2018 (top), FY2017 (bottom)

FY2018 WAS A YEAR  
OF STRATEGIC GROWTH 
FOR RHYTHMONE. 
WITH ACCELERATED 
PROFITABIL ITY ON 
AN ADJUSTED EBITDA 
BASIS ,  THE COMPANY’S 
STRATEGIC FOCUS 
ON MOBILE ,  V IDEO 
AND PROGRAMMATIC 
TRADING HAS BEGUN 
TO BEAR FRUIT. 
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RHYTHMONE
RhythmOne (LSE AIM: RTHM) is an advertising technology company that connects audiences with brands through content across 
devices. The Company’s mission is to operate the most efficient and effective video and connected TV-focused digital advertising 
marketplace, resulting real business outcomes for brands. Through its multi-channel, multi-format programmatic platform, 
RhythmMax, the Company amasses supply across owned, controlled and marketplace sources, and demand from brands, agencies, 
trading desks and demand side platforms to deliver a complete, integrated solution for engaged digital audiences at scale.

FY2018 saw the Company return to growth and underlying profitability on an Adjusted EBITDA basis. Performance was largely 
driven by the Company’s unified programmatic platform, RhythmMax, which experienced strong gains across key performance 
indicators with growth in the volume of quality inventory and pricing. During the Period, the Company reinforced its position as an 
end-to-end technology platform with massive scale, data-driven audiences and quality, differentiated inventory across devices and 
channels, including connected TV.

In FY2018, RhythmOne continued its strategic focus on mobile, video and programmatic trading with a particular emphasis in growth 
of on-platform programmatic revenue, which saw an increase of approximately 14% year-on-year. In addition, FY2018 included the 
execution of two key transactions – RadiumOne, Inc. (“RadiumOne”) in June 2017 and YuMe, Inc. (‘YuMe”) in February 2018. Through 
RadiumOne, RhythmOne gained access to a leading data driven marketing platform, proprietary performance analytics tools and 
premium demand relationships. The YuMe acquisition provided access to premium video and connected TV inventory, unique 
audience insights, cross-screen targeting technology and established demand relationships. In relation to the YuMe transaction, 
the Company also completed its SEC registration. Both transactions served to accelerate the Company’s strategy to build a unified 
programmatic platform with unique audiences of differentiated quality at scale.

RhythmOne believes the online advertising sector will continue to grow and transform at a rapid pace. The Company also believes 
that advertisers will continue to reward fully-integrated supply partners that deliver engaged audiences, cross-device advertising 
capabilities and clear measurement around campaign effectiveness and supply quality. RhythmOne is headquartered in San 
Francisco, California, with offices across the United States, Canada, UK, India, EU, APAC and LATAM. 

MARKET OUTLOOK
The advertising industry continues to enjoy strong growth. Offline spend is migrating online and within digital, mobile, video and 
connected TV are rising stars, while programmatic trading is now established as the primary media buying modality. Key trends 
driving RhythmOne’s strategy include:

Robust Sector Growth 
 Projected 12% Compound Annual Growth (CAGR) for US digital ad spend from 2018 – 2022;

 Digital ad spend is projected to represent 62% of all media spend (US) by 2022, compared to 25% for television.

Dominance of Programmatic Trading
 83% of digital display advertising spend is projected to flow through programmatic trading channels in 2018, rising to 86% by 2020;

 $47B in spend anticipated in programmatic trading in 2018—cross-channel and format: mobile: $33B; video: $13B;

 Projected 19% CAGR for US programmatic digital display ad (including video) spend from 2018-2022;

 Programmatic direct is the largest category of programmatic spend. In 2018, programmatic direct represented 58% of the 
spend compared to 42% bought through real-time bidding;

 Growth within RTB is focused on Private Marketplaces (PMPs) and Open Exchange which is expected to represent 46% (PMPs) 
and 54% (Open Exchange) of the total RTB digital ad spending in 2018.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Advertising 
ECOSYSTEM

DEVICES

CONTENT

RhythmOne

AUDIENCESBRANDS
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Growth of Mobile, Video and OTT/Connected TV 
 Mobile ad spend continues to outpace desktop ad spend ($75B anticipated spend on mobile in 2018 compared to $32B on desktop);

 Mobile ad spend alone is projected to outpace all television ad spend by 2019 ($90B vs. $69B);

 Projected 15% CAGR for US mobile ad spend from 2018 – 2022;

 Projected 13% CAGR for US video ad spend from 2018 – 2022;

 Projected 16% CAGR for US mobile video ad spend from 2018 – 2022;

 In 2018, OTT and connected TV will reach 72% and 65% of the US Internet population;

 For the first time in 2017, more than half (51.5%) of the US population will be connected TV users—a figure that will rise to 57.7%  
 by the end of 2021;

 In 2018, the average person spends just under 1.5 hours per day watching digital video, which makes up about 22% of their time  
 spend with digital media overall.

Source: eMarketer, 2018

This dynamic landscape is coupled with increased advertiser demand for standardization around measurement, viewability, audience 
quality and brand safety, especially given the recent high-profile attention given to “fake news” and concerns of brands – even with 
the large providers – wanting to ensure their advertising does not appear alongside controversial or inappropriate content. The 
Company continues to take a strong stance on fraud and brand safety through investment in its RhythmGuard solution which aims 
to eliminate fraudulent traffic before it reaches the marketplace. The Company has also grown its controlled supply footprint by 
expanding its server-to-server header bidder partnerships with providers like Google Enterprise Bidder and Amazon A9 and through 
the acquisition of YuMe’s Software Development Kit (SDK) for mobile applications, which gathers data from over 1500 properties 
across the web and aggregates that data for targeting purposes.

Finally, transparency – both in terms of supply representation and fees – has arisen as a major concern among publishers and 
demand partners. In June 2017, the IAB’s Tech Lab released ads.txt (Authorized Digital Sellers), a secure method that publishers and 
distributors can use to publicly declare the companies they authorize to sell their digital inventory. According to Media Post, adoption 
of this standard by comScore 1000 publishers reached over 50% as of January 2018. In addition, there is increasing demand for ad 
tech providers to disclose marketplace fees to advertisers and publishers, resulting in competitive pressure around margins on both 
sides of the transaction.  

PURPOSE AND OBJECTIVE
The Company’s purpose is to connect digital audiences and brands through premium content across devices, at scale, in a manner 
that respects consumer choice, positively impacts advertisers and brands, and is sustainable for publishers. By achieving this goal, 
we believe RhythmOne adds value and aligns the interests of the three key constituents in its value chain:

CONSUMERS: Facilitate access to digital content in a way that is respectful of consumer choice. 

ADVERTISERS: Maximize the impact of advertising by providing the best possible return on investment. 

PUBLISHERS: Distribute and monetize content to maximize yield and sustain the fair value exchange.



STRATEGY
RhythmOne’s strategy focuses on differentiation and growth in three key areas: 
     enhancing our unified programmatic advertising platform;   

     growing our base of data-driven engaged audience segments; and 

     innovating around video and connected TV advertising.

A Unified Programmatic Advertising Platform
The principal driver of growth in FY2018 was RhythmMax, the Company’s unified, multi-channel, multi-format platform for 
engaged audiences. Through RhythmMax, advertisers gain access to RhythmOne inventory across owned, controlled and 
extended supply sources. 

RhythmOne represents one of the largest supply footprints in the industry, aggregating supply from owned, controlled and 
extended supply sources. Since inception, the RhythmMax platform has consistently met and exceeded Company performance 
benchmarks relative to volume, fill rate and pricing. Moreover, the platform has enabled RhythmOne to unify the entire supply 
side of the value chain, eliminating intermediaries and streamlining interactions between advertisers and consumers, thereby 
enhancing the efficiency and effectiveness of online advertising campaigns.

The Company’s integrated programmatic platform further includes proprietary brand safety technology, RhythmGuard, that 
screens and aims to eliminate suspicious and underperforming traffic in real time, presenting clear measures around supply 
quality and brand safety. As a result, we believe RhythmOne can provide one of the cleanest sources of pre-filtered, verified and 
targetable inventory in the industry, at scale. RhythmOne’s programmatic platform ranked #1 in the US and internationally for all 
of 2017 on Pixalate’s Global Seller Trust Index.

Data-Driven, Engaged Audience Segments
In addition to platform investments in RhythmMax, the Company has sought to distinguish its supply footprint by offering unique, 
data-driven audience segments that are compelling to advertisers and brands. A key action in support of this strategy was 
the acquisitions of RadiumOne and YuMe.  RadiumOne brought unique analytics tools that can be used by brands to capture 
data about audiences across paid, earned, shared and owned media channels, and then activate this data within advertising 
campaigns, driving reach and relevance. The YuMe acquisition included its SDK technology which gathers observed and 
declared data which is then used for segmentation, targeting and optimization. In addition, the Company has also developed 
several unique inventory packages delivered programmatically as part of a private marketplace (PMP) focused on meeting 
specific quality, viewability and performance metrics.

Video and Connected TV Innovation
Through the acquisition of YuMe, RhythmOne gained access to an extensive supply of video and connected TV inventory, and the 
expertise and market leadership to stand out in this fast-growing category of digital advertising. Increasingly, consumers are viewing 
media across devices and formats – often on multiple devices concurrently. Advertisers are looking to reach them wherever they’re 
consuming content, and value strategies and technology that allow them to gain transparency into viewership by single individuals 
across their multiple devices, including through smart TVs, gaming consoles, Blu-ray players or set top boxes. The ability to deploy 
campaigns across all four digital screens (desktop/laptop, mobile phone, tablet and connected TV) will help to differentiate the 
Company’s offering and enable advertisers to centralize their multi-channel campaigns with a single provider.

This strategy resulted in a number of positive outcomes—a one-stop shop for all advertiser needs, the opportunity to capture 
a greater share of each advertising dollar spent, and the ability to package its unique audiences and segments within the 
Company’s supply based on demographics, performance and/or quality, resulting in greater demand and higher pricing. 

OPERATING MODEL
The RhythmOne operating model consists of four key components: supply partners, demand partners, content (including 
desktop and mobile app providers) and underlying technology. RhythmOne matches audiences across thousands of sites and 
mobile applications with content and ads in real time, using its contextual algorithms and programmatic trading capabilities. The 
Company earns revenue from advertisers seeking to present their messages to relevant consumers across devices and formats, 
and distributes a share of this revenue to the publishers, mobile application owners and content providers (including our owned 
and operated properties) within its ecosystem.

66

Operating 
MODEL

DEVICES

CONTENT

RhythmOne

AUDIENCESPUBLISHERSAGENTSBRANDS



Revenue is a function of three factors within RhythmOne’s operating model: 
1. price of inventory; 
2. fill rate (percent of opportunities monetized); and 
3. volume (total number of opportunities within the platform).

The Company’s organizational structure largely reflects the operating model, with supply and demand entities supported 
by centralized finance, operations, marketing, product and engineering, and legal functions. The sales function is fully 
consolidated to encourage cross-platform, integrated campaign selling. 

OUTLOOK
The Company anticipates continued growth throughout FY2019, led by its programmatic capabilities and augmented by 
its recent acquisitions. The industry is characterized by fewer, dominant, better integrated players that are able to deliver 
sustainable value to both demand and supply sides of the value chain. The Company now has the unique combination of 
technology, talent and relationships in place to scale both organic and inorganic growth as the industry continues to evolve 
and consolidate.

RhythmOne expects its unified programmatic platform, RhythmMax, to be the primary engine for growth across the Company’s 
selling channels, facilitating the delivery of targeted, quality audiences, across devices and formats, at scale– globally. 
Programmatic growth in FY2019 is anticipated to derive from a number of well-understood drivers, including: the delivery 
of high impact, high margin video, connected TV and rich media campaigns programmatically; higher pricing as a result of 
unique, data-driven targeting capabilities; increased throughput from existing supply and demand side relationships; new 
direct and programmatic supply and demand side partners; and the packaging of supply within private (trading) marketplaces 
to directly connect preferred supply and demand within the RhythmMax platform.

RhythmOne enters FY2019 in a confident position, with a product portfolio that is well aligned with industry growth trends.

Revenue 
EQUATION

Definitions: 
Volume: Total number of ad requests processed through the platform and available to monetize 
Fill: Proportion of ad requests actually monetized, based on filtering, targeting and availability of demand  
Price: Weighted average price of inventory across all ad formats flowing through the platform

= VOLUMEFILL  
RATE

PRICEREVENUE

77
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The Company’s success in FY2018 was principally 
fueled by the growth of its unified programmatic 
platform, RhythmMax, which achieved benchmark 
performance highs, while maintaining the most 
stringent standards of quality and brand safety. 
We expect the platform to continue to drive 
RhythmOne’s growth, reinforced by video and 
connected TV leadership, unique audience 
data and an ongoing commitment to quality 
inventory within our marketplace. Within the 
industry, RhythmOne has established itself as a 
significant, recognized digital advertising platform 
with massive scale, cutting edge technology and 
unique, differentiated supply. 

During the Period, the Company completed 
two important acquisitions that augmented 
its commercial proposition and reinforced its 
foundation for growth. The RadiumOne Inc. 
transaction added demand-side technology and 
data assets, enabling RhythmOne to capture 
performance advertising budgets and better 
package inventory on the basis of data and 
targeting attributes. RadiumOne assets have 
been fully integrated into the Company’s unified 
programmatic platform.

The acquisition of YuMe Inc. toward the end of 
the year allowed RhythmOne to access premium 
video and connected TV inventory, as well as 
unique audience data, cross-screen targeting 
technology and established demand-side 
relationships. YuMe integration is progressing fully 
in line with expectations, and the Company has 
already identified synergies that exceed its entry 
assumptions at the time of deal announcement. 

As we enter FY2019, the Company’s strategic 
investments and initiatives have provided the 
basis for continued organic and inorganic 
growth. The entire RhythmOne team deserves 
recognition and praise for their efforts in fueling 
the Company’s growth strategy, driving integration 

and operational efficiency, and delivering a 
definitive return to growth and underlying 
profitability. This momentum will help to reinforce 
RhythmOne’s position as a leader in multi-screen 
digital advertising solutions, led by advanced 
TV and powered by an efficient and effective 
programmatic platform that rivals the scale and 
scope of the super-majors. 

I would like to offer my thanks to all our 
shareholders, both private and institutional, as well 
as our customers, employees and partners, for 
their support of RhythmOne. The Board continues 
to be inspired by the monumental changes that 
RhythmOne has successfully executed during 
FY2018. I am also thrilled to welcome Mark 
Bonney to the Company in the role of President, 
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director of 
the Board. Mark’s extensive experience leading 
public companies through integrations and other 
transformative events will be invaluable as we  
execute against our financial plan.

The Company anticipates FY2019 to be a period 
of continued growth, through both organic efforts 
and potential acquisitions, as opportunities to 
consolidate the industry proliferate. In FY2019, 
we will continue to strengthen our financial 
performance to better position the Company to 
leverage such industry consolidation. To that end, 
we will maintain strong cost discipline, driving 
efficiency within the Company with the aim of 
cash generation, sustained profitability and value 
creation for shareholders.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Eric Singer
Chairman of the  
Board of Directors
RhythmOne plc
14 June 2018

DURING FY2018 ,  RHYTHMONE DELIVERED ON ITS  TARGETS FOR 

GROWTH AND UNDERLYING PROFITABIL ITY ON AN ADJUSTED 

EBITDA 1 BASIS .  THE COMPANY ACHIEVED ITS  F INANCIAL GOALS AS 

A RESULT OF A SUCCESSFUL STRATEGY TO EXPAND UPON ITS  CORE 

PROGRAMMATIC OFFERING THROUGH A COMBINATION OF ORGANIC 

AND ACQUIS IT ION-RELATED DRIVERS.  THE COMPANY ENTERS THE 

NEW F INANCIAL YEAR EXCITED ABOUT ITS  NEAR-  AND LONG-TERM 

PROSPECTS,  WITH A RENEWED FOCUS ON INTEGRATING ITS  ASSETS, 

MAXIMIZ ING PROFITABIL ITY AND UNLOCKING VALUE  

FOR SHAREHOLDERS.



We are pleased to report that we have successfully 
executed against our operational and financial 
objectives for FY2018, marked by strategic 
top-line growth and accelerated profitability on 
an Adjusted EBITDA basis. During the Period, 
RhythmOne maintained its focus on investing 
in mobile, video and programmatic trading 
capabilities and, through two key acquisitions, 
significantly deepened its demand relationships, 
augmented its audience offering and expanded its 
footprint of differentiated, cross-screen supply.

Performance in FY2018 was led by strong growth 
in revenues through our unified programmatic 
platform, RhythmMax. On-platform revenue grew 
by 14% year-on-year, contributing $89.7M in 
revenue during the Period, compared with $78.7 
during FY2017. By integrating additional quality 
supply, platform volume grew by 59%, with a 
corresponding and anticipated drop in fill rate. The 
Company saw a solid year-on-year price increase 
of 61%, as a result of steps we took to better 
monetize high-impact, high-margin video and rich 
media inventory.

The Company completed two important 
acquisitions this financial year. In June 2017, 
RhythmOne acquired certain assets and liabilities 
of RadiumOne, Inc., a data-driven marketing 
platform that enhanced our technology stack with 
demand side and data management platforms, 
and deepened our relationships with agencies 
and brands. During the Period, we successfully 
completed the integration of RadiumOne’s data 
assets and analytics tools, and have developed 
additional products and packages that leverage 
these capabilities. 

In February 2018, RhythmOne completed the 
acquisition of YuMe, Inc., gaining access to 
premium video and connected TV inventory, 
unique audience data, cross-screen targeting 
technology and established demand-side 
relationships. Integration of teams, systems 
and products is well underway, enabling us to 
streamline the delivery of combined capabilities, 
promoting operational efficiency. These 
acquisitions, together with the acquisition of Perk, 
Inc. during the previous financial year, reinforce 
the Company’s strategy to build an end-to-end 
programmatic platform with unique audiences of 
uniform quality at scale, making the Company’s 
offering a robust and meaningful alternative 
to major online media owners for agencies 
and brands to address the online advertising 
opportunity. 

RhythmOne now represents one of the largest and 
highest-quality supply sources in the industry–
processing an average of 2.8T ad opportunities 
per month and ranked #1 for all of 2017 in the 
US and internationally on Pixalate’s Global Seller 
Trust Index, as at January 2018. The Company’s 
strategic investments and initiatives have provided 
the structure for continued organic and inorganic 
growth as the Company seeks to be the leader 
in four-screen digital advertising solutions, led by 
advanced TV and powered by the most efficient 
and effective programmatic platform.

The digital advertising industry is robust and 
dynamic. Spend is projected to remain strong 
over the next five years – especially around 
digital video which is increasingly consumed on 
multiple devices including smart phones, tablets 
and connected TVs – often on multiple devices 
simultaneously. Advertising spend on these 
rising star channels is growing as spend shifts 
from traditional, or linear TV. For the first time in 
2016, digital spend outpaced TV spend – that 
gap is only projected to widen over the next five 
years. As expected, the market has continued 
to polarize between entities that provide an 
integrated offering, and point solutions that face 
challenges of scale and scope, making them ripe 
for consolidation.

Against this backdrop, I believe RhythmOne is 
poised for growth and leadership. Through strong 
financial discipline and a strategic focus mobile, 
connected TV and video products delivered 
programmatically, we are well-positioned to 
assume a leadership position in the industry, 
deepening and broadening our relationships 
with agencies, brands and publishers. We feel 
enthusiastic as we enter a new financial year and 
plan to focus our attention on continued revenue 
growth and profitability as we advance our mission 
to be the most efficient and effective marketplace 
for digital advertising – driving real business 
outcomes for brands, and value for our partners 
and investors.

Mark Bonney 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
RhythmOne plc 
14 June 2018
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THE COMPANY 
ENTERS THE NEW 
F INANCIAL  YEAR 
EXCITED ABOUT ITS 
NEAR-  AND LONG-TERM 
PROSPECTS,  WITH 
A RENEWED FOCUS 
ON INTEGRATING ITS 
ASSETS,  MAXIMIZ ING 
PROFITABIL ITY AND 
UNLOCKING VALUE 
FOR SHAREHOLDERS.



Edward Reginelli 
Chief Financial Officer
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KPI 2018 VS. 2017

FY2018 FY2017 FY2018 FY2017

Revenue 255.1 149.0       Headcount as at 31 March 761 ees 257 ees

Adjusted EBITDA1 14.0 1.4       Transaction Volume (B)3 32,595.5 20,568.5

Loss for the year (13.9) (18.8)       Fill Rate (%) 0.3 0.4

Net Cash2 27.3 75.2       Price ($/CPM) 2.84 1.76

FINANCIAL ($M)  NON-FINANCIAL

1. ADJUSTED EBITDA- This financial measure does not have any standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and is therefore referred to as non-GAAP measures. 
Adjusted EBITDA is defined as loss for the year, adjusted to exclude finance income and finance expense, taxation, depreciation and amortization, share based 
payments and exceptional items in continuing operations and in discontinued operations, which include goodwill impairment, change in intangible assets’ lives, 
acquisition-related costs, restructuring and severance costs, settlement of litigation, re-measurement of deferred consideration and unrealized foreign exchange 
gain and loss. 

RhythmOne’ s management believes that Adjusted EBITDA provides useful information to investors in understanding and evaluating the operating results of RhythmOne 
in the same manner as management and the RhythmOne board of directors. This is because it excludes the impact of exceptional items in the loss for the year, which 
have less bearing on the routine operating activities of RhythmOne, thereby enhancing users’ understanding of the underlying business performance. RhythmOne’ s 
management also believes that Adjusted EBITDA provides information that enables investors to better compare RhythmOne’s business performance across periods.

This non-IFRS measure is not necessarily comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies and Adjusted EBITDA should not be viewed as a substitute for, or 
superior to, loss for the year prepared in accordance with IFRS as a measure of RhythmOne’s profitability or liquidity. Some of the limitations of Adjusted EBITDA are:
• Although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized may have to be replaced in the future, and 

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect cash capital expenditure requirements for such replacements or for new capital expenditure requirements; 
• Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, RhythmOne’ s working capital needs;
• Adjusted EBITDA does not consider the potentially dilutive impact of equity-based compensation; 
• Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect tax payments that may represent a reduction in cash available to RhythmOne; and 
• Other companies, including companies in RhythmOne’ s industry, may calculate Adjusted EBITDA  differently, which reduces its usefulness as a  

comparative measure.

Users of this financial information should consider the types of events and transactions for which adjustments have been made.

The following table is a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to loss for the Period:

2. NET CASH comprise of cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and 
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value in addition to Marketable securities which are investments in corporate bonds, commercial papers, government 
bonds, collateralized securities and certificates of deposit net of borrowings under the Company’s revolving credit facility.

3. VOLUME OF TRANSACTIONS (AD REQUESTS) PROCESSED. Volumes are continuously optimized for performance and yield.

CFO’S REPORT

The Group’s primary business continues to be based on the principle of facilitating access to digital content via an 
advertising supported distribution model, where revenues are derived from advertising on the Internet. Advertisers 
select from several product types that are priced based on criteria of their choosing. Almost all revenues are generated 
by Customers who utilize a mix of products and pricing methodologies to attain bespoke online advertising goals. It is 
therefore not meaningful to separate the revenues by primary channel, pricing scheme, product type, or ad format. We 
therefore report Group performance as a single operating segment, namely online advertising.

YEAR ENDED  
31 MARCH 2018

YEAR ENDED 
31 MARCH 2017

Loss for the Period (13,875) (18,790)

Adjustments:
Finance income (375) (631)
Finance expense 567 266
Taxation (9,015) (861)
Depreciation and amortisation 18,846 10,208
Share based payments 2,164 2,015
Exceptional items 16,239 5,245
Exceptional items in discontinued operations - 3,934
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain)/loss (524) -
Total adjustments 27,902 20,176

Adjusted EBITDA1 14,027 1,386

ADJUSTED EBITDA1 ($000) 



Cost of revenue increased to $151.3M in the current year compared 
with $98.5M for the year ended 31 March 2017. This cost consists 
primarily of traffic acquisition and content partner charges that are 
directly attributable to revenue. During the year, the cost of revenue 
as a percentage of revenue decreased due to a favorable product mix 
augmented by the acquisitions.

Operating expenses before exceptional items was $110.3M compared 
with $60.6M for the year ended 31 March 2017 and represented 43% of 
revenue (2017: 41%). The Group expects operating expenses as a percent 
of revenue to decline with the ongoing investment in its programmatic 
trading platform and continued operating cost containment initiatives. 
The Group has made substantial progress with integration efforts during 
the year, and has taken major cost reduction initiatives, driving efficiency 
across the organization consistent with the rationale underlying the 
mergers. Total operating expenses including exceptional items increased 
from $65.8M for the year ended 31 March 2017 to $129.6M for the year 
ended 31 March 2018, primarily due to acquisitions. 

EARNINGS AND TAX

The loss for the year was $13.9M compared with $18.8M the prior year. 
Included in this figure was exceptional items of $16.2M compared to 
$9.2M for the year ended 31 March 2017. The tax credit from for the year 
ended 31 March 2018 was $9.0M (2017: tax credit $0.9M). The current 
year tax credit is driven by recent tax law changes in the United States 
and the Groups expectations to utilize future taxable profits. 

CASH FLOW

The Group recorded a net cash inflow of $17.6M for the current year, 
compared with $1.2M inflow for the year ended 31 March 2017. Net cash 
used in operating activities during the Period was $0.7M compared with 
$6.4M used for the year ended 31 March 2017. The net cash generated 
from investing activities was $25.1M, compared to $10.1M for the year 
ended 31 March 2017. Cash flow for the current year was driven by the 
proceeds generated from the sale of marketable securities offset by 
cash consideration for the current year acquisitions and investments in 
the Company’s infrastructure and platforms. 

The net cash used in financing activities was $6.7M for the current 
year, compared to $2.6M for the year ended 31 March 2017. The 
current year activity primarily represents the repayment of borrowings 
associated with the RadiumOne transaction offset by cash generated by 
borrowings under the Company’s credit facility.

EXPENDITURE AND INTANGIBLES

Capital expenditures of $2.2M for the year ended 31 March 2018 
was in line with prior year spend. The current year spend was driven 
by investments in co-location infrastructure needed to support the 
expansion of the programmatic trading platform.

Investments in intangible assets of $6.6M for the year ended 31 March 
2018 increased from the prior year spend of $3.3M. Current year spend 
was driven by capitalized costs related to the advancement of the 
Company’s technology platforms. 

FINANCIAL POSITION AND OUTLOOK

The Company’s net cash and cash equivalents, and marketable 
securities totaled $27.8M as at 31 March 2018 compared with $75.2M as 
at 31 March 2017. Net trade receivables at 31 March 2018 were $84.8M 
compared with $41.5M at 31 March 2017, which equates to 79 days 
sales outstanding, an increase from the prior year which was 67 days. 
The increase was a result of the client mix driven by the acquisitions of 
RadiumOne, Inc. and Yume, Inc.  

OPERATING METRICS

The total number of employees (including Directors) at 31 March 2018 
was 761 compared with 257 last year, the change primarily driven by 
the acquisitions of Perk Inc., RadiumOne, Inc. and Yume, Inc. Platform 
volume and pricing grew by 59% and 61%, respectively, year-on-year, as 
the Company integrated additional quality supply sources. 

CONCLUSION

RhythmOne has successfully executed against three key objectives it 
set forth at the start of the financial year including growth of on-platform 
programmatic revenues, execution and integration of key strategic 
acquisitions and continued profitably on an Adjusted EBITDA basis. 
Looking ahead, our key strategic focus remains on mobile, video and 
programmatic products that are aligned with the broader market trends, 
while we will continue with our strong cost discipline that will position us 
to generate significant operating cash flow to enable the Group to take 
advantage of both current and future opportunities.

Edward Reginelli 
Chief Financial Officer 
RhythmOne plc 
14 June 2018
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REVENUE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018 WAS $255.1M, COMPARED 
WITH $149.0M FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017. THE GROUP SAW STRONG 
GROWTH IN ON-PLATFORM PROGRAMMATIC TRADING, INCREASING 14% YEAR-ON-
YEAR TO $89.5M. IN ADDITION, THE GROUP BENEFITED FROM A FULL YEAR OF 
PERK INC. REVENUE AND PARTIAL YEAR BENEFIT OF THE REVENUES ASSOCIATED 
WITH ACQUISITIONS OF RADIUMONE, INC. AND YUME, INC.



RISK: RHYTHMONE MAY NOT BE ABLE TO INTEGRATE, MAINTAIN AND ENHANCE ITS ADVERTISING SOLUTIONS TO KEEP PACE WITH 
TECHNOLOGICAL AND MARKET DEVELOPMENTS, WHICH MAY ADVERSELY AFFECT THE OPERATING RESULTS OF RHYTHMONE IN  
THE FUTURE.

The market for digital advertising solutions is characterized by rapid technological change, evolving industry standards and 
frequent introductions of new products and services. To keep pace with technological developments, satisfy increasing 
advertiser and digital media property requirements, maintain the attractiveness and competitiveness of RhythmOne’s advertising 
solutions and ensure compatibility with evolving industry standards and protocols, RhythmOne will continue to anticipate and 
respond to varying product lifecycles, regularly enhance RhythmOne’s current advertising solutions and develop and introduce 
new solutions and functionality on a timely basis. 

MITIGATION: RhythmOne makes it a priority to stay abreast of the latest innovations across the industry. The Company will 
continue to significantly invest resources to ensure it maintains its market-leading position.

RISK: RHYTHMONE’S RAPIDLY EVOLVING AND COMPETITIVE INDUSTRY MAKES IT DIFFICULT TO EVALUATE RHYTHMONE’S BUSINESS 
AND PROSPECTS.

The digital advertising industry is rapidly evolving. As a result, RhythmOne will encounter risks and difficulties frequently 
encountered in rapidly evolving industries, particularly in light of its size and relatively short operating history compared to some 
of RhythmOne’s larger and more established competitors, including the need to:

     Maintain RhythmOne’s reputation and build trust with advertisers and digital media property owners;

     Offer competitive pricing to advertisers (including periodic discounting) and digital media properties;

     Compete with larger, better capitalized competitors in addressing industry trends such as programmatic buying and  
 real-time bidding; 

     Maintain adequate supply inventory; and

     Continue to develop, launch and upgrade the technologies that enable RhythmOne to provide its solutions.

MITIGATION: Management continually reviews the competitive landscape and newly developing technology in the sector to 
better position the Company.  

RISK: THERE IS A CONCENTRATION OF GROWTH WITHIN A SMALL NUMBER OF DOMINANT PROVIDERS.

In recent years, growth within the advertising technology sector has concentrated within a small number of dominant providers 
such as Google and Facebook. RhythmOne believes there is significant opportunity for growth outside of these providers, and it 
is working hard to exploit that opportunity.

MITIGATION: Recent events have begun to apply pressure on these ‘super-majors” to open their environments and provide 
transparency into inventory quality, viewability and brand safety. As an alternative to these large players, RhythmOne is well 
positioned to take advantage of advertising partners looking for diversity, independence and true transparency.

RISK: RHYTHMONE’S SOFTWARE COULD BE SUSCEPTIBLE TO ERRORS, DEFECTS, OR UNINTENDED PERFORMANCE PROBLEMS THAT 
COULD RESULT IN LOSS OF REPUTATION, LOST INVENTORY OR LIABILITY. IN ADDITION, RHYTHMONE’S INABILITY TO UTILIZE THIRD-
PARTY SOFTWARE, OR ITS USE OF OPEN SOURCE SOFTWARE THAT INTERFERE WITH RHYTHMONE’S PROPRIETARY RIGHTS, COULD 
DISRUPT BUSINESS. 

RhythmOne develops and offers complex software platforms and other software that is used or embedded by RhythmOne’s 
customers and digital media properties in devices, video technologies, software and operating systems. Complex software 
often contains defects, particularly when first introduced or when new versions are released. Determining whether RhythmOne’s 
software has defects may occur after versions are released into the market. Defects, errors or unintended performance problems 
with RhythmOne’s software could unintentionally jeopardize the performance of advertising campaigns and digital media 
properties’ products. This could result in injury to RhythmOne’s reputation, loss of revenue, diversion of development and 
technical resources, increased insurance and warranty costs and a refusal to adopt such software. 

RhythmOne’s technologies incorporate software licensed from third parties, including some software, known as open source 
software, which RhythmOne uses without charge. Although RhythmOne monitors its use of open source software, the terms of 
many open source licenses to which RhythmOne are subject have not been interpreted by U.S. or foreign courts, and there is a 
risk that these licenses could be construed in a manner that imposes unanticipated conditions or restrictions on RhythmOne’s 
ability to provide its solutions to its customers.

MITIGATION: RhythmOne tests software before incorporating it into its solutions and monitors for errors, defects and other 
performance problems. In addition, RhythmOne attempts to reduce the risk of losses resulting from these risks through warranty 
disclaimers and limitation of liability clauses in its agreements. 

RISK: THE ADVERTISING TECHNOLOGY INDUSTRY HAS UNDERGONE RAPID CONSOLIDATION. 

Margin-compressed point solutions are being eliminated in favor of full-stack, end-to-end solutions. The newly consolidated 
environment presents risks in terms of supply commoditization and vendor concentration on both the supply and demand sides 
of the value chain as advertisers and publishers look to streamline relationships and platforms.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES



MITIGATION: RhythmOne has purposely forward-integrated across the supply chain, allowing us to offer one of the few truly 
end-to-end solutions for advertisers and publishers. As part of this, the Group focused its efforts on integrating differentiated 
inventory into its supply footprint—including owned and operated web properties and direct relationships with top-tier publishers 
and app developers. In addition, one of the key differentiators of our unified platform is its brand safety and filtering technology. 
The ability to prevent fraud before it occurs, rather than just measure fraud post-campaign, is a different approach to operating a 
programmatic marketplace and a significant differentiator amongst omni-channel providers. And finally, the Group has developed 
innovative ways to package supply—by format, by goal, and by user preferences—that help to further differentiate our supply 
from that of competitors. 

RISK: THE DIGITAL ADVERTISING SPACE IS RAPIDLY CHANGING AND COMMON STANDARDS AROUND QUALITY ASSURANCE ARE ONLY 
BEGINNING TO EMERGE. 

Changes in standards around verification, viewability and other key advertising requirements could cause us to incur substantial 
development costs, and failure to comply with these industry standards could harm our reputation and business.

MITIGATION: RhythmOne works with several high-profile, well-respected partners that we believe will lead the way to 
establishing this common bar for the industry. We are contributing to help shape these standards through our work with OpenVV.
org, as well as our membership in the Interactive Advertising Bureau (IAB), and our work with several leading third-party experts 
to test our product offerings. By continuously monitoring and contributing to this ongoing convergence of standards, we intend 
to stay on the cutting edge of what is expected and required of industry leaders. Moreover, integrating with independent and 
objective providers aligns with advertisers’ own methodology, helping to reduce discrepancies and increase confidence.

RISK: INTERRUPTIONS OF SERVICES FROM OUR BANDWIDTH PROVIDERS, DATA CENTERS, ELECTRICITY PROVIDERS AND SERVICE 
PROVIDERS MAY DISRUPT OUR BUSINESS.  

Interruptions of services from our bandwidth providers, data centers, electricity providers and service providers may disrupt our 
business. Moreover, there is a potential for cyber attacks and/or bad actors seeking to compromise system security.

MITIGATION: The Group’s systems operate in co-location facilities in several geographic regions, each with their own service 
providers; bandwidth is provided by multiple ISPs in each physical location; data centers provide redundant power with battery 
and generator back-up in each physical location; and functions are distributed across the data centers to minimize disruption in 
the event a data center goes offline. In addition, the Group leverages the cloud infrastructure for redundant and burst capacity. 
Finally, the Group performs audits on a regular schedule to identify potential vulnerabilities that could be exploited by malicious 
actors, and are implementing a cloud security monitoring platform that detects anomalous activity. The Company also has a 
training program to keep employees up to date on current threats so that they can proactively address issues as they arise.

RISK: MISLEADING AND INCORRECT INFORMATION DISSEMINATED ON PERSONAL PLATFORMS CAN DAMAGE OUR BUSINESS.

Industry influencers, untrained experts and/or vested interests may use personal communication platforms to freely disseminate 
information, which may be incorrect or misleading, and even sensational, damaging our reputation and commercial relationships.

MITIGATION: The Group has taken steps to mitigate reputation risk that may impact commercial and investor relationships. The 
Group partners with industry-leading third parties for verification and actively participates in industry consortia to raise its profile 
and foster a clear understanding of its business model.

RISK: RHYTHMONE’S BUSINESS DEPENDS ON ITS ABILITY TO COLLECT AND USE DATA TO DELIVER ADS, AND TO DISCLOSE DATA 
RELATING TO THE PERFORMANCE OF ITS ADS; ANY LIMITATION ON THESE PRACTICES COULD SIGNIFICANTLY DIMINISH THE VALUE 
OF ITS SOLUTIONS AND CAUSE IT TO LOSE CUSTOMERS AND REVENUE.

Government regulation related to the ability to track and store consumer data for the purposes of advertising targeting is 
expanding. New laws, such as the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) in the European Union, are being implemented to 
protect consumer privacy and enable individuals to control how data about their online preferences and behavior is collected 
and stored. RhythmOne uses some of the data collected from consumers to more effectively target consumers across devices. 
As such, the Company’s ability to execute campaigns that require specific targeting may diminish. In addition, the Company will 
have to invest in efforts to ensure compliance with regulations.

MITIGATION: The Company has a track record of ensuring its technology incorporates data privacy and security and its standard 
terms comply with all applicable laws. As a global company with major offices in multiple EU countries, we are accustomed to 
adapting to specific country requirements around the world. In addition, the Group participates in industry governing groups and 
has a number of certifications in place that are reviewed annually by governing and standards bodies, including:

      Network Advertising Initiative (NAI) Codes of Conduct

     Digital Advertising Alliance (DAA) Self-Regulatory Program for Online Behavioral Advertising

     Digital Advertising Alliance of Canada (DAAC)’s Self-Regulatory Principles for Online Behavioural Advertising

     European Interactive Digital Advertising Alliance (EDAA) Principles

     Internet Advertising Bureau (IAB) Europe’s Self-Regulatory Principles for Online Behavioral Advertising

     JICWEBS DTSG Good Practice Principles

     Trustworthy Accountability Group (TAG)

Active participation in such groups ensures that we are aware of and can contribute to regulations as they are being shaped, 
and that the Company will have ample opportunity to assess and comply with all regulations and to adjust business and product 
strategies to mitigate the financial impact of such regulations.
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RISK: RHYTHMONE MAY FAIL TO REALIZE SOME OR ALL OF THE ANTICIPATED COST SAVINGS, SYNERGIES, GROWTH OPPORTUNITIES 
AND OTHER BENEFITS OF ITS RECENT ACQUISITIONS, WHICH COULD ADVERSELY AFFECT THE VALUE OF THE RHYTHMONE SHARES.

The success of recent acquisitions including YuMe and RadiumOne will depend, in part, on RhythmOne’s ability to realize 
the anticipated cost savings, synergies, growth opportunities and other benefits from combining with YuMe and RadiumOne. 
The achievement of the anticipated benefits of these acquisitions is subject to a number of uncertainties, including whether 
RhythmOne is able to integrate the companies in an efficient and effective manner, and general competitive factors in the 
marketplace. Failure to achieve these anticipated benefits could result in increased costs, decreases in the revenues and 
diversion of management’s time and energy and could materially impact RhythmOne’s business, cash flows, financial condition 
or operating results. If RhythmOne is not able to successfully achieve these objectives within the projected timeline and cost 
structure, the anticipated cost savings, synergies, growth opportunities and other benefits may not be realized fully or at all, or 
may take longer to realize than expected. Further, an inability to realize the full extent of, or any of, the anticipated benefits of 
the acquisitions, as well as any delays encountered in the integration process, could have an adverse effect on the combined 
company’s business, cash flows, financial condition or operating results, which may affect the value of the RhythmOne shares. 

MITIGATION: The Company continues to work diligently to integrate the acquired businesses and to realize anticipated 
synergies. This strategy will be further supported by the appointment of our new CEO who has extensive experience integrating 
complex transactions and leading companies through transformative events. 

RISK: RHYTHMONE WILL INCUR SIGNIFICANT COSTS AND DEVOTE SUBSTANTIAL MANAGEMENT TIME AS A RESULT OF BECOMING 
SUBJECT TO REPORTING REQUIREMENTS IN THE UNITED STATES FOLLOWING THE YUME ACQUISITION, WHICH MAY ADVERSELY 
AFFECT THE OPERATING RESULTS OF RHYTHMONE IN THE FUTURE.

As a company subject to reporting requirements in the United States, RhythmOne will incur significant legal, accounting and 
other expenses that RhythmOne did not incur as a public company in the United Kingdom. For example, RhythmOne is now 
subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act and is required to comply with the applicable requirements of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, as well as rules and regulations 
subsequently implemented by the SEC, including the establishment and maintenance of effective disclosure and financial 
controls and changes in corporate governance practices. Compliance with these requirements will increase RhythmOne’s legal 
and financial compliance costs and will make some activities more time consuming and costly, while also diverting management 
attention. In particular, RhythmOne expects to continue to incur significant expenses and devote substantial management effort 
toward ensuring compliance with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which will increase when it is no 
longer an emerging growth company as defined by the JOBS Act.

MITIGATION:  RhythmOne has a very prudent approach on controlling costs and has taken steps to align its cost structure with 
current requirements. 

RISK: OUR CONTRACTS WITH BUYERS ARE GENERALLY NOT EXCLUSIVE AND DO NOT TYPICALLY REQUIRE MINIMUM VOLUMES OR 
LONG-TERM COMMITMENTS LEADING TO DEMAND SIDE RISK. 

Our buyers generally work with competitors as well, meaning that any strain in the relationship due to service failures or other 
reasons may lead to that buyer canceling or scaling back spend with us in favor of a competitor.

MITIGATION: The Group maintains a comprehensive product set and continuously develops new products and services 
designed to capture demand and further extend our relationships with partners. Additionally, we aim to comply with high service 
levels to ensure partner satisfaction and retention rates.
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SECTOR 
OVERVIEW

The advertising industry continues to demonstrate strength with 
spend estimated to be $221B in the US in 2018, growing at nearly a 
6% CAGR over the next five years. Digital ad spend, projected to be 
$107.3B in the US in 2018, is anticipated to grow more than 12% CAGR 
over the next five years. In 2016, digital ad spend outpaced television 
spend for the first time in the US ($72.2B vs. $71.3B)—and in 2017, that 
gap widened—$90.4B vs. $70.2B. This trend is expected to continue, 
with digital ad spend projected to represent 62% of all media spend 
in the US by 2022, compared to 25% for television (eMarketer). This 
reflects the continued shift from linear television and single, in-home 
devices to multi-screen, often simultaneous content consumption.

US trends correlate with increasing online consumption trends 
worldwide. According to Cisco, annual global IP traffic will reach 3.3 
zettabytes by 2021 and is projected to increase nearly threefold over 
the next 5 years. In the US in 2018, this translates to a projected 6 
hours and 48 minutes of time spent with connected devices per day 
compared with only 3 hours and 50 minutes spent per day on TV 
(eMarketer). Advertising spend is continuing to align with consumption 
trends as television spend is cannibalized (or perhaps, complemented) 
by digital channel spend—in particular, mobile and video. 

DIGITAL AD SPEND: CONTINUED STRONG GROWTH
Digital advertising is continuing to dominate the display channel in 
2018, with an estimated 49% of the total digital ad spend. This growth 
is led by mobile and video, which are expected to grow by 15% CAGR 
and 13% CAGR, respectively, over the next five years. The combination 
of these two—mobile video—has the strongest anticipated growth 
rate at 16% CAGR over the next five years, as more users continue to 
regularly consume video content through their smartphone devices.

Source: eMarketer, March 2018

US TOTAL AD SPEND, BY MEDIA 2018–2022 ($B)

Digital           
TV            
Traditional (Ex. TV)

2019

126

69

41

2020

142

70

39

2022

170

68

36

2018

107

70

44

2021

156

37

69

US DIGITAL AD SPEND, BY FORMAT 2018–2020 ($B)
Banners        Video        Rich Media         Sponsorship       Search          

2018 20202019 2021 2022
Source: eMarketer, March 2018
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MOBILE & VIDEO: WHERE CONSUMPTION HAPPENS
Within online advertising, reaching consumers on mobile devices, and especially 
through video ad formats, is increasingly common. Globally, there will be 3.5 
networked devices per capita by 2021, up from 2.3 networked devices per capita 
in 2016 (Cisco). Accelerated in part by the increase in devices and the capabilities 
of those devices, IP traffic per capita will reach 35 GB per capita by 2021, up from 
13 GB per capita in 2016. According to eMarketer’s 2018 projections for the US, the 
majority of time spent with various media will be focused on digital at 51% followed by 
television at 31%. Smartphones and tablets are the devices of choice for consumers. 
In 2018, US users will spend 3 hours and 33 minutes/day on smartphones and tablets, 
while just 2.0 hours per day desktop/laptop internet (eMarketer, April 2018). Increased 
mobile consumption is driving budget shifts away from desktop to the mobile channel 
as more advertisers capitalize on all four screens to reach consumers. By 2022, 
according to eMarketer’s projections, mobile spending in the US will be more than  
3 times that of desktop/laptop spending ($131.4B vs. $39.1B) – and mobile spend 
overall is anticipated to grow at 15% CAGR between 2018-2022. While time and 
budgets spent on mobile devices are increasing, because of the fundamental 
technical convergence of viewing channels (mobile, desktop, connected TV,  
over-the-top viewing), the opportunity is for connected devices in general—with  
the advertising challenge being to target the user, not the device.

Concurrent with the growth of mobile is also a rise in digital video consumption. 
With a projected 229 million viewers in the US this year, digital video is reaching 
82% of US internet users (eMarketer, January 2018). According to Cisco, global 
consumer Internet video traffic will be 82% of all consumer Internet traffic in 2021, 
up from 73 percent in 2016. For advertisers, video offers the immersive experience 
of TV with the targeting and tracking capabilities inherent to digital experiences, 
making it an ideal format to deliver brands to an engaged online audience. Video 
advertising spend continues to grow steadily in the US at a 13% CAGR between 
2018-2022, from a projected $17.9B in 2018 to approximately $29.6B by 2022. This 
healthy growth is due in part from shifting budgets from television, but also from 
additional connected devices (connected TV, OTT, etc.) and simultaneous multi-
screen consumption.

With mobile networks that enable consumers to watch video content anytime, 
anywhere, it is not surprising that mobile video, as a device and format combination, 
is projected to be one of the fastest-growing spend areas with 16% CAGR over the 
next five years—albeit from a relatively small base. This spend is expected to grow 
in the US from $7.9B in 2018 to approximately $14.3B in 2022.  

EMERGING: CONNECTED TV AND OTT VIDEO
Connected TV (CTV) and over-the-top (OTT) video advertising is positioned to 
grow significantly over the next couple of years. CTV is defined as TV sets that are 
connected to the internet through built-in capability (e.g., Smart TVs) or through 
another device (e.g., Blu-ray player, Apple TV, etc.). OTT video refers to any app 
or content provider that provides streaming video over the internet (e.g., Hulu, 
YouTube, etc.) and bypasses traditional cable or linear TV distribution.

In 2017, more than half of the US population (and 62% of all US internet users) 
watched connected TV at least once per month, according to eMarketer, and the 
number of US connected TV users is projected to reach 181.5 million in 2018 (65% 
of all US internet users) – approaching 200 million by 2021. User penetration of 
OTT video services is even higher. eMarketer forecasts 198.6M US consumers (or 
70.8% of all US internet users) will utilize an OTT service at least once per month in 
2018 – and by 2021, that number will climb to nearly 210 million.

The market for CTV and OTT advertising is quickly gaining traction and is diversifying 
the way content is consumed. It combines the targeting power of digital with the impact 
of TV, effectively providing a bridge between linear TV and digital viewing experiences. 
As digital continues to disrupt the traditional TV ad market, advertisers are undergoing 
a massive transformation. Budgets are shifting from linear TV to CTV and OTT, 
transforming these channels into essential parts of the digital video media mix. 

As part of this trend, we believe cross-screen and multi-screen advertising 
represents a tremendous opportunity for brands looking to generate consumer 
awareness and drive greater audience engagement. RhythmOne believes that 
adding connected TV and OTT to the modern marketing mix is inevitable and 
worthwhile, and offers advertisers a holistic way to reach consumers with their 
branded video content.
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Programmatic: The Lion’s Share of Digital Display Ad Dollars

Programmatic—or the automated purchase of media through a technology platform—is the primary buying modality for advertisers. In 2018,  
at $46.6B, programmatic digital display ad spending is projected to represent more than four out of every five (82.5%) dollars of digital  
spend overall in the US, rising to 86.2% by 2020. This is projected in 2018 to include $32.8B in mobile programmatic and $13.2B in  
video programmatic.

There are several ways to trade programmatically: through an open auction (i.e., real-time bidding or RTB) or by directly-negotiated deals, 
called private marketplaces (PMPs). eMarketer projects that in the US in 2018, 58% of spend will go towards PMPs; and 42% towards RTB – 
and in 2020, that gap is projected to expand further: 61% (PMPs) vs. 39% (RTB). Increasingly, advertisers are opting for direct programmatic 
buying to control for placement and quality, while still achieving pricing efficiency.

We believe these sector trends reinforce RhythmOne’s strategy to focus on mobile, video and programmatic trading and to deepen its base of 
unique, engaged audiences. Product, technology, and integration efforts have coalesced around these growth vectors as the Company seeks to 
create a turnkey environment for media buying across screens, leveraging the most efficient buying methods.

GROWTH AND OPPORTUNITIES
Quality Scale, Supply Packaging and Publisher Value

Revenue, growth and investment in FY2018 focused on mobile, video and programmatic trading. Specifically, the Company continued 
investing in its programmatic platform, RhythmMax, making improvements in technology and infrastructure. The RhythmMax platform has 
grown exponentially since inception and now offers one of the largest supply footprints in the industry, processing an average of 2.8T ad 
requests per month – across devices and formats. 
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In addition to quality scale, RhythmOne has also built several new packages within its private marketplace offering, creating pre-
defined pockets of inventory that focus on high-value supply such as CTV or performance metrics like viewability, quality and video 
completion rates. These product packages enable RhythmOne to offer advertisers premium-priced supply that is purpose built to 
meet their success metrics while not inhibiting scale. 

The Company’s acquisition of YuMe will further enhance its data capabilities through the addition of its SDK-driven mobile and video 
supply. This SDK, which is integrated with over 1,500 digital properties across the web (including mobile CTV apps), enables the 
Company to gather over 200+ billion data points. This proprietary data – which includes data like player size, operating system and 
screen size as well as survey-declared data such as interests and viewing habits – can then be packaged into segments that can be 
sold to advertisers looking for specific targeting parameters. Gathering and offering this type of proprietary data makes RhythmOne’s 
inventory more attractive to advertisers looking to reach new consumers.

RhythmOne has also improved the experience for its publishers and mobile app developers by providing new publisher tools and 
resources. Starting with its header bidder product—a programmatic technique wherein publishers offer inventory to multiple ad 
exchanges simultaneously before making calls to their ad servers—the Company has deepened its footprint of “controlled” inventory 
through direct relationships with top-tier publishers and app developers.

This aligns with the Company’s overall goal of providing industry-leading management tools to publisher partners to help them 
maximize yield and realize additional content monetization opportunities. We believe these direct-to-publisher relationships, together 
with RhythmOne’s owned and operated properties, strengthen and differentiate its supply footprint, and offer unique private 
marketplace packaging opportunities to maximize fill rate and pricing.

CORPORATE STRATEGY
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Integral to the success of the RhythmMax programmatic platform has been the Company’s focus on quality. The digital advertising 
space is rapidly changing and standards around quality assurance have yet to be universally defined, though downward pressure 
from demand partners for efficiency and transparency is growing. According to Juniper Research (September 2017), advertisers will 
lose an estimated $19 billion to fraudulent activities in 2018.

RhythmOne took significant steps in 2018 to build and enhance its proprietary brand safety filtering technology, RhythmGuard, to 
include scoring of traffic based on viewability, video completion rate, and click through rate while improving the ability to block invalid 
traffic with code refactoring that increased speed and supported additional load. Through this technology, RhythmOne now operates 
one of the highest quality marketplaces in the industry, ranking #1 in the US and Internationally for all of 2017 on Pixalate’s Global Seller 
Trust Index.

RhythmOne also continues to partner with high-profile, well-respected viewability and verification vendors that it believes will 
lead the way to establishing a common bar for the industry. We believe the Company is helping to shape these standards through 
our work with OpenVV.org, our membership in the Interactive Advertising Bureau (‘IAB’), our participation in the Trustworthy 
Accountability Group (‘TAG’) initiative, and our work with several leading third-party experts, including Pixalate, Grapeshot, Integral 
Ad Science, Confiant, Moat, Double Verify and The Media Trust.
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CREATIVE INNOVATION 
Throughout the Company’s history, RhythmOne has provided differentiated mobile and display ad units that enable an advertiser’s message to stand out in 
a crowded marketplace. The call for this kind of creative innovation has only increased as consumers become “ad blind” or opt for ad blockers. eMarketer 
projects US ad blocking user penetration in 2018 to be 31%. This is due, in part, to the impact of less relevant, distracting, or performance-hindering 
creative. Thus, the need for creativity must be balanced with the drive for standardization, scalability and trackability. This trend is what has driven the IAB 
to create LEAN (Light, Encrypted, Ad choice supported, Non- invasive) ad formats. Not only has the Company adapted to support these standards, but 
RhythmOne has also invested in a proprietary creative management platform to provide the most advanced creative solutions to its partners.

The Company’s Advanced Creative Platform (“ACP”) allows for fast and easy development and production of customized video, rich media, CTV 
and native ad units. This highly scalable platform supports the latest industry standards (VAST, VPAID, and MRAID), and allows the Company to 
meet advertiser demands for viewability data and detailed engagement metrics. Additionally, the Company has built the platform to support brand 
marketers’ rapidly evolving programmatic needs, as well as the needs of programmatic platform partners to provide high-impact solutions to their 
clients. Through its creative platform, the Company has simplified the creative execution experience for customers, and offers programmatic partners 
an enhancement to their offerings. 

THE IMPACT OF CONSOLIDATION
Consolidation continues to be a trend within the ad tech industry. Point solutions are becoming increasingly unsustainable and some platforms that 
have achieved substantial scale have not yet hit key profitability milestones. The resulting fragmentation has been a driving influence behind the 
Company’s strategy to forward-integrate—seeking to connect advertisers with publishers as efficiently as possible by developing a full-stack, end-to-
end platform that connects audiences with brands across devices, at scale.

Through our focus on growth areas of mobile, video and programmatic, RhythmOne is well-positioned to capture the budgets flowing into this ecosystem as 
advertisers look for comprehensive solutions to reach their audiences in compelling and dynamic ways. Over the next 12-18 months, the Company will look 
to expand and enhance its footprint of differentiated supply, building out its relationship of direct-supply partners with a focus on CTV and OTT publishers.

ECOSYSTEM
The digital advertising ecosystem functions on the principle of fair value exchange. Consumers gain access to quality content online (video, apps, 
photos, text) in exchange for giving attention and engagement to advertising. In general, access to content is subsidized by advertising. A typical 
daily experience consists of the following: a consumer visits a connected device, finds and clicks on interesting content, an ad is presented to the 
consumer, followed by the content. Four parties are involved in this transaction—consumer, web publisher, content producer and advertiser.

In exchange for the consumer’s engagement, the advertiser pays the web publisher or app developer, who shares a portion of the revenue with the 
content producer. This event is repeated millions of times daily, creating a massive fragmentation challenge that must be solved in milliseconds at 
scale. RhythmOne solves this challenge by aggregating audiences from thousands of supply sources, and matching these audiences with relevant 
content and ads, using sophisticated algorithms and high-speed trading technology. Looking at the Value Exchange diagram above, the left side of 
the diagram represents demand. The right half represents supply. We have grown our supply footprint through organic audiences and acquisitions to 
extend the scale, scope and reach of our revenue model. On the demand side, we have built a consolidated sales team and connected our unified 
programmatic platform to other programmatic trading partners, an increasingly prevalent means of buying and selling inventory. In the future, we 
expect to continue to add audiences from new and emerging sources, such as connected TV and digital out-of-home.

CORPORATE STRATEGY
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The programmatic value chain has supply and demand sides, with a central stack of technology that enables auction-based buying and 
selling of advertising. The edges of this ecosystem tend to be high-touch—publishers acquire consumers by maintaining websites, and 
agencies serve advertisers through media planning and creative execution. The center tends to be high-tech, with value chain elements 
devoted to scale and trade automation. On the supply side, consumers are aggregated by publishers, which in turn are aggregated by 
supply side platforms (SSPs).

The value chain—and consumer attention—flows from left to right in the diagram above. On the demand side, advertisers are aggregated 
by agencies (and their trading desks), which utilize a creative management platform (CMP) for ad building and deployment in turn are 
aggregated by demand side platforms (DSPs) which leverage a data management platform (DMP) for data segmentation that is used within 
the exchange.

Through RhythmOne’s proprietary brand safety technology, RhythmGuard, the Company aims to eliminate suspicious, under-performing 
or fraudulent traffic before it enters the marketplace, enhancing the Group’s ability to provide advertisers highly qualified audiences in a 
brand-safe environment across devices programmatically. It also enables the Company to offer its publisher partners a universal platform to 
pre-qualify and screen their inventory to maximize yield, quality and performance.

Traditional exchanges serve as brokers between supply and demand partners, leaving advertisers to assess and measure inventory quality 
after the campaign has concluded. In contrast, RhythmOne has adopted an even more stringent quality measure—screening, qualifying and 
eliminating under-performing inventory from its ecosystem before it is made available to advertisers. RhythmGuard enhances RhythmOne’s 
ability to run query-time algorithms to identify poor quality impressions and block them from entering its marketplace. By integrating this 
technology into its platform, RhythmOne augments advertisers’ ability to maximize their return on investment across desktop, video and 
mobile inventory, while providing its publisher partners higher yields for validated traffic.
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COMMERCIAL MODEL
The majority of RhythmOne’s revenue is generated from brand and performance advertising across devices and formats that include 
mobile, desktop and CTV devices and display, rich media, native and video formats. Ads are served within professionally generated content 
through our extensive web publisher and mobile app developer relationships, and are delivered primarily through programmatic advertising 
relationships. As purchasing behavior within the sector has transitioned to automated, multi-channel campaigns, our business model and 
diversified capabilities have adapted in response. RhythmOne is now a significant supply side entity with massive scale, cutting-edge 
programmatic advertising technology and quality, differentiated supply.
 

PROGRAMMATIC TRADING 
A dominant subset of our commercial model is devoted to programmatic buying and selling of inventory. The RhythmMax programmatic 
platform was purpose built to deliver highly targeted audiences across all devices and formats, at significant scale. The Company’s supply 
sources are now aggregated and accessible through RhythmMax, providing advertisers with an efficient and effective, turnkey solution.
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BY PROVIDING THE MOST EFF IC IENT AND EFFECTIVE MARKETPLACE 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

OVERVIEW

The Directors recognize the value and importance of the highest standards of Corporate Governance. We strive to comply with the
principles and provisions of Corporate Governance as far as practicable for a Group of its size and structure, even though as the Group is
listed on the AIM Market of the London Stock Exchange, it is not required to comply fully with the principles of Corporate Governance as
set out in the UK Corporate Governance Code that was published in April 2016 (the Code). This report sets out the Governance approach.
In accordance with Rule 26 of the AIM Rules for Companies, the Company will apply the Quoted Companies Alliance’s Corporate
Governance Code on or before 28 September 2018.

ROLE AND COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

The Board’s role is to provide entrepreneurial leadership to the Company. The Board is focused on ensuring that the risk register and
management of those risks remain pertinent in the face of a continually evolving business. Whilst it is recognized that the Group is subject
to a number of risks greater than this list, we include those that are of most concern and relevance to the business at this point in time.
The Board is also responsible for articulating the Company’s strategic aims and ensuring that the business has the resources necessary to
enable the Company to meet its objectives.

The Board is comprised of Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors. Corporate governance guidelines require that boards should
be “balanced between Executive and Non-Executive Directors, and should have at least two independent, Non-Executive Directors.” At
the year-end date, RhythmOne plc exceeds this requirement, with five of the seven Board Directors being independent, Non-Executive
Directors.

The beneficial interests of the Non-Executive Directors in the share capital of the Company are set out on page 34. In the opinion of the
Board, these interests do not detract from the Directors’ independence. In the event of a conflict of interest, the relevant Director is
required to declare the conflict and, where appropriate, abstain from voting on any resolutions connected to it.

DIVISION OF RESPONSIBILITIES

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the running of the Board, which the Chairman, Mr. Eric Singer, and the executive
responsibility for the running of the Company’s business, which is delegated to the Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Mark Bonney. As
Chairman, Mr. Singer is responsible for leadership of the Board, ensuring the Board is effective in all aspects of its oversight role. The
Non-Executive Directors work together to constructively challenge the Board and assist in the development of strategic proposals. The
Non-executive Directors also fulfill the Board committee roles. No single Director has unfettered decision making powers.

The Board convenes at regular scheduled intervals and follows a formal agenda of matters specifically reserved for discussion, including
such matters as:

� determining the Group’s growth strategy, via organic and/or acquisition/merger activities;

� ensuring open and informative communication with shareholders;

� reviewing and managing risks;

� evaluating major capital expenditures;

� evaluating material contracts to be entered into;

� shaping key operational policies;

� reviewing and approving the Group’s business plan and forecasts;

� measuring performance;

� evaluating, if any, levels of dividend payment; and

� approving the annual and interim financial statements.

It also meets outside of the formal schedule of meetings as and when required. The number of formal meetings of the Board during the
year ended 31 March 2018, and attendance at each are summarized below:

DIRECTORS
NUMBER OF MEETINGS
DURING APPOINTMENT

NUMBER OF MEETINGS
ATTENDED

Raj Chellaraj 25 24

Edward (“Ted”) Hastings (resigned 25 May 2018) 25 24

Suranga Chandratillake (resigned 2 February 2018) 21 16

Mark Opzoomer 25 23

Ujjal Kohli 25 25

Andrea Lee (“Andy”) Cunningham (resigned 2 February 2018) 21 20

Subhransu (“Brian”) Mukherjee (resigned 19 July 2017) 11 11

Edward Reginelli (appointed on 29th September, 2017) 10 10

Eric Singer (appointed on 2nd February 2018) 4 4

John Mutch (appointed on 2nd February 2018) 4 3
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In the event that any Director is unable to attend a meeting, they have the opportunity to relay their comments through the Chairman. If
the Chairman is absent, another Non-Executive Director is appointed Chairman for that meeting. At certain times, where there may be a
perceived conflict due to the subject matter of a meeting, a Director is recused from that meeting. The size and composition of the Board
is regularly reviewed to ensure that it is of an appropriate size and structure. The Directors may take independent professional advice at
the Group’s expense and all are covered by Directors and Officers insurance.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established an Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and a Remuneration Committee. These committees each
comprise a small sub-committee of the main Board and are entirely made up of Non-Executive Directors. Each has its own terms of
reference and responsibilities. The reports of each Board Committee are set out later in this document.

EFFECTIVENESS

We have considered the overall balance between Executive and Non-Executive Directors and believe that the structure of the Board,
coupled with the integrity and commitment of the individuals who make up the Board, ensures that no one individual has a greater
proportion of decision-making power. The Board has a good balance between financial, industry-specific and general business knowledge
experience, with a highly experienced executive management team. All Directors are considered able to dedicate sufficient time to their
role to ensure that they can discharge their responsibilities effectively.

On joining the Board, all new Directors receive a comprehensive induction to introduce them to the business, enhance their knowledge of
the industry and to meet the key personnel across the Group. The Board is committed to a culture of continued personal development,
and all members of the Board are encouraged to undertake any training which will enhance their understanding or ability to serve the
Board and refresh their knowledge. Regular updates on Corporate Governance are also provided.

Board effectiveness is reviewed regularly. The most recent review, shortly before the year end, concluded that the Board and its individual
members continue to perform effectively. The review is considered a general overview as to the operation of the Board, opinions on
shareholder relationships, views on the Board’s inputs into strategy, governance and compliance, risk management and succession
planning.

INFORMATION AND SUPPORT

The Board is supplied with information in a form that enables it to discharge its responsibilities effectively. Board papers are supplied on a
timely basis, with sufficient time for the Board to review and raise questions ahead of the formal meeting to which they relate. The culture
of the Board is to encourage participation and active debate in a constructive and supportive manner.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board believes in open and regular dialogue with shareholders to ensure that the objectives and overall business strategy of the
Group are effectively communicated. As such, the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and the Chairman, working in
consultation with the Group’s corporate brokers and advisors, make themselves available to meet shareholders at least once a year at the
Annual General Meeting. There are also a series of meetings with analysts and institutional investors in relation to the Company’s annual
and interim financial statements.

The Non-Executive Directors make themselves available to meet shareholders on an ad hoc basis as necessary, and consider the Annual
General Meeting a good opportunity to canvas opinion and hold discussions with individual shareholders. The Board makes constructive
use of the Annual General Meeting to communicate with investors and encourages full participation.

Trading updates and press releases are issued as appropriate and the Company’s brokers provide information on shareholder opinion
and compile independent feedback from investor meetings.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for ensuring that the Group maintains a sound system of internal control to provide them with
reasonable assurance that the assets of the Group are safeguarded and that the shareholders’ investments are protected. It has
established a continuous process for identifying, evaluating and monitoring the significant risks to which the Group is exposed.

The Board has overall responsibility for ensuring the Group maintains an adequate system of internal control and risk management, while
the Audit Committee reviews the effectiveness of those systems on behalf of the Board. This review is performed at least annually. The
implementation of internal control systems is the responsibility of executive management. The organizational structure of the Group has
clearly defined lines of responsibility and delegation of accountability and authority.

The Board’s review of the significant risks in the year covered financial, operational, commercial, regulatory, fraud and R&D risks. The risk
review is an ongoing process with at least annual input and review from the Board. The primary purpose of this review is to ensure that,
having considered the controls that are in place to mitigate risks, the Board is satisfied with the residual level of risk being taken in pursuit
of the Company’s strategy.

Our risk review comprised:

� the review of the risk register, considering the ongoing pertinence of each risk, and whether changes in the business meant that additional risks had been

identified which should be added to the register. All risks were recorded in a centrally maintained register;

� risk assessment, which is performed in terms of the likelihood of occurrence and the potential impact on the Group; and

� identification of appropriate mitigating actions for each risk, with responsible parties and a timetable for completion assigned.
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Any system of internal control is designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risks inherent in a fast-moving industry, and can therefore
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against the possibility of material misstatement or loss.

The Board also operates a whistleblowing policy which provides for all employees to raise concerns to the Audit Committee, in strict
confidence about any unethical behaviors, suspected fraud, misconduct or wrongdoing without fear of recrimination. There were no
whistleblowing reports throughout financial year 2018, and to the date of this report.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board is responsible for reviewing and approving the annual and half year financial statements, and for ensuring that they present a
fair, balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s position and performance. The Strategic Report, on pages 4 to 7 sets out
the information necessary to enable readers to understand the business model and strategy.

Drafts of the annual report are reviewed by the Board prior to approval with a formal process for addressing comments from the Board.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors who served throughout the year to 31 March 2018 and to the date of this report were as follows:

NAME AGE POSITION

Eric Singer 44 Non-executive Chairman

Mark Bonney 64 Executive Director

Raj Chellaraj 62 Non-executive Director

Ujjal Kohli 59 Non-executive Director

John Mutch 62 Non-executive Director

Mark Opzoomer 60 Non-executive Director

Edward Reginelli 47 Executive Director

On 19 July 2017 Mr. Subhransu (“Brian”) Mukherjee resigned from the Board of Directors.

On 29th September 2017, Mr. Edward Reginelli joined the Board of Directors as an Executive Director.

On 2 February 2018 Mr. Suranga Chandratillake and Ms. Andrea Lee (“Andy”) Cunningham resigned from the Board of Directors.

On 2nd February 2018 Mr. Eric Singer and Mr. John Mutch joined the Board of Directors as an Non-Executive Directors.

On 2nd February 2018 Mr. Raj Chellaraj stepped down as Chairman of the Board of Directors and concurrently Mr. Eric Singer assumed
the role.

On 25 May 2018 Mr Edward (“Ted”) Hastings resigned from the Board of Directors.

On 25 May 2018 Mr. Mark Bonney joined the Board of Directors as an Executive Director.

ERIC SINGER

Based in New York, New York, Eric currently serves as the Non-Executive Chairman of RhythmOne
plc. Prior to joining RhythmOne’s board, Mr. Singer was a member of the board of directors of
YuMe since May 2016. Mr. Singer also serves on the boards of Quantum Corporation, a data
storage company, and Support.com, Inc., a provider of cloud-based software and services.
Mr. Singer has extensive business and financial experience across various industries, including
several years of experience serving as a director on multiple boards. Since May 2014, Mr. Singer
has served as the managing member of each of VIEX GP, VSO GP II, and VIEX Capital. From 2009
to 2014, Mr. Singer held various positions at Potomac Capital Management II and Potomac Capital
Management III, and its related entities, an investment partnership. From 2007 to 2009, Mr. Singer
was a senior investment analyst at Riley Investment Management. From 2003 to 2007, Mr. Singer
managed private portfolios for Alpine Resources, LLC. Mr. Singer holds a B.A. in American Studies
from Brandeis University.

RAJ CHELLARAJ

Based in Palo Alto, California, Raj joined the Board of Directors in 2014 as a Non-Executive
Director. He also serves as Senior Associate Dean for Finance and Administration at the Stanford
Business School and was the Chief Operating Officer at the Stanford Institute for Innovation in
Developing Economies (SEED) from 2015-2017. Prior to joining Stanford University, Raj held
several senior government positions. Most recently, he was the Assistant Secretary of State for
Administration in the United States Department of State, to which he was nominated by President
George W. Bush and confirmed unanimously by the United States Senate. Previously, he was a
Senior Executive Officer at the United States Mint in Washington DC. In addition to his public
sector expertise, Mr. Chellaraj has several years of senior corporate leadership experience, most
recently as Vice President, Planning, at Hostess Brands Corporation, part of Ripplewood
Holdings, where he was a member of the CEO’s Senior Leadership Team. Earlier, he served as
Director of Corporate Development at Celanese Corporation (NYSE: CE), a Blackstone Group
Company. He also held various management, finance, operations and planning roles at Exxon
Corporation (NYSE: XOM), Strategic Analysis Inc. and FMC Corporation (NYSE: FMC). Raj holds an

M.P.A. in Business and Government Policy from Harvard University, an M.B.A. in Finance from New York University, an M.S. in Chemical
Engineering from Clarkson University and a B.S. in Chemical Engineering from Madras University, India.

30



MARK BONNEY

Mr. Bonney joined the Board of Directors as Executive Director in 2018. Mark also serves on the
boards of Zix Corp, a software security technology company, and SeaChange International, Inc., a
Telecommunications company. Mr. Bonney has over 35 years of experience as a senior executive
officer and has held a variety of roles that include Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer
and Chief Operations Officer – in both the United States and internationally, as well as several
directorships of public and private businesses. Mr. Bonney has led companies through various
transformative events with a proven track record of having dramatically increased value for
shareholders and maximized opportunities for growth. Most recently, from December 2014 until
its sale in August 2017, Mr. Bonney served as President, Chief Executive Officer and an executive
director of MRV Communications, Inc. (“MRV”), a communications equipment and services
provider. Mr. Bonney was an Independent Director of MRV from April 2013 until his appointment
as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in August 2014. From January 2013
through August 2014, Mr. Bonney served as President, Chief Executive Officer of On Board
Advisors LLC. Previously, Mr. Bonney held a number of executive positions at various companies,

which included President and Chief Operating Officer, Vice President of Operations, and Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Bonney holds a BS in
Business Administration and Economics from Central Connecticut State University and an MBA in Finance from the University of Hartford.

UJJAL KOHLI

Ujjal Kohli joined the Board of Directors in 2014 as a Non-Executive Director. Ujjal brings over
twenty-five years of executive management, engineering, marketing, strategy, M&A and board
level experiences to RhythmOne (LSE AIM: RTHM). Ujjal co-founded and led Mountain View-
headquartered Rhythm NewMedia (“Rhythm”) as CEO, before its acquisition by RhythmOne plc in
December 2013. Under his leadership, Rhythm emerged as a dominant mobile video technology
and advertising platform for tablets and smartphones – working with ultra-premium media
partners, including NBC Universal, CBS, ABC, Fox, and Warner Bros., as well as top brand
advertisers, such as Disney, McDonald’s, General Motors, Ford, AT&T, Verizon, and Macy’s.

Most recently, Ujjal was the CEO of Preact Inc, a SaaS company in predictive analytics that was
acquired by Spotify and before Rhythm, Ujjal co-founded and served as CEO of Meru Networks
(NASDAQ: MERU). Prior to this he was EVP of Marketing and National Sales for AirTouch Cellular
(NYSE: ATI), and was part of the Executive team there. AirTouch merged with Vodafone (LSE:
VOD) in a $60B transaction in 1999.

Previously, Ujjal was a consultant with McKinsey and Company in London, Los Angeles and Silicon Valley. Mr. Kohli has also been an investor,
advisor, and a previous Board member at several technology companies, including Magma Design Automation, Berkeley Networks, ByteMobile,
Maverick Semiconductor, Convergenet, and WirelessHome. Ujjal holds an M.B.A. from Harvard Business School, an M.S. in Electrical Engineering
from the University of Rochester and a BTech in Electrical Engineering from the Indian Institute of Technology, New Delhi.

JOHN MUTCH

Mr. Mutch joined the Board of Directors in 2018 and served on the YuMe board of directors since
July 2017. Since 2006, Mr. Mutch has been managing partner and founder of MV Advisors LLC, a
strategic advisory services firm. Mr. Mutch has extensive business and financial experience across
various industries, including several years of experience serving as chief executive officer of
various companies. From 2008 to 2014, Mr. Mutch served as the president, chief executive officer
and chairman of the board of BeyondTrust Software, a privately held security software company
focused on privilege identity management solutions sold into the Global 2000 IT infrastructure
market. From July 2003 to December 2005 Mr. Mutch served as the president and chief executive
officer of Peregrine Systems and from July 1997 to August 2002 Mr. Mutch served as the president
and chief executive officer of HNC Software. Mr. Mutch is a member of the board of directors of
Maxell Technologies, an energy storage and power delivery solutions company since 2017, the
chairman of the board of Aviat Networks, a global supplier of microwave networking solutions
since 2015 and a member of the board of directors of Agilysys Networks, a provider of hospitality
software and solutions since 2009. From 2008 to 2016, Mr. Mutch also served as a member of the

board of directors of Steel Excel, an oilfield service company. Mr. Mutch holds a B.S. in Applied Economics from Cornell University and an
M.B.A. from the University of Chicago.
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MARK OPZOOMER

Mark Opzoomer has extensive knowledge of Internet, communications and media markets in
many different countries and 30 years of corporate operating and deal making experience. Mark
is currently a partner in Bond Capital Partners, a Non-Executive Director of Entertainment One
Limited (LSE: ETO), Benross Golf Limited and Non-Executive Chairman of Somo Global Limited.
Previous Non-Executive directorships include Web Reservations International Limited, Newbay
Software Limited, Autonomy plc and Miva Inc. Previous operating experience includes CEO of
Rambler Media Limited, regional Vice-President of Yahoo! Europe, Deputy Chief Executive of
Hodder Headline plc, Commercial and Finance Director of Sega Europe Ltd and Commercial
Director of Virgin Communications Ltd. Mark qualified as a chartered accountant through the
Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants and has an M.B.A. from IMD, Lausanne, Switzerland.

EDWARD REGINELLI

Mr. Reginelli has been a member of the board of directors of RhythmOne and Chief Financial
Officer since 2017 and brings over 20 years of managing all aspects of financial accounting,
controls, analysis, operations and reporting in complex corporate environments. Before rejoining
RhythmOne, he was chief financial officer at Milestone Technologies Inc. from January 2017 to
September 2017. Mr. Reginelli was chief financial officer at RhythmOne from December 2012 to
January 2017. Prior to this he held other senior financial roles at Purple Communications, Inc.,
Burke Industries, Inc., Compass Aerospace, PPG Industries and Nestle USA. Mr. Reginelli holds a
B.S. in Business Administration and Accounting from John Carroll University, Ohio and is a
registered Certified Public Accountant.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE REPORT
(UNAUDITED UNLESS STATED OTHERWISE)

The Remuneration Committee (hereafter referred to as “the Committee” in this report) is appointed by the Board, and is formed of
Non-Executive Directors. The Committee is chaired by Mr. Ujjal Kohli. Other members of the Committee include Eric Singer and John
Mutch.

The Committee’s principal responsibilities are:

� to review and make recommendations in relation to the remuneration policy;
� consult with key shareholders on compensation-related proposals and recommendations;
� apply these recommendations to the Executive Director, and senior members of the executive management team;
� determine the metrics for the bonus scheme of the executive management team;
� ensure that the policies and metrics are aligned with the Company’s strategy; and
� to consider and award other performance-related benefits such as Restricted Stock Units (RSUs) and Market Value Share Options

(MVSOs), as and when appropriate.

The Committee met one time during the year, and details of the attendance at the meetings of the Committee are as shown below. The
Committee’s terms of reference are available for public inspection on the Company’s website—https://investor.rhythmone.com.

26 JUNE 2017

Ujjal Kohli ✓

Suranga Chandratillake (resigned on 2nd February 2018) ✓

Andrea Lee (“Andy”) Cunningham (resigned on 2nd February 2018) ✓

Eric Singer (appointed on 16th February 2018)

John Mutch (appointed on 16th February 2018)

The Company has not appointed any external consultants during the year for any advice on executive and employee remuneration.

PAY PHILOSOPHY

The remuneration policy continues to be designed to ensure that senior managers and Executive Directors are appropriately incentivized
and rewarded for their performance, responsibility and experience. The Remuneration Committee aims to ensure that the policy aligns the
interests of the Executive Directors with those of the shareholders.

The Company’s pay policy is designed to ensure salaries and bonus amounts are paid at or around market levels. Equity awards are linked
to performance conditions which more closely align with long-term value creation for shareholders.

PAY POLICY FOR EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Remuneration at the Company for Executive Directors is comprised of three elements: base salary, annual bonus and long-term equity
incentives. Details of the CEO and CFO’s remuneration are indicated below.

BASE SALARY AND ANNUAL BONUS

The Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer’s base salaries and bonus opportunity were in line with market levels when compared to
both US and UK competitors. The bonus opportunity for FY2018 was based on achievement of FY2018 Revenue, adjusted EBITDA targets
and Management Business Objectives (‘MBOs’).

LONG-TERM INCENTIVES

During FY2018, equity awards were made in RSUs that vest quarterly after initial cliff period vest. The Committee believes that along with
the performance criteria for bonus eligibility that addresses operational excellence, the quantum and performance criteria for the equity
grants fully aligns the interests of the shareholders and management team to drive long-term value.
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The table below sets out the beneficial interests in shares and vested share options of the Directors holding office at year end (audited).
The Committee awarded 563,538 Restricted Stock Units (RSUs) to Edward (“Ted”) Hastings and 292,611 RSUs to Edward Reginelli during
FY 2018. No equity awards were made to Non-executive Directors during FY2018.

INTERESTS IN
ORDINARY SHARES

INTERESTS IN
SHARE OPTIONS

INTERESTS IN
RSUs TOTAL

DIRECTORS

AT
31 MARCH

2018

AT
31 MARCH

2017
RESTATED

AT
31 MARCH

2018

AT
31 MARCH

2017
RESTATED

AT
31 MARCH

2018

AT
31 MARCH

2017
RESTATED

AT
31 MARCH

2018

AT
31 MARCH

2017
RESTATED

Suranga Chandratillake (resigned 2 February 2018) 73,505 73,505 175,213 175,213 - - 248,718 248,718

Raj Chellaraj 5,000 5,000 - - - - 5,000 5,000

Andrea Lee (“Andy”) Cunningham (resigned 2 February 2018) 5,000 5,000 - - - - 5,000 5,000

Edward (“Ted”) Hastings (resigned 25 May 2018) 446,990 446,990 - - 563,538 - 1,010,528 446,990

Ujjal Kohli 4,687 4,687 - - - - 4,687 4,687

Subhransu (“Brian”) Mukherjee (resigned 19 July 2017) 55,000 85,000 908,000 908,000 - - 963,000 993,000

Mark Opzoomer 40,000 40,000 - - - - 40,000 40,000

Edward Reginelli 30,995 - - - 243,475 - 274,470 -

Eric Singer 4,057,325 - - - - - 4,057,325 -

John Mutch 15,294 - - - - - 15,294 -

Pay Policy for Non-Executive Directors

Fees for Non-Executive Directors are set with reference to time commitment, the number of committees chaired and relevant external
market benchmarks. Other than covering travel expenses, no additional fees or equity compensation is provided to Non-Executive
Directors for ad hoc services, such as Committee memberships, Board meetings, etc.

PAY AND CONDITIONS ELSEWHERE IN THE GROUP

No element of remuneration is operated exclusively for Executive Directors and the philosophy of using variable remuneration to drive the
Company’s performance is applied to all roles throughout the Group. Senior level employees are eligible for an annual bonus and some
receive share options. When setting the quantum of remuneration for Executive Directors, the Committee considers the pay differential
between Executive Directors and other roles.

SERVICE AGREEMENTS

The Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer’s Service Agreements provides that their employment with the Company is on an “at will”
basis which means that either the Executive or the Company shall be entitled to terminate employment at any time, and for any reason,
with or without cause. In line with typical US practice, the Service Agreement includes a number of protections in the event of a
termination of their employment in certain circumstances.

All Non-Executive Directors’ appointments are terminable on at least three months’ notice on either side.

The current service contracts and letters of appointment of the Directors include the following terms:

DIRECTOR
DATE OF

CONTRACT NOTICE PERIOD

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mark Bonney 25 May 2018 None

Edward Reginelli 29 September 2017 None

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Raj Chellaraj 1 October 2014 3 months

Ujjal Kohli 20 February 2014 3 months

Mark Opzoomer 9 May 2007 3 months

Eric Singer 2 February 2018 3 months

John Mutch 2 February 2018 3 months
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED)

The Directors received the following remuneration for the years ended 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017.

DIRECTORS

(1)
BASE

SALARY/
NED FEES

$

(2)
BONUS

$

COMPENSATION
FOR LOSS OF

OFFICE
$

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH

2018
TOTAL

$

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH

2017
TOTAL

$

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND

HIGHEST PAID DIRECTOR:

Subhransu (“Brian”) Mukherjee (resigned 19 July 2017) 212,790 200,000 740,667 1,153,457 855,000

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Edward Reginelli (appointed 29 September 2017) 181,500 75,000 - 256,500 -

Edward (“Ted “) Hastings (resigned 25 May 2018) 377,699 - - 377,699 34,000

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:(1)

Raj Chellaraj 105,735 - - 105,735 104,000

Suranga Chandratillake (resigned 2 February 2018) 58,742 - - 58,742 65,000

Andrea Lee (“Andy”) Cunningham (resigned 2 February 2018) 58,742 - - 58,742 65,000

Ujjal Kohli 70,490 - - 70,490 65,000

Mark Opzoomer(3) 84,588 - - 84,588 65,000

Eric Singer (appointed 2 February 2018) 18,797 - - 18,797 -

John Mutch (appointed 2 February 2018) 11,748 - - 11,748 -

AGGREGATE EMOLUMENTS 1,180,831 275,000 740,667 2,196,498 1,253,000

1 Non-Executive Directors’ fees are set at £50,000 for all Directors except for the Chairman of Board whose fees are set at £80,000. The above table includes
the value in $ using an exchange rate of $1.4098to £1.
2 Bonus payments are made to Executive Directors only and are determined based on the following performance conditions: individual Executive Directors’
MBOs and Company operating performance. There was no bonus earned in FY2018. Mr. Edward Reginelli’s bonus payment during FY2018 related to a sign
on incentive and Mr. Subhransu (“Brian”) Mukherjee’s bonus related to his separation agreement.
3 Fees paid to Mr. Opzoomer include VAT.

None of the Directors had pension, retirement benefits or similar entitlement.

Long-term incentives include RSUs which have quarterly vesting after initial cliff vest period.

Details of options and RSUs for Directors who served during the year are as follows:

DIRECTORS SCHEME(S)

AT 31 MARCH
2017

RESTATED
NUMBER

GRANTED
NUMBER

VESTED
NUMBER EXERCISED

AT 31 MARCH
2018

NUMBER

Edward (Ted) Hastings (resigned 25 May 2018) Options - - - - -

RSU - 563,538 - - 563,538

Edward Reginelli Options - - - - -

RSU - 292,611 (48,866) - 243,745

Subhransu (“Brian”) Mukherjee (resigned 19 July 2017) Options 908,000 - - - 908,000

RSU - - - - -

Suranga Chandratillake (resigned 2 February 2018) Options 175,213 - - - 175,213

RSU - - - - -

Mr. Mukherjee options will expire on July 19, 2018 if not exercised.

Per the terms of Mr. Hastings separation agreement, 25% of his grant was agreed to be under an accelerated vest schedule, with the
remaining of the shares being canceled.

Details of the contractual RSU awards and long-term incentive awards vesting during the year are as follows:

DIRECTORS SCHEME(S)
NUMBER
VESTED

RANGE OF
MARKET PRICES

AT AWARD DATE
£

RANGE OF
MARKET PRICES

AT VESTING DATE
£

Edward Reginelli RhythmOne 2017 International Equity Incentive Plan RSUs 48,866 1.72 1.72-1.75

TOTAL 48,866
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The Audit Committee (hereafter referred to as “the Committee” in this report) is appointed by the Board, and is formed of Non-Executive
Directors, chaired by Mark Opzoomer. Other members of the Committee are Raj Chellaraj and John Mutch.

Its principal responsibilities are:

� monitoring the integrity of the financial statements of the Group and any formal announcements relating to the Group’s financial performance;

� overseeing the involvement of the Group’s external auditors, in planning and reviewing the audit of the financial statements;

� recommending the appointment and fees of the external auditor, including maintaining an appropriate policy on the level of non-audit fees;

� reviewing and monitoring the independence and objectivity of the external auditor, and the effectiveness of the external audit process;

� reviewing, at least annually, the need for an internal audit function;

� reviewing the risk management process, and the effectiveness of internal controls, including identifying and implementing improvements; and

� reviewing the arrangements through which staff may raise concerns about possible improprieties in confidence.

The Committee met five times during the year, and details of the attendance at the meetings of the Committee are as shown below. The
Committee’s terms of reference are available for public inspection on the Company’s website—https://investor.rhythmone.com.

4 APRIL
2017

8 MAY
2017

7 NOVEMBER
2017

11 NOVEMBER
2017

8 MARCH
2018

Mark Opzoomer ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Suranga Chandratillake (resigned on 2nd February 2018) ✓ ✓ ✓

Raj Chellaraj ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

John Mutch (appointed on 16th February 2018) ✓

The Committee promotes the highest standards of integrity, financial reporting, risk management and internal control. In addition to the
members of the Committee, meetings are typically also attended by the Chief Financial Officer. The Committee meets the external
auditors at least three times a year, including at least one meeting each year without members of executive management present. The
Committee should include at least one financially qualified individual with recent and relevant experience, and currently Mark Opzoomer, a
qualified chartered accountant who trained with Coopers & Lybrand, and Raj Chellaraj, who has an M.B.A. in Finance from New York
University, fulfills these criteria.

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk register, including the identification and
evaluation of any newly recognized risks and implementing mitigating actions on a timely basis. The Committee assists the Board in its
oversight and monitoring of financial reporting, risk management and internal controls.

The Committee has considered the recent FRC guidance on audit committees, and has expanded its report to include more information
on significant matters considered by the Committee.

There has been a particular focus throughout the year on ensuring that the Group’s risk management and internal controls are adequately
evolving and developing in line with changes in the Group and best practices in the industry.

ASSESSMENT OF THE EXTERNAL AUDITOR

Each year the Committee assesses the expertise, independence and quality of the external auditor, and the objectivity and effectiveness
of the audit process. This assessment was carried out on the basis of the Committee’s own appraisal of the performance of the auditor
and the views of its senior management team as well as consideration of materials provided by the auditor.

The criteria used for this assessment remained unchanged from last year and were as follows:

� delivery of a thorough and efficient audit in compliance with agreed plan and timescales;

� provision of accurate, robust and perceptive advice on key accounting and audit judgments, technical issues and best practices;

� a high level of professionalism and technical expertise consistently demonstrated by all audit staff;

� plans for ensuring the maintenance of continuity within the core audit team; and

� strict adherence to independence policies and other regulatory requirements.

Independence and objectivity are regularly considered by the Committee, taking into consideration, the relevant UK professional and
regulatory requirements and the audit firm’s own policies to maintain auditor independence, which include rotation of the Senior Statutory
Auditor every five years.

Our policy on non-audit services is to appoint the adviser who we believe is in the best position to advise the Company on the matter in
question, and, where we believe we are best served by our audit firm, auditor objectivity and independence is carefully considered and
safeguarded via the monitoring of fees paid in respect of audit and non-audit work and approving all additional work performed by the
external auditor. The fees paid to the auditor for audit and non-audit services are set out in note 9.

The Committee has confirmed it is satisfied with the independence, objectivity and effectiveness of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and has
recommended to the Board that the auditors be reappointed, and there will be a resolution to this effect at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting.
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDIT FINDINGS

The Committee reviews the full and half-year financial statements, and the reports from the auditor on these statements. It takes the
opportunity to discuss key accounting matters with the auditor and the range of approaches to each.

Significant matters which were specifically considered by the Committee in the year were as follows:

ISSUE SPECIFIC CONSIDERATIONS

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets In accordance with IAS 36, management prepared an impairment
review on a CGU basis.The Committee discussed the
calculations, including the assumptions within, the methodology
applied and the anticipated forecasts. It also reviewed the
auditor’s report detailing the results and conclusion of the audit
testing.

Revenue recognition The Committee keeps under close review the revenue
recognition policies of the Group, with particular reference to the
appropriateness of the revenue recognition policies of acquired
businesses, and the continued pertinence of the policies in the
legacy RhythmOne plc business.

Acquisition accounting for RadiumOne & YuMe Acquired intangibles must be fair valued in accordance with IFRS
3. The Committee reviewed the valuation reports related to the
RadiumOne & YuMe acquisition, prepared by the external
valuator, to ensure that the assumptions inherent in the valuation
model were reasonable and appropriate, and that the disclosures
in the financial statements were prepared in accordance with
IFRS 3.

Deferred tax The Committee reviewed the net deferred tax assets recognized
including the assumptions within, the methodology applied and
the anticipated forecasts.

Share consolidation The Committee reviewed the effect of the share consolidation on
the number of common shares, options and restricted share units,
to ensure that the disclosures in the financial statements were
prepared in accordance with IFRS.

INTERNAL AUDIT

The Committee considers the need for an internal audit function at least annually. Given the size of the Group and the organization of the
finance team into centers of excellence, which are overseen by an experienced CFO, and considering the robustness and integrity of the
internal controls of the Group which are overseen centrally, the Committee is of the opinion that no internal audit function is required at
this time, but will keep this matter under close scrutiny.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE REPORT

The Nomination Committee is appointed by the Board and is responsible for:

� the structure, size and composition of the Board;
� the diversity on the Board, and across the Group;
� advising the Board on areas where further recruitment may be appropriate;
� the overall leadership needs of the organization;
� consideration of succession planning for Directors; and
� the search for and selection of suitable candidates for the appointment or replacement of additional Directors.

The Nomination Committee (hereafter “the Committee” throughout this report) was chaired by Eric Singer. Raj Chellaraj and Ujjal Kohil are
also members of the Committee.

The Committee met one time during the year, and details of the attendance at the meetings of the Committee are as shown below. The
Committee meets as required to initiate the selection process of, and make recommendations to the Board with regard to the appointment
of new Directors. The Committee’s terms of reference are available for public inspection on the Company’s website—
https://investor.rhythmone.com.

27 JUNE 2017

Raj Chellaraj ✓

Ujjal Kohli ✓

Andrea Lee (“Andy”) Cunningham (resigned on 2 February 2018) ✓

Eric Singer (appointed on 16th February 2018)

APPOINTMENT OF NEW DIRECTORS

During the year, the Committee met and made recommendations to the Board regarding the appointment of Edward Reginelli as an
Executive Director and appointed Eric Singer and John Mutch as Non Executive Directors.

Mr. Reginelli brings significant digital advertising, ad-tech and M&A expertise and his appointment will be instrumental to the Board as
RhythmOne plc actively pursues continued growth.

Mr. Singer, brings extensive business, corporate development and financial experience across various industries, and was instrumental in
helping to negotiate the YuMe transaction with RhythmOne. He has several years of experience as a director on multiple boards, including
as the Chairman of the Board of YuMe since May 2016.

Mr. John Mutch, brings extensive business, corporate leadership and financial expertise across various industries, including experience
serving as chief executive officer of several companies within the software and IT industries. John served on the YuMe board of directors
since July 2017.

In addition, on 29 May 2018 the Committee appointed Mark Bonney as an Executive Director.

Mr. Bonney has over 35 years of experience as a senior executive officer and has held a variety of roles that include Chief Executive
Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operations Officer – in both the United States and internationally, as well as several directorships
of public and private businesses. Mr. Bonney has led companies through various transformative events with a proven track record of
having dramatically increased value for shareholders and maximized opportunities for growth.

RE-ELECTION TO THE BOARD

Following evaluation of the Board, we consider that the performance of all members of the Board continues to be effective, and that all
individuals demonstrate appropriate commitment to their roles. In accordance with best practice and the Company’s articles of
Association, which require at least one third of Directors to be subject to re-election at each Annual General Meeting, Raj Chellaraj will
retire at the next Annual General Meeting, while Mark Bonney, Edward Reginelli, Eric Singer and John Mutch will stand for appointment at
the AGM on 13 July 2018.

DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board recognizes the value in diversity in its richest sense, and considers it essential in maximizing its effectiveness. The Group
approaches diversity comprehensively, in order to recruit the best talent available at all levels in the business, based on merit, and
assessed against criteria such as: range of skills, experience and independence. The Committee is guided by these criteria when
evaluating candidates for nomination and succession planning
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors present their annual report on the affairs of the Group, together with the Financial Statements and auditor’s report for the
year ended 31 March 2018. This report contains certain statutory, regulatory and other information and incorporates, by reference, the
Strategic Report and Corporate Governance reports included earlier in this document.

The table below sets out the location of certain information specifically related to the business review:

CONTENT SECTION PAGE(S)

Review of the Business and Future Developments Strategic Review, Chairman and CEO Reports 2-11

Principal Risks and Uncertainties CFO Report 14-16

Corporate Governance Corporate Governance Report 27-29

Directors, Re-election and Appointment Corporate Governance Report and Nomination Committee report 27,38

Directors’ Interests Remuneration Committee Report 33-35

Key Performance Indicators CFO Report 12

Research and Development CFO Report 13

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Details of the issued share capital, together with details of the movements in the Company’s issued share capital during the year, including
the issue of 77,535,770 shares, are shown in note 22. The Company has one class of ordinary shares, which carry no right to fixed income.
Each share carries the right to one vote at general meetings of the Company.

There are no specific restrictions on the size of a holding nor on the transfer of shares, which are both governed by the general provisions
of the Articles of Association and prevailing legislation. The Directors are not aware of any agreements between holders of the Company’s
shares that may result in restrictions on the transfer of securities or on voting rights. Details of employee share schemes are set out in
note 27.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s financial risk management objective is to minimize risk whilst achieving maximum return on liquid assets. The Directors are
averse to principal loss and manage the safety and preservation of the Group’s invested funds by limiting default and market risks by
investing only with highly-rated financial institutions.

The Group’s financial instruments primarily comprise cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, loans, trade receivables and
payables from operations. No derivative financial instruments are used. Foreign currency risks are managed through natural hedges
arising from currency bank accounts.

The Group has not faced any material exposure to price risk, liquidity risk, or cash flow risk that would affect the ultimate objectives of the
business. See note 28.

The Board is cautious and measured in respect to investing the Group’s surplus funds and in relation to treasury planning. The Board’s
objectives are to minimize risk whilst achieving maximum return on liquid assets. Risk is limited by investing cash surplus only in highly-
rated financial institutions and instruments. Foreign currency risks are managed through natural hedges with currency bank accounts. The
Group has not experienced any material exposure to price risk, liquidity risk or cash flow risk that would affect the ultimate objectives of
the Group. Further details on the Group’s financial risk management policies are included in note 28 to the financial statements.

Detailed working capital projections and forecasts are prepared by management, and reviewed and approved by the Board at least
annually. These are updated throughout the year for significant events. Actual monthly results are compared to forecasts and variances
investigated and explained by the executive management team. There are external financial covenants that the Group has to abide by,
and the Board’s consideration of going concern is discussed on page 40.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group are set out in the Consolidated Income Statement on page 47.

The Directors are unable to recommend the payment of a dividend (2017: $nil).

CHARITABLE AND POLITICAL DONATIONS

No charitable or political donations were made during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES

The Group has made qualifying third party indemnity provisions for the benefit of its Directors which remain in force at the date of this
report.

EMPLOYEE CONSULTATION

The Group places considerable value on the involvement of its employees and has continued to keep them informed on matters affecting
them as employees and on the various factors affecting the performance of the Group. This is achieved through formal and informal
meetings, the Group Intranet site and internal communications from the management team.
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Employees are consulted regularly on a wide range of matters affecting their current and future interests. We value employees’ opinions
and seek to actively consult them in the decision making process and keep them apprised of Company news. Company-wide briefings
and communications are held and feedback is actively sought from all employees.

The employee share option scheme has been running successfully since its inception and is open to all employees. In addition,
employees typically receive an annual bonus related to the overall profitability of the Group.

EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES

Our employment policies, including a commitment to equal opportunity, are designed to attract and retain high-caliber individuals,
regardless of age, sex, religion, disability, marital status, race, ethnicity, nationality or sexual orientation.

RhythmOne plc is an equal opportunities employer and ensures that applications for employment from people with disabilities and other
under-represented groups are given full and fair consideration.

Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully considered, bearing in mind the aptitudes of the applicant concerned. In
the event of members of staff becoming disabled, every effort is made to ensure that their employment with the Group continues and that
appropriate training is arranged and support provided, including flexible working to assist re-entry into the workplace and making any
necessary alternate provisions. It is our policy to provide equally to all staff, training and career development for growth within the
Company, and to explore objectively, through performance appraisal, opportunities for employee advancement.

We take measures to ensure good working conditions. Employees are expected at all times to act honestly, respectfully, and in
accordance with our Company ethos. The Company does not tolerate misconduct or harassment in any form and will diligently investigate
and, where necessary, take action against any complaints therein, including those of confidential “whistle blowers.”

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS

On 31 March 2018, the Company had been notified of the following voting rights as a shareholder of the Company:

NUMBER SHARES %

Toscafund Asset Management 18,660,771 24.07%

River & Mercantile Asset Management 4,907,693 6.33%

Lombard Odier Asset Management Europe Ltd. 4,059,115 5.24%

VIEX Capital Advisors, LLC 4,057,325 5.23%

Interactive Investor Sharedealing 3,053,183 3.94%

Total shares outstanding at 31 March 2018 77,535,770

On May 31, 2018 the Company received notification of the following voting rights as a shareholder of the Company:

NUMBER SHARES %

Toscafund Asset Management 18,660,981 24.00%

River & Mercantile Asset Management 5,810,545 7.47%

Lombard Odier Asset Management Europe Ltd. 5,804,752 7.47%

VIEX Capital Advisors, LLC 4,057,325 5.22%

Hargreaves Lansdown Asset Mgt 2,879,846 3.70%

Total shares outstanding at 31 May 2018 77,754,964

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

There are no significant post balance sheet events.

GOING CONCERN

The Directors have considered the financial resources of the Group and the risks associated with doing business in the current economic
climate and believe the Group is well placed to manage these risks successfully. In doing this, the Board has reviewed management’s
business plan and cash flow forecast setting out key business assumptions, including the rate of revenue growth, margins and cost
control. The Directors consider the assumptions therein to be reasonable and that the Group has adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future, being a period of no less than 12 months from the date of signing this Annual Report.
Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing these financial statements.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Annual General Meeting will be held in the United Kingdom on 13 July 2018. Members of the Board will present on recent
developments and the performance of the business and shareholders will have the opportunity to ask questions of the Board members
present.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Each of the persons who is a Director at the date of approval of this Annual Report confirms that:

� so far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and
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� the Director has taken all of the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a Director in order to make him/herself aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of section 418 of the Companies Act 2006.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
regulation.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have prepared the
Group financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and
parent company financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European
Union. Under Company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and parent company and of the profit or loss of the Group and parent company for that period. In
preparing the financial statements, the Directors are required to:

� select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
� state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European Union have been followed for the Group financial statements and IFRSs as

adopted by the European Union have been followed for the Company financial statements, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

� make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and
� prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and parent company

will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group and parent
company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and parent company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group financial statements,
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and parent company and hence for taking reasonable steps
for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the parent company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

The Directors consider that the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the
information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group and parent company’s performance, business model and strategy.

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed in the Board of Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge:

� the parent company financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, give
a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and loss of the Company;

� the Group financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, give a true
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and loss of the Group; and

� the Directors’ Report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the Group and
parent company, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces.

The Strategic and Directors report have been signed on behalf of the Board by:

Mark Bonney
Chief Executive Officer
RhythmOne plc
14 June 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO
THE MEMBERS OF RHYTHMONE PLC

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
OPINION

In our opinion, RhythmOne plc’s group financial statements and company financial statements (the “financial statements”):

� give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the company’s affairs as at 31 March 2018 and of the group’s loss and the
group’s and the company’s cash flows for the year then ended;

� have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European
Union and, as regards the company’s financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006;
and

� have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report and Accounts (the “Annual Report”), which comprise: the
consolidated and company balance sheets as at 31 March 2018; the consolidated income statement and consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated and company cash flow statements, and the consolidated and company statements of changes
in equity for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting
policies.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable law. Our responsibilities
under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

INDEPENDENCE

We remained independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, as applicable to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

OUR AUDIT APPROACH

Overview

Materiality

Audit scope

Key audit
matters

� Overall group materiality: $2,555,000 (2017: $1,754,000), based on 1% of revenue.
� Overall company materiality: £2,902,000 (2017: £1,574,000), based on 1% of total assets.

� The group is made up of four separate components being RhythmOne, RadiumOne, Perk, and YuMe.
� Our audit scope is primarily determined by consideration of the significance of a component’s contribution

to group revenue.
� Contribution to individual financial statement line items has also been considered, ensuring we have

sufficient coverage of each line item and additional coverage for higher risk areas.
� We performed the following scope for the audit:

a. Full scope audits over RhythmOne, RadiumOne, and Perk components.
b. Testing of specific balances over YuMe based on materiality and underlying risk.

� Occurrence of revenue recognised based on first party data (Group).
� Accounting for acquisitions of RadiumOne Inc. and YuMe Inc. (Group).
� Impairment of existing goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets (Group) and investments in

subsidiaries (Company).
� Recoverability of the deferred tax asset (Group).

The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. In
particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant accounting estimates that
involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain.

As in all of our audits we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including evaluating whether there was
evidence of bias by the directors that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial
statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud)
identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the
audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any comments we make on the results of our procedures
thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit.

KEY AUDIT MATTER HOW OUR AUDIT ADDRESSED THE KEY AUDIT MATTER

Occurrence of revenue recognised based on first party data

A significant portion of the group’s revenue recognition is based on
an agreed amount per impression and the number of impressions
displayed. Revenue is recognised as the volumes are reported either
by the group’s internal operating system (“first party”) or an
authoritative third party, based on the contractual terms. We consider
revenue recognised based on first party data to be inherently higher
risk as the revenue transactions relating to the delivered impressions
and clicks, which is normally the point at which revenue is
recognised, may not have occurred or its number may not have been
measured accurately.

Refer to note 3 Significant Accounting Policies on pages 52 – 59 of
the Annual Report.

� We tested IT general controls around the key systems used
in generating first party data. This primarily involved testing of
access and change management.

� We tested key controls and processes to evaluate that the
relevant systems appropriately capture delivered
impressions.

� For a sample of revenue transactions we agreed the number
of impressions billed to the underlying campaign data.

� For a sample of revenue transactions we agreed the amounts
billed to cash receipts from the customers.

� We found no material misstatements from our testing.

Accounting for acquisitions of RadiumOne Inc. and YuMe Inc.

RhythmOne plc acquired certain assets and liabilities of RadiumOne
Inc. in June 2017 and YuMe Inc. in February 2018. For each
acquisition, the group was required to determine the consideration
and then allocate the transaction consideration between the fair
value of identified assets, liabilities and goodwill. There is a risk that
not all intangible assets were identified, assets and liabilities were
not measured appropriately and that the consideration amount was
not calculated accurately.

Refer to note 7 Business Combinations on pages 62 – 64 of the
Annual Report.

� We reviewed the share purchase agreements, agreed the
key terms therein and recalculated the fair value of total
considerations.

� We selected material balances from each of the opening
balance sheets and, on a sample basis, agreed the amounts
recorded to supporting documentation.

� We tested key fair value adjustments which relate mainly to
intangible assets, publisher accruals and accounts receivable
balances.

� We assessed the competency of management’s valuation
experts and considered the scope of their work on the two
acquisitions.

� We tested the mathematical accuracy of management’s
valuation models and assessed the reasonableness of the
key assumptions such as revenue growth rates and the
discount rates.

� We assessed the useful lives of acquired intangible assets.
� We tested the calculation of the resulting goodwill balances.
� We found no material misstatements from our testing.

Impairment of existing goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible
assets (Group) and investments in subsidiaries (Company)

The group holds significant goodwill and other intangible assets
balances of $123.8 million and $86.4 million respectively as at
31 March 2018. The valuation of these assets is judgmental and there
is a risk they may be impaired.

RhythmOne plc also holds an investment in subsidiaries of £283.6
million in the company financial statements. There is a risk this
investment balance may be impaired.

Refer to notes 14 Goodwill, 15 Intangible Assets and 34 Investments
in subsidiaries on pages 66 –67 and 83 of the Annual Report.

� We have reviewed the directors’ impairment assessments for
goodwill, investments and intangibles for reasonableness.

� We assessed the appropriateness of the group’s CGUs
structure following the acquisitions made during the year.

� We obtained an understanding of management’s process
and key judgements utilised in developing the impairment
model.

� We tested mathematical accuracy of management’s model.
� We assessed the historical accuracy of management’s

forecasting by performing a retrospective review of the prior
period cash flow forecasts and comparing those to the actual
results in the current period.

� We assessed the reasonableness of the key assumptions
such as revenue growth rates, discount rates, terminal
growth rates and operating cost. We used independent
market projections and compared those to management’s
assumptions where applicable and available.

� We performed sensitivity analyses on certain key variables in
the cash flow models to understand the impact of changes in
certain assumptions and to assess whether a reasonably
possible change in a key assumption would result in an
impairment loss.

� We found no material misstatements from our testing.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER HOW OUR AUDIT ADDRESSED THE KEY AUDIT MATTER

Recoverability of the deferred tax asset

The group has a significant deferred tax asset balance net of
deferred tax liability of $24.9 million recognised on its balance sheet,
which largely relates to historic trading losses. The deferred tax
asset balances are supported by forecasted future taxable profits.
There is a risk that the recognised deferred tax asset is overstated
and not recoverable due to the fact that sufficient future taxable
profits may not be available to utilise this asset.

Refer to note 20 Deferred Tax on pages 71 – 72 of the Annual
Report.

� We considered whether the length of time over which the
deferred tax asset would be recovered was reasonable, in
line with the group’s strategy and appropriately supported by
probable future taxable profits.

� We assessed the reasonableness of management’s analysis
of probable future taxable profits and tested key assumptions
in the model.

� We considered whether management’s assumptions used in
their deferred tax asset model are in line with other relevant
assumptions, for example those in the goodwill impairment
model.

� We performed sensitivity analysis over the key assumptions.
� We found no material misstatements from our testing.

How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed sufficient work to be able to give an opinion on the financial statements as
a whole, taking into account the structure of the group and the company, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which
they operate.

The group is structured into four separate components which forms the basis of the scoping assessment. The four components are
RhythmOne, RadiumOne, Perk, and YuMe. The latter three components, which contribute to the group consolidated results, are separately
acquired businesses of the group. In establishing the overall approach to the group audit, we determined the type of work that needed to
be performed on these components. Of the group’s four components, either due to their size or their risk characteristics, RhythmOne,
RadiumOne, and Perk have required a full scope audit. This included an audit of their entire financial information. In addition to this, we
performed work over specific balances in the YuMe component to ensure we have gained sufficient coverage over each financial statement
line item.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality. These,
together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit
procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually
and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Overall materiality $2,555,000 (2017: $1,754,000). £2,902,000 (2017: £1,574,000).

How we determined it 1% of revenue. 1% of total assets.

Rationale for benchmark applied Consistent with the previous year, we
have applied this benchmark as a
generally accepted auditing practice
applicable for a trading group of
companies.

Consistent with the previous year, we
have applied this benchmark as a
generally accepted auditing practice
applicable for a non-trading holding
entity.

For each component in the scope of our group audit, we allocated a materiality that is less than our overall group materiality. The range of
materiality allocated across components was between $1,404,000 and $2,427,000. For the purpose of the group audit we have used a
lower materiality of £1,628,000 for the audit of the company balances which are being consolidated.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above $127,500 (Group
audit) (2017: $87,500) and £145,000 (Company audit) (2017: £70,000) as well as misstatements below those amounts that, in our view,
warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which ISAs (UK) require us to report to you when:

� the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or
� the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about

the group’s and company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months
from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the group’s and company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our auditors’ report
thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
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information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form
of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform
procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other
information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK Companies Act
2006 have been included.

Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, ISAs (UK) require us also to report
certain opinions and matters as described below.

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic Report and Directors’
Report for the year ended 31 March 2018 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with applicable
legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did
not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities set out on page 41, the directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The
directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the company’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the group or the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any
other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our
prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

� we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
� adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from

branches not visited by us; or
� certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
� the company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Jaskamal Sarai (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Uxbridge
14 June 2018
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

RhythmOne plc
Annual Report
and Accounts FY2018

YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018 YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

NOTE

BEFORE
EXCEPTIONAL

ITEMS
$000’S

EXCEPTIONAL
ITEMS

$000’S
TOTAL
$000’S

BEFORE
EXCEPTIONAL

ITEMS
$000’S

EXCEPTIONAL
ITEMS

$000’S
TOTAL
$000’S

Revenue 5 255,073 - 255,073 149,025 - 149,025

Cost of revenue (151,271) - (151,271) (98,478) - (98,478)

Operating expenses 29 & 30 (110,262) (19,357) (129,619) (60,557) (5,245) (65,802)

Loss before tax and finance income and expense (6,460) (19,357) (25,817) (10,010) (5,245) (15,255)

Finance income 11 375 - 375 631 - 631

Finance expense 11 (567) - (567) (266) - (266)

Other income 29 - 3,119 3,119 - - -

Loss before income tax (6,652) (16,238) (22,890) (9,645) (5,245) (14,890)

Income tax credit 12 7,251 1,764 9,015 861 - 861

Loss from continuing operations 599 (14,474) (13,875) (8,784) (5,245) (14,029)

Discontinued operations

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax 6 - - - (827) (3,934) (4,761)

Loss for the year 599 (14,474) (13,875) (9,611) (9,179) (18,790)

NOTE CENTS
CENTS

(RESTATED NOTE 13)

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO RHYTHMONE PLC

BASIC 13 (25.64) (44.46)

DILUTED 13 (25.64) (44.46)

LOSS PER SHARE FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

BASIC 13 (25.64) (33.20)

DILUTED 13 (25.64) (33.20)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

RhythmOne plc
Annual Report
and Accounts FY2018

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2018

$000’s

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2017

$000’s

Loss for the year (13,875) (18,790)

Items which might be potentially reclassified to profit or loss

Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations (1,713) 245

Gains/(losses) on marketable securities (net of tax) 8 (27)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR (15,580) (18,572)

Items in the statement above are disclosed net of tax. The income tax relating to each component of other comprehensive income is
disclosed in Note 12.

The notes on pages 52 to 79 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 MARCH 2018

RhythmOne plc
Annual Report
and Accounts FY2018

NOTE

AS AT
31 MARCH 2018

$000’s

AS AT
31 MARCH 2017

$000’s

ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Goodwill 14 123,841 48,530

Intangible assets 15 86,360 37,971

Property, plant and equipment 16 12,309 4,556

Other receivables and restricted cash 18 2,927 4,686

Deferred tax asset 20 29,290 19,271

Marketable securities 19 - 22,864

254,727 137,878

CURRENT ASSETS

Trade receivables 18 84,793 41,470

Other receivables and restricted cash 18 42,615 3,433

Cash and cash equivalents 37,331 19,338

Marketable securities 19 - 33,002

164,739 97,243

TOTAL ASSETS 419,466 235,121

LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Deferred tax liability 20 (4,412) (3,863)

Other payables 21 (4,095) (2,228)

Borrowings 21 (9,461) -

Provisions 21 (628) (1,502)

(18,596) (7,593)

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 21 (84,627) (43,386)

Term loan 21 (35,000) -

Provisions 21 (558) (907)

(120,185) (44,293)

TOTAL LIABILITIES (138,781) (51,886)

NET ASSETS 280,685 183,235

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Share capital 22 12,641 8,667

Share premium account 24 103,856 168,159

Shares to be issued 25 2,093 24

Share-based compensation reserve 27 31,736 28,605

Currency translation reserve 30,725 (8,591)

Merger reserve 25 49,277 107,820

Accumulated other comprehensive loss - (8)

Retained earnings / (Accumulated deficit) 50,357 (121,441)

TOTAL EQUITY 280,685 183,235

Note 1 to Note 32 form an integral part of the financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements of RhythmOne plc (registered number 06223359) were approved by the Board of Directors and
authorized for issue on 14 June 2018.

They were signed on its behalf by:

Mark Bonney
President and Chief Executive Officer
RhythmOne plc
14 June 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

RhythmOne plc
Annual Report
and Accounts FY2018

SHARE
CAPITAL

$000’s

SHARE
PREMIUM

ACCOUNT
$000’s

SHARES
TO BE

ISSUED
$000’s

SHARE BASED
COMPENSATION

RESERVE
$000’s

CURRENCY
TRANSLATION

RESERVE
$000’s

MERGER
RESERVE

$000’s

OTHER
RESERVES

$000’s

(ACCUMULATED
DEFICIT)/RETAINED

EARNINGS
$000’s

TOTAL
EQUITY
$000’s

BALANCE AS AT

1 April 2016 7,537 168,045 24 26,590 (8,836) 65,208 19 (102,649) 155,938

Net loss for the year - - - - - - - (18,790) (18,790)

Other comprehensive income - - - - 245 - (27) - 218

Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - - 245 - (27) (18,790) (18,572)

Issue of shares, net of costs 1,130 114 - - - 42,612 - (2) 43,854

Credit to equity for Sharebased payments - - - 2,015 - - - - 2,015

BALANCE AS AT

31 March 2017 8,667 168,159 24 28,605 (8,591) 107,820 (8) (121,441) 183,235

Net loss for the year - - - - - - - (13,875) (13,875)

Other comprehensive loss - - - - (1,713) - 8 - (1,705)

Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - - (1,713) - 8 (13,875) (15,580)

Issue of shares, net of costs 42 891 - - - - - - 933

Issue of shares, net of costs related to

acquisitions 3,932 102,965 2,069 967 - - - - 109,933

Capitalization of merger reserve (note 23) - 58,001 - - 542 (58,543) - - -

Capital reduction (note 23) - (226,160) - - 40,487 - - 185,673 -

Credit to equity for Share-based payments - - - 2,164 - - - - 2,164

BALANCE AS AT

31 March 2018 12,641 103,856 2,093 31,736 30,725 49,277 - 50,357 280,685
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

RhythmOne plc
Annual Report
and Accounts FY2018

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2018

$000’s

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2017

$000’s

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss for the period (13,875) (18,790)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortization 18,846 10,208

Share based payments 2,164 2,015

Loss on disposal of PVMG assets - 3,858

Loss on disposal of computer equipment 432 82

Remeasurement of deferred consideration (3,119) -

Income tax credit (9,015) (861)

Interest expense 567 266

Interest income (375) (631)

Unrealised foreign exchange (gain)/loss (1,495) 66

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (5,870) (3,787)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other receivables 25,095 (11,991)

(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables (17,691) 7,507

(Decrease)/Increase in provisions (1,223) 1,704

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities 311 (6,567)

Income taxes (paid) / refund (1,047) 185

Net cash used in operating activities (736) (6,382)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest received 375 631

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,019) (2,394)

Capitalization of internal development costs and purchase of software (6,592) (3,266)

Acquisitions payment of deferred consideration - (499)

Purchase of marketable securities - (631)

Sales of marketable securities 55,874 5,002

Proceeds from the sale of the assets of PVMG - 1,064

Yume Acquisition, net of cash acquired (19,082) -

RadiumOne Acquisition, net of cash acquired (4,489) -

Perk Acquisition, net of cash acquired - 10,229

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities 25,067 10,136

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayments on finance lease (2,125) (1,050)

Interest payments (485) (187)

Repayment of credit facility (14,431) (1,507)

Proceeds from term loan 35,000 -

Funding of collateral related to term loan (35,000) -

Proceeds from credit facility 10,000 -

Debt issuance cost paid (621) -

Proceeds from issuance of shares 933 159

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities (6,729) (2,585)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 17,602 1,169

Beginning cash and cash equivalents 19,338 18,222

Effect of foreign exchange on cash and cash equivalents 391 (53)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 37,331 19,338
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1 GENERAL INFORMATION

RhythmOne plc is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales under the UK Companies Act 2006.
The Company’s ordinary shares are traded on the Alternative Investment Market (“AIM”). The address of the registered office is 65
Gresham Street, London, EC2V 7NQ, United Kingdom. The nature of the Group’s operations and its principal activities are set out in
the Strategic Report.

The Group is defined as RhythmOne plc and its subsidiaries which are outlined in Note 17. The Parent Company is RhythmOne Plc.
The Parent Company’s functional currency is Sterling, being the currency of the primary economic environment in which the
Company operates. Other significant subsidiaries within the Group have the USD as their functional currency. The presentational
currency of the Group is US Dollars. Foreign operations are included in accordance with policies set out in note 3.

2 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS

(a) New standards, amendments and interpretations

No new standards, amendments or interpretations, effective for the first time for the financial year beginning on or after 1 April 2018,
have had a material impact on the group or parent company.

(b) New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after
1 January 2017, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. None of these is expected to have a significant
effect on the financial statements of the group or parent company, except the following, set out below:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments will replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. It addresses the classification,
measurement and derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities. The new standard replaces the current multiple
classification and measurement models for financial assets and liabilities with a single model that has only two classification
categories: amortized cost and fair value. In November 2013, the IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 9 which includes a new hedge
model that aligns accounting more closely with risk management as well as enhancements to the disclosures about hedge
accounting and risk management. IFRS 9 has also been amended not to require the restatement of comparative period financial
statements for the initial application of the classification and measuring requirements of IFRS 9, but instead requires modified
disclosures on transition to IFRS 9. The IASB has deferred the effective date to annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018
with early adoption permitted.

IFRS 9 also introduces the expected credit loss model for impairment of financial assets which replaces the incurred loss
model used in IAS 39 “Financial instruments; recognition and measurement”. The Group has performed an initial impact assessment
of IFRS 9 and does not expect to have a material effect on the financial statements given the Group’s credit risk management
policies.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers will replace all existing revenue standards including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11
Construction Contracts and related interpretations. IFRS 15 outlines a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting
for revenue arising from contracts with customers, improves the comparability of revenue from contracts with customers, reduces the
need for the development of case-by-case guidance for emerging revenue recognition issues, and improves disclosures about
revenues. In April 2016, the IASB issued Clarifications to IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, clarifying application of
some of the more complex aspects of the standard. The IASB has deferred the effective date to annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2018 with early adoption permitted.IFRS 15 is based on a five step model framework and the principles of the standard are
that revenue is recognised as the Group fulfils its performance obligations. The Group has performed an initial impact assessment of
IFRS 15 and does not expect to have a material effect on the financial statements. Revenue recognition is unlikely to change
significantly from the current recognition policy as set out in note 3.

IFRS 16 Leases will replace IAS 17 Leases and related interpretations. IFRS 16 eliminates the distinction between operating and
finance leases and requires most leases to be recorded on the statement of financial position for lessees under a single model unless
the lease term is twelve months or less or the underlying asset has a low value. Lessor accounting remains largely unchanged and
the distinction between operating and finance leases is retained. The IASB has an effective date for annual periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2019 with early adoption permitted if IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers has also been applied. The
Company is currently assessing the impact of adopting this standard on its consolidated financial statements.

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Accounting

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and
IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) interpretations as adopted by the European Union and the Companies Act 2006 applicable
to companies reporting under IFRS.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018, including comparatives, have been approved and
authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 14 June 2018.
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The per share information has been restated to take account of the share consolidation which took place on 25 September 2017.

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a
higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in note 4.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for marketable securities which are carried at fair
value. The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.

Going Concern

The Directors have, at the time of approving the financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group
have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. They continue to adopt the going concern
basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements. Further details are contained in the Directors’ Report on page 39.

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
(its subsidiaries) prepared up to 31 March each year. The Company achieves control when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income statement from the
effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with those used by the Group.

All intra-Group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair
value of the identifiable net assets acquired. Goodwill is initially recognized as an asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill which is recognized as an asset is reviewed for impairment at least annually. Any
impairment is recognized immediately in profit or loss and is not subsequently reversed.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the
recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of goodwill. An
impairment loss recognized for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Revenue Recognition

The Company’s revenue is principally derived from advertising services measured by the number of advertising impressions
displayed on digital media properties owned and controlled by third-party digital media property owners and its owned and operated
digital media properties and mobile apps. The Company’s revenue is priced either on a cost per thousand impressions (“CPM”) basis
or on a Pay per Click (“PPC”) basis. The Company recognizes revenue when it has persuasive evidence that there is an arrangement
with a customer, that delivery of the advertising impressions has occurred, there is a fixed price which is determined for each
transaction and that collection of the revenue is reasonably assured. For all revenue transactions, the Company considers a signed
agreement, a binding insertion order or other similar documentation to be persuasive evidence of an arrangement.

In the normal course of business, the Company acts as a facilitator in executing transactions with third parties. The determination of
whether revenue should be reported on a gross or net basis is based on an assessment of whether the Company is acting as the
principal or an agent in the transaction. In determining whether the Company acts as the principal or an agent, the Company follows
the accounting guidance for principal-agent considerations. While none of the factors identified in this guidance is individually
considered presumptive or determinative, because the Company is the primary obligor and is responsible for (i) establishing the
selling prices of the advertisements sold and (ii) performing all billing and collection activities including retaining credit risk. As a
result, the Company acts as the principal in these arrangements and therefore reports revenue earned and costs incurred on a gross
basis.

Contracts containing multiple deliverables are split into their constituent parts and each deliverable’s fair value is separately
determined and recognized accordingly.

The policies for each of the Group’s key revenue streams in relation to services are set out below:

Advertising Revenue

When sales values are based on the volume of impressions (CPM), revenue is based on an agreed amount per impression and the
number of impressions displayed. This revenue is recognized as the volumes are reported either by the Group’s internal reporting
system or an authoritative third party, based on the contractual terms.
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When sales values are based on volume of clicks (pay per click), revenue is based upon an agreed amount per click that the end user
makes after viewing the advertisement and the number of clicks made by the users, in the period in which the clicks occur.

Share of Advertising Revenues

Where customers use the RhythmOne technology to retrieve their own content, contractual arrangements may provide for the Group
to receive a share of the customer’s advertising revenues. The amount of revenue is dependent upon the amount paid per click or
per advertisement shown. This revenue is recognized as reported by the Group’s customers, in the period to which it relates.

Finance Income and Expense

Finance income includes bank interest and income from short-term deposits and marketable securities. Finance expense includes
interest on finance leases, the term loan and the revolving credit facility.

Classification of Expenses

Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenues consists primarily of traffic acquisition costs (“TAC”) and amounts incurred with digital media property owners that
are directly related to revenue generated by the Group.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses consist of costs associated with the research and development and sales and marketing activities in addition to
general and administrative costs and charges for depreciation of property plant and equipment and amortization of intangible assets.

Research and development expenses consist primarily of compensation and related costs for personnel responsible for the research
and development of new and existing products and services, in addition to co-locations and facilities charges.

The development expenditures are capitalized in accordance with the Group’s standard internal capitalization policy outlined further
below. All research costs are expensed when incurred.

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of compensation and related costs for personnel engaged in customer service, sales,
and sales support functions, as well as advertising and promotional expenditures that are not directly attributable to revenue, in
addition to facilities charges.

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of compensation and related costs for personnel and facilities, and include
costs related to our facilities, finance, human resources, information technology, and legal organizations, and fees for professional
services. Professional services are principally comprised of outside legal, audit, information technology consulting, and outsourcing
services.

Exceptional Items

Items which are exceptional, being material in terms of size and/or nature, are presented separately in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements. The principal events which may give rise to exceptional items include the restructuring and integration of
businesses, gains or losses on the disposal of businesses, goodwill impairments, major asset impairments and disposals, litigation
settlements and transaction costs relating to business combinations, including related severance and retention costs, onerous
contract provisions and professional fees.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the group before the normal retirement date, or whenever an
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The group recognises termination benefits at the earlier of
the following dates: (a) when the group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises costs
for restructuring that is within the scope of IAS 37 and involves the payment of termination benefits. In the case of an offer made to
encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based on the number of employees expected to accept the
offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are discounted to their present value.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognized as assets of the Group at their fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the
minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the
balance sheet as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognized immediately in profit or loss, unless they are
directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalized in accordance with the Group’s general policy on
borrowing costs.
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Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to income on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease except
where another more systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the lease asset are
consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognized as a liability. The
aggregate benefit of incentives is recognized as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Foreign Currencies

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of the entity concerned are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated into the presentational currency, US Dollars, at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. The Group
has selected US Dollars as its presentational currency as that is the currency of the principal economic environment in which the
Group operates.

Exchange differences are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for exchange differences on monetary
items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming
part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognized initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified
from equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the net investment.

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign denominated operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing
on the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the Period unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly. Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified as equity and transferred to the Group’s translation
reserve. Such translation differences are recognized as income or as expenses in the period in which the operation is disposed of.

Discontinued Operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Company’s business; the operations and cash flows of which can be clearly
distinguished from the rest of the Company and which:

� Represents a separate major line of business or geographic area;
� Is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographic area of operations; or
� Is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to re-sale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs at the earlier of disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as
held-for-sale. When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the income statement and comprehensive loss is
represented as if the operation has been discontinued from the start of the year. During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Company
has classified its non-core operations as discontinued operations as further described in note 6. There are no discontinued
operations for the year ended 31 March 2018.

Taxation

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable or receivable is based on taxable loss/profit for the year. Taxable loss/profit differs from net loss/profit as
reported in the income statement because it will exclude items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the
balance sheet liability method.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits are available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such assets and
liabilities will not be recognized if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, and
interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits are available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realized.
Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in
which case the deferred tax will also be dealt with in equity.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets
and liabilities on a net basis.

Trade Receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. If
collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current
assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less provision for impairment.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognized impairment loss. Cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets, over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the
following bases:

Fixtures, fittings, office and computer equipment Over 3–5 years
Leasehold improvements Over shorter of economic life or lease term

The gain or loss arising from the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in income.

Internally-generated Intangible Assets—Research and Development Expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognized as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from the Group’s product development is recognized only if all of the following
conditions are met:

� the product from which the asset arises meets the Group’s criteria for technical feasibility, so it will be available for use;
� the asset is intended to be completed, and will be used or sold;
� the asset created is expected to generate demonstrable future economic benefits;
� the development cost of the asset can be measured reliably; and
� adequate technical, financial and other resources are available to complete development of the asset.

Internally-generated intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful life, which is considered to be three
years starting when the associated technology is available for use. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be
recognized, development expenditure is recognized as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Other Intangible Assets Excluding Goodwill

Other intangible assets excluding goodwill are measured initially at purchase cost or at fair value if acquired as part of a business
combination, and are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, on the following bases:

Tradenames, patents and trademarks 3–10 years

Software licenses 3 years

Purchased technology 3–5 years

Relationships with publishers and customers 3–12 years

Favorable leases 1–9 years

Impairment of Assets Excluding Goodwill

At each balance sheet date, the Group will review the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that
are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is recognized as an expense immediately.
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Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognized as income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Any increase in the recoverable amount of previously impaired goodwill is not subsequently reversed.

Trade Payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business, if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be
required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are measured at the
Directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date, taking into account risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

A restructuring provision is recognized when the Group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has raised a
valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main
features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the
restructuring, which are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with the ongoing
activities of the entity.

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognized and measured as provisions. An onerous contract is considered
to exist where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the
economic benefits expected to be received under it.

Share-Based Payments

The Group applies IFRS 2 Share-based Payments in accounting for its Share-based Compensation plans.

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees. Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at
fair value at the date of grant by use of an appropriate valuation model. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-
settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares
that will eventually vest.

Fair value is measured by use of the Black-Scholes and Monte Carlo models. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted,
based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and behavioral considerations.

At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest as a result of the
effect of non-market-based vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognized in profit and
loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to equity reserves.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The proceeds received, net of any directly attributable costs are
credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium.

Borrowings

Borrowings consist of overdrafts and other short term facilities, and are initially recognised at fair value less directly attributable
transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. The difference between
the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated income statement, within finance
costs, over the period of the borrowings. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

Retirement Benefits

Payments to a defined contribution scheme are charged as an expense as they fall due.

Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized in the Group’s balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.
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Loans and Receivables

Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are
classified as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less
any impairment. Interest income is recognized by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the
recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Restricted Cash

Where required, the Group keeps amounts on deposit with financial institutions as a condition of certain property leases and
collateral for term loan. This cash may not be used by the Group and is held as security against leases or term loan. At the cessation
of a lease or term loan, the cash restrictions cease, and the cash will be immediately accessible. Until this time, the cash is classified
as “Restricted cash” in current and non-current assets.

Impairment of Financial Assets

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are
subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could
include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
average credit period, as well as observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of
trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is
considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognized in profit or loss.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities represent the Group’s investments in corporate bonds, commercial papers, government bonds, collateralized
securities and certificates of deposit. These are recognized either as current or non-current assets, in accordance with their maturity.
Marketable securities are carried at fair value with the change in its fair value recognized directly in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income. Interest income and dividends on marketable securities is recognized in the Income Statement, as well as any foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment losses.

Financial Liabilities and Equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into.

Equity Instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial Liabilities

All financial liabilities are classified as ‘other financial liabilities.’

Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. Other financial liabilities
are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognized on an effective
yield basis. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

The Group derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, canceled or they expire.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Group does not use derivative financial instruments.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.
The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, makes strategic decisions.
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Business Combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration for each acquisition is
measured at the aggregate of the fair values (at the date of exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity
instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognized in profit or loss as
incurred.

Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair value. All other subsequent changes in the fair value of contingent consideration
classified as an asset or liability are accounted for in accordance with relevant IFRSs. Changes in the fair value of contingent
consideration classified as equity are not recognized.

Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously-held interests in the acquired entity are re-measured to
fair value at the acquisition date (i.e., the date the Group attains control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognized in profit or
loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognized in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 (Revised
2008) are recognized at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that:

� deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are recognized and measured
in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

� liabilities or equity instruments related to the replacement by the Group of an acquiree’s share-based payment awards are
measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment; and

� assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period or additional assets or liabilities are recognized, to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognized as of that date.

The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains complete information about facts
and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date, and is subject to a maximum of one year.

4 CRITICAL JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

Critical Judgments in Applying the Group’s Accounting Policies

The following are the critical judgments apart from those involving estimations (which are dealt with separately below), that the
Directors have made in the process of applying the Group accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognized in the financial statements.

Business Combinations

In making their judgments with regards to the fair value and useful life of assets and liabilities for acquired businesses, the Directors
have considered the criteria for accounting for business combinations set out in IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’, including the
identification and valuation of acquired intangible assets.

Discontinued Operations

When assessing whether to account for a business segment as a discontinued operation the Directors have considered the detailed
criteria set out in IFRS 5 ‘Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations’ in particular whether a business unit
qualifies for disclosure as a discontinued operation. Discontinued operations as detailed in note 6 is in relation to disposal of a major
line of business for the year ended 31 March 2017. There have been no discontinued operations for the year ended 31 March 2018.

Revenue Recognition

In making their judgment with regard to revenue recognition, the Directors have considered the detailed criteria for the recognition of
revenue for the provision of services set out in IAS 18 ‘Revenue’ and the policy in note 3, in particular regarding whether the debt is
collectible. There is a policy in relation to the sales and doubtful debt allowance and the Directors have exercised judgment in
relation to this.

In addition, determining whether to recognize revenue on a gross or net basis is also considered a significant judgement by the
Directors. The Directors consider that gross recognition is appropriate. Refer to note 3 for further details.

Determination of Functional Currency

Determining the appropriate functional currency requires management judgment and consideration of the economic factors in which
the entity operates, such as the currency that mainly influences revenue, labour, material and other costs.
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Capitalisation of Development Costs

Determining the point of capitalization of costs related to developing internally generated technology requires judgement. The
Directors have considered the detailed criteria per IAS 38, ‘Intangible Assets’ and have ensured that costs are appropriately
capitalized only when the technical and commercial feasibility of technology is met. There is judgement in assessing the probability
of future economic benefits and the estimated useful life.

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial period, are
discussed below.

Impairment of Goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash generating unit (CGU) to which
goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the entity to estimate the future cash flows of the CGU and a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. The carrying amount of goodwill at the balance sheet date was $123.8m
(2017: $48.5m). Refer to note 14 for further details.

Identification and Valuation of Acquired Intangibles

In making judgments in relation to the identification, valuation and useful economic life of acquired intangibles, the Directors base
their assessment on valuation reports prepared by an expert third party at the time of an acquisition. Refer to Note 7 for further
details.

Deferred Tax Asset

In determining the level of recognition of the deferred tax assets, the Directors have considered the level of future taxable profits that
are expected to be received in the foreseeable future. Refer to Note 20 for further details.

Other estimates

Share Options and Restricted Share Units

In calculating the fair value of the share options, the Directors have considered the expected life of the option, the volatility of the
Company’s share price, the risk free rate and forfeiture rates. In calculating the fair value of the restricted share units the Company
uses the share price at the date of grant. Refer to Note 25 for further details.

Allowance Account for Credit Losses

The Company provides for bad debts by analyzing historical default rates and current information available about customer’s credit
worthiness on an account by account basis. Uncertainty relates to the actual collectability of customer balances which can vary from
the Company’s estimation.

5 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

RhythmOne plc is organized internally along function lines with each line reporting to the Group’s chief operating decision-maker, the
Chief Executive Officer. The primary function lines include: finance, human resources, operations, marketing, sales, business
development, technology and product development. Each of these functions supports the overall business activities; however, they
do not engage in activities from which they earn revenues or incur expenditure in their operations with each other. No discrete
financial information is produced for these functional lines. The Group’s chief operating decision-maker is ultimately responsible for
entity-wide resource allocation decisions and evaluates the performance of the Group on a Group-wide basis. The Company has
completed two acquisitions during the current fiscal year which are in the same line of business. As at the end of the fiscal year, the
Company is undergoing integration efforts to consolidate these businesses and products into the RhythmOne business model such
that separate management financial data on these entities is not meaningful and will not generally be maintained post integration
efforts. Acquired businesses immediately benefit from the primary function lines noted above and their products and services are
enhanced by the inclusion of RhythmOne technology, functionality and the Group’s wider sales channels to the market.

The Group operates a global Internet business and its commercial activity is not generated from distinguishable geographic origins.
Although the Group has operations in several geographic locations, no discrete financial performance information is maintained on a
regional basis because of the globally distributed nature of the revenues and high degree of functional integration among the
different geographic locations. Consequently, decisions around the allocation of resources are not determined on a regional basis
and the chief operating decision-maker does not assess the Group’s performance on a geographic basis. Consequently, the Group’s
chief operating decision maker reviews financial information for the Group as a whole, determining where to allocate resources and
drive business forward by examining consolidated results.

The Group’s business is based on the principle of facilitating free access to content via an advertising-supported distribution model
and its revenues are derived from online advertising. The Group applies its technology across a set of standard and inter-related
products to connect its audience with contextually relevant advertising. Advertisers select from several product types which are
priced on different pricing schemes. Each of the products generates revenues from a mix of the various pricing methodologies. There
is considerable overlap among the products and advertisers and it is not meaningful to separate the revenues by primary pricing
scheme or product. Consequently, separate financial information is not reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker for the
various products to assess their performance or for the purpose of resource allocation decisions and therefore no separate operating
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or reportable segments have been identified in accordance with IFRS 8 “Operating Segments”. IFRS 8 also requires information on
any customer who accounts for 10% or more of the combined revenue. There is one customer who accounts for 18.48% of the
combined current year revenue (2017: one customer accounted for 23.62% of combined revenue).

Geographical analysis of the Group’s revenues, including analysis between the Group’s country of domicile and other countries, is
not disclosed under IFRS 8 as customers are primarily based in the US with a small proportion being based in other international
jurisdictions. The Geographical location of the non-current assets is primarily within the US.

As required in accordance with IAS 18 “Revenue” an analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2018

$000’s

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2017

$000’s

CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Rendering of services 255,073 149,025

6 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On March 31, 2017, the Company discontinued its Non-Core business operations. This included ceasing the operations of its
consumer business activities and the sale of certain assets and specific liabilities of Prime Visibility Media Group (“PVMG”). The
results of these operations are presented as discontinued operations in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Management committed to a plan to discontinue Non-Core operations and sell certain assets and specific liabilities of PVMG in
February 2017 and the disposals were finalized on March 31, 2017. There have been no discontinued operations for the year ended
31 March 2018. Results of the discontinued operations for the year ended 31 March 2017 are as follows:

YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

BEFORE
EXCEPTIONAL

ITEMS
$000’s

EXCEPTIONAL
ITEMS

$000’s
TOTAL
$000’s

Revenue 26,356 - 26,356

Cost of revenue (13,779) - (13,779)

Operating expenses (13,404) (76) (13,480)

Loss before tax and finance income (827) (76) (903)

Loss on disposition of assets - (3,858) (3,858)

Loss before income tax (827) (3,934) (4,761)

Income tax (charge) credit - - -

Loss from discontinued operations (827) (3,934) (4,761)

CENTS

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO RHYTHMONE plc

BASIC (1.13)

DILUTED (1.13)

CASH FLOWS USED IN DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS:

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2017

$000’s

Net cash used in operations (776)

Net cash from investing activities 948

Net cash used in financing activities (438)

Net cash used in discontinued operations (266)

CONSIDERATION FOR SALE OF CERTAIN ASSETS AND SPECIFIC LIABILITIES OF PVMG:

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2017

$000’s

Consideration from the purchaser:

Cash consideration received 1,064

Deferred sales proceeds 2,450

Total consideration 3,514
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The acquirer issued an unsecured promissory note to the Company which is repayable in annual installments of $0.8m through
March 31, 2020 and bears interest at 6% per annum.

The Company has received $0.8 million of the promissory note during the year ended 31 March 2018. There is still $1.6 million
outstanding to be collected.

DETAILS OF THE NET ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF PVMG DISPOSED OF ARE AS FOLLOWS:

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2017

$000’s

Assets disposed of:

Prepaid expenses 14

Property plant and equipment 15

Intangible assets 922

Goodwill 6,121

7,072

LOSS ON DISPOSITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF PVMG:

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2017

$000’s

Consideration received 3,514

Transaction costs (300)

Net assets of PVMG disposed of (7,072)

(3,858)

NET CASH INFLOW ON DISPOSAL OF PVMG:

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2017

$000’s

Consideration received, satisfied in cash 1,064

Transaction costs (300)

764

7 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

RadiumOne Inc

On 26 June 2017, the Group acquired certain assets of a leading data-driven marketing platform and related liabilities from
RadiumOne, a San Francisco, California based company for a consideration of $20.4 million. The consideration includes $8.9 million
in cash and $11.5 million of deferred consideration. At the date of acquisition, there was variability whether the deferred consideration
would be settled in cash or shares and as a result this was classified as a financial liability. As at 30 September 2017, this uncertainty
has been resolved and it was clear the deferred consideration would be settled by RhythmOne plc issuing its shares. On this basis,
the deferred consideration was revalued at this date based on the Company shares’ market price and it was then reclassified to
shares to be issued within equity as it would be settled by RhythmOne plc’s shares. The resulting $3.1m profit on revaluation has
been recognised as other income within exceptional costs.

The acquisition has been accounted for using the acquisition method in accordance with IFRS 3, Business Combinations, with the
results of operations consolidated with those of the Group effective 26 June 2017. Under this method, the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed have been recorded on preliminary estimates of fair value. The fair value table below has been based on available
management information and work is continuing in respect of the fair value exercise. The transaction costs of $1.9 million were
recorded in exceptional costs within net loss for the year ended 31 March 2018.

The acquisition incrementally added $53.9 million of revenue to the Group in the current year and generated a loss before tax of
$6.0 million. If the acquisition had been completed on the first day of the financial year, Group revenue for the year would have been
$274.5 million and loss before tax would have been $27.8 million.
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The provisional allocation of the purchase price as follows is subject to change once management has finalised the acquisition
accounting:

$000’s

Property, plant and equipment 3,282

Intangible assets - tradename 900

Intangible assets - software technology 6,100

Intangible assets - customer relationships 4,200

Intangible assets - favorable lease 100

Other assets 3,497

Cash and cash equivalents 4,455

Trade receivables 22,863

Credit facility (14,431)

Trade and other payables (21,189)

Deferred tax liability (436)

Provisional fair value of net identifiable assets and liabilities assumed 9,341

Goodwill 11,066

Total consideration 20,407

Satisfied by:

Cash 8,944

Deferred consideration 11,463

Total consideration transferred 20,407

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:

Cash consideration 8,944

Less cash and cash equivalents acquired (4,455)

Total net cash outflow arising on acquisition 4,489

The provisional fair value of the financial assets includes trade accounts receivables with a gross contractual value of $24.2 million.
The best estimate of the contractual cash flows not to be collected is $1.4m. The goodwill of $11.1 million arising from the acquisition
was primarily attributable to the assembled workforce of the acquired business and synergies expected to arise post-acquisition and
integration of the business. Subsequent to the close, the Company paid off the $14.4 million credit line with Comerica bank. Certain
intangible assets and goodwill balances are expected to be deductible for tax purposes over a period of 15 years.

YuMe, Inc.

On 2 February 2018, the Group acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of YuMe, Inc. (YuMe), a Redwood City, California
based company for a consideration of $163.4 million which consisted of $61.6m in cash consideration and 26,048,596 of
RhythmOne’s common shares issued with a value of $100.9m and $0.9m due to the settlement of a pre-existing relationship.

The acquisition accelerated RhythmOne’s strategy to build a unified programmatic platform with unique audiences of differentiated
quality at scale. Through YuMe, the Company gains access to a leading data driven advertising platform, premium video and
connected TV inventory, unique consumer insights, cross-screen targeting technology and established demand relationships.

The acquisition has been accounted for using the acquisition method in accordance with IFRS 3, Business Combinations, with the
results of operations consolidated with those of the Group effective 2 February 2018. Under this method, the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed have been recorded on preliminary estimates of fair value. The fair value table below has been based on available
management information and work is continuing in respect of the fair value exercise. The transaction costs of $8.6 million were
recorded in exceptional costs within net loss for the year ended 31 March 2018.

The acquisition incrementally added $16.9 million of revenue to the Group in the current year and generated a loss before tax of
$2.8 million. If the acquisition had been completed on the first day of the financial year, Group revenue for the year would have been
$373.3 million and loss before tax would have been $36.9 million.
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The provisional allocation of the purchase price as follows is subject to change once management has finalised the acquisition
accounting:

$000’s

Property, plant and equipment 6,944

Intangible assets - tradename 1,200

Intangible assets - software technology 15,900

Intangible assets - customer relationships 26,600

Intangible assets - favorable lease 1,418

Other assets 5,067

Cash and cash equivalents 42,487

Trade receivables 37,940

Trade and other payables (37,241)

Net deferred tax liability (1,128)

Provisional fair value of net identifiable assets and liabilities assumed 99,187

Goodwill 64,245

Total consideration 163,432

Satisfied by:

Settlement of pre-existing trading relationships 950

Cash 61,569

Share consideration 100,913

Total consideration transferred 163,432

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:

Cash consideration 61,569

Less cash and cash equivalents acquired (42,487)

Total net cash outflow arising on acquisition 19,082

The provisional fair value of the financial assets includes trade accounts receivables with a fair value and gross contractual value of
$40.8 million. The best estimate of the contractual cash flows not to be collected is $2.5m. The goodwill of $64.2 million arising from
the acquisition was primarily attributable to the assembled workforce of the acquired business and synergies expected to arise
post-acquisition and integration of the business. No intangible assets and goodwill balances are expected to be deductible for tax
purposes.

8 LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Loss for the year is stated after charging:

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2018

$000’s

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2017

$000’s

Net foreign exchange (gains) / losses (1,012) 66

Operating lease payments (see note 26) 3,207 2,992

Research and development costs (excluding amortization and depreciation) 26,201 22,668

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (see note 16)

Owned 3,403 535

Leased 822 1,201

Amortization of intangibles (see note 15)

Relationships with customers and publishers 6,872 3,882

Purchased technology 3,852 932

Capitalized development costs 2,077 2,089

Trade names, trademarks and patents 1,140 896

Software licenses 619 673

Other 61 -

Loss on disposal of property and equipment 432 82

Acquisition and exceptional costs (see note 29)(a) 16,238 9,179

Staff costs (see note 10) 58,638 38,830

Impairment loss recognized on trade receivables (see note 18) 686 495

(a) Relating to year ended 31 March 2017, exceptional costs included $5.2m from continuing operations and $3.9m from discontinued operations.
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9 AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The analysis of auditors’ remuneration is as follows:

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2018

$000’s

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2017

$000’s

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for the audit of the Parent Company and Consolidated annual financial

statements 705 440

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and their associates for other services to the Group:

Audit related assurance services 270 64

Tax advisory services 10 -

Other assurance services 2,579 -

Other non-audit services 63 -

Transaction related services 312 156

Total Fees 3,939 660

10 STAFF COSTS

The average monthly number of employees (including Directors) and related staff costs for continuing and discontinued operations
was:

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2018

NUMBER

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2017

NUMBER

Sales and marketing 285 154

Research and development 134 88

Administration and operations 55 41

Total 474 283

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2018

$000’s

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2017

$000’s

Wages and salaries 51,468 31,686

Share based compensation 2,164 2,015

Social Security costs 4,301 2,138

Other pension costs 145 1

58,078 35,840

Other employee benefits and costs 4,999 3,695

Costs allocated to internally-generated assets (4,439) (705)

INCLUDED IN LOSS FOR THE YEAR 58,638 38,830

Directors renumeration disclosures are presented in the Renumeration Committee Report on pages 32-35.

11 FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE EXPENSE

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2018

$000’s

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2017

$000’s

Interest income on cash and cash equivalents 375 631

Interest expense on credit facility and term loan (330) -

Interest expense on obligations under finance leases (237) (266)

Total (expense) / income (192) 365

12 INCOME TAX CHARGE/(CREDIT)

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2018

$000’s

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2017

$000’s

Current tax 2,019 352

Deferred tax (11,034) (1,213)

(9,015) (861)

Changes to the UK corporation tax rates were substantively enacted as part of Finance Bill 2015 (on 26 October 2015) and Finance
Bill 2016 (on 7 September 2016). These include reductions to the main rate to reduce the rate to 19% from 1 April 2017 and to 17%
from 1 April 2020. Deferred taxes at the balance sheet date have been measured using these enacted tax rates and reflected in
these financial statements.
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The credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss per the income statement as follows:

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2018

$000’s

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2017

$000’s

Loss before tax (22,890) (14,890)

Tax at UK corporation rate of 19% (2017: 20%) (4,336) (2,978)

Adjustment for overseas tax rate (4,557) 24,741

Tax effect of expense not deductible in determining taxable profit / (loss) 7,834 444

Recognition of previously unrecognized deferred tax asset (18,354) (23,852)

Impact of share-based payments – 368

Adjustment in respect to prior years – 416

Tax reform – Tax rate change 9,829 –

Tax reform – Section 965 transition tax 569 –

(9,015) (861)

The effect of the US Tax Reform results in a tax charge amounting to $10.4m. This includes the impact of the tax rate change ($9.8m)
and the transition tax ($0.6m).

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “Act”) was signed into law making significant changes to the Internal
Revenue Code. Changes include, but are not limited to, a U.S. corporate tax rate decrease from 35% to 21% effective for tax years
beginning after December 31, 2017, eliminating the corporate alternative minimum tax (AMT) and changing how existing AMT credits
can be realized, the transition of U.S international taxation from a worldwide tax system to a territorial system, and a one-time
transition tax on the mandatory deemed repatriation of cumulative foreign earnings as of December 31, 2017.

The Act reduces the U.S. corporate tax rate to 21 percent, effective January 1, 2018. Consequently, the Company has recorded a
decrease in net deferred tax assets of $9.8m, with a corresponding increase in recognition of previously unrecognised deferred tax
asset.

13 EARNINGS PER SHARE

On 25 September 2017, the Company consolidated its outstanding common shares on the basis of one new common share for every
ten existing common shares and therefore the earnings per share calculation reflect the impact of the share capital consolidation on
a retroactive basis. Refer to note 22 which outlines further details on the share consolidation.

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2018

$000’s

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2017

$000’s

LOSS

Loss used in calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share (13,875) (18,790)

Loss used in calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing operations (13,875) (14,029)

SHARES
$000’S

(Restated)
SHARES
$000’S

NUMBER OF SHARES

Weighted average number of shares for the purpose of basic earnings per share 54,122,562 42,260,692

Weighted average number of shares for the purpose of diluted earnings per share 54,122,562 42,260,692

In accordance with IAS 33 “Earnings per share” as the Group generated a loss for the year. The inclusion of potentially dilutive
options and shares to be issued would have an antidilutive effect on the loss per share for the period. The impact of these has
therefore been excluded from the calculation for the year ended 31 March 2018 and 2017.

14 GOODWILL

The Group tests goodwill for impairment annually or more often if there are indications that it may be impaired. The carrying amount
of goodwill has been allocated between the cash generating units (CGUs):

AS AT
1 APRIL 2016

$000’s

ACQUISITION AND
DISPOSAL

ADJUSTMENTS
$000’s

RECLASSIFICATION
$000’s

AS AT
31 MARCH 2017

$000’s

RhythmOne 21,086 – 10,000 31,086

AdKarma 10,000 – (10,000) –

PVMG 6,121 (6,121) – –

Perk – 17,444 – 17,444

Total 37,207 11,323 – 48,530

66



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RhythmOne plc
Annual Report
and Accounts FY2018

AS AT
31 MARCH 2017

$000’s

ACQUISITION AND
DISPOSAL

ADJUSTMENTS
$000’s

AS AT
31 MARCH 2018

$000’s

RhythmOne 31,086 – 31,086

Perk 17,444 – 17,444

RadiumOne – 11,066 11,066

YuMe – 64,245 64,245

TOTAL 48,530 75,311 123,841

During FY2017, RhythmOne plc consolidated certain products, infrastructure, sales and marketing efforts under its trade name,
RhythmOne. The AdKarma CGU was consolidated with RhythmOne resulting in the goodwill associated with AdKarma being
reclassified to the RhythmOne CGU. In addition, the Company disposed of the PVMG asset.

The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, revenue growth rates, operating
expenses and terminal growth rate. The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets
approved by management for the next five years and extrapolates cash flows into perpetuity using a terminal growth rate. The cash
flow forecasts were prepared using an average revenue growth rate per year for RhythmOne, Perk, RadiumOne and YuMe were
5.4%, 3.6% ,6.2% and 5.5%, respectively. This is in addition to a 20% average reduction in costs across all CGUs in the year ended
31 March 2019. The cash flows beyond the five year period are extrapolated into perpetuity using a terminal growth rate of 2% (2017:
2%). This rate is based on an estimated long-term growth rate for the industry and countries in which the Company operates, and
does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant markets based on the historical Consumer Price Index in the
United States. The assumptions for growth rates are based on past experience of each CGUs trading performance and are consistent
with industry analyst expectations. The assumptions used differ between CGUs, reflecting the differences in products, customers and
suppliers between each CGU.

The pre-tax rate used to discount the forecast cash flows is 18.6% (2017: 21.6%) for all CGUs. Management estimates discount rates
using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGUs.

The recoverable amount for YuMe CGU exceeds its carrying amount by $15.0m. The relatively lower headroom is caused by the fact
that YuMe was acquired shortly before the year-end. The headroom is primarily sensitive to the annual revenue growth assumption
of 5.5% as a lower revenue growth rate of 4.2% would lead to an impairement.

15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

RELATIONSHIPS
WITH

CUSTOMERS &
PUBLISHERS

$000’s

PURCHASED
TECHNOLOGY

$000’s

CAPITALIZED
DEVELOPMENT

COSTS
$000’s

TRADENAMES,
TRADEMARKS

& PATENTS
$000’s

SOFTWARE
LICENSES

$000’s
OTHER
$000’s

TOTAL
$000’s

COST

As at 1 April 2016 39,180 17,814 17,820 10,211 6,848 – 91,873

Additions – – 3,266 – – – 3,266

Acquired on acquisition of subsidiary 9,700 4,700 – 5,400 99 – 19,899

Disposed through disposition of subsidiary (1,100) – – (2,150) (1,088) – (4,338)

at 31 March 2017 47,780 22,514 21,086 13,461 5,859 – 110,700

Additions – – 6,520 – 72 – 6,592

Disposal (7,571) (4,074) (203) (104) (30) – (11,982)

Acquired on acquisition of subsidiary 30,800 22,000 – 2,100 – 1,518 56,418

at 31 March 2018 71,009 40,440 27,403 15,457 5,901 1,518 161,728

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION

As at 1 April 2016 (24,078) (16,707) (14,105) (7,095) (5,688) – (67,673)

Amortization (3,882) (932) (2,089) (896) (673) – (8,472)

Disposed through disposition of subsidiary 1,100 – – 1,228 1,088 – 3,416

at 31 March 2017 (26,860) (17,639) (16,194) (6,763) (5,273) – (72,729)

Amortization (6,872) (3,852) (2,077) (1,140) (619) (61) (14,621)

Disposal 7,571 4,074 203 104 30 – 11,982

at 31 March 2018 (26,161) (17,417) (18,068) (7,799) (5,862) (61) (75,368)

NET BOOK VALUE

at 31 March 2017 20,920 4,875 4,892 6,698 586 – 37,971

at 31 March 2018 44,848 23,023 9,335 7,658 39 1,457 86,360
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16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

COMPUTER
EQUIPMENT

$000’s

FIXURES, FITTINGS
AND OFFICE
EQUIPMENT

$000’s

LEASEHOLD
IMPROVEMENTS

$000’s
TOTAL
$000’s

COST

As at 1 April 2016 8,841 1,829 1,062 11,732

Additions 2,112 229 53 2,394

Acquired on acquisition of subsidiary 323 58 249 630

Disposals (1,050) (665) (354) (2,069)

Disposed through disposition of subsidiary – (114) (20) (134)

Exchange differences (55) – – (55)

at 31 March 2017 10,171 1,337 990 12,498

Additions 2,044 129 – 2,173

Disposals (2,510) (678) (560) (3,748)

Acquired on acquisition of subsidiary 9,010 790 426 10,226

Exchange differences 44 – – 44

at 31 March 2018 18,759 1,578 856 21,193

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION

As at 1 April 2016 (6,311) (1,479) (584) (8,374)

Depreciation (1,389) (194) (153) (1,736)

Disposal 1,036 665 302 2,003

Disposed through disposition of subsidiary – 103 15 118

Exchange differences 47 – – 47

at 31 March 2017 (6,617) (905) (420) (7,942)

Depreciation (3,896) (259) (70) (4,225)

Disposal 2,460 592 264 3,316

Exchange differences (33) – – (33)

at 31 March 2018 (8,086) (572) (226) (8,884)

NET BOOK VALUE

at 31 March 2017 3,554 432 570 4,556

at 31 March 2018 10,673 1,006 630 12,309

The carrying value of assets under finance leases at 31 March 2018 was $5.9m (2017: $2.8m), all of which is included in Computer
Equipment.

The Group’s obligations under finance leases are typically secured by the assets to which the lease relates.
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17 SUBSIDIARIES

NAME OF COMPANY
NATURE OF
BUSINESS

PROPORTION
OF ALLOTTED

SHARE
CAPITAL HELD
(DIRECTLY OR
INDIRECTLY)

PRINCIPAL
PLACE OF BUSINESS

COUNTRY OF
REGISTRATION

RhythmOne (US) Holdings, Inc. Holding company 100% – Directly held 108 West 13th Street, Wilmington DE 19801 United States

RhythmOne, LLC Trading company 100% – Indirectly held 601 Montgomery St, San Fransisco, CA 94111 United States

Blinkx(Canada), Inc. Trading company 100% – Directly held 3500 Maisonneuve West, Westmount,

QC H3Z 3C1

Canada

Perk Inc. Holding company 100% – Indirectly held 150 Caroline Street Waterloo,

ON H3Z 0A5

Canada

Perk.com U.S. Inc. Trading company 100% – Indirectly held 720 Brazos Street Austin,

TX 78701

United States

Perk.com Canada Inc. Trading company 100% – Indirectly held 150 Caroline Street Waterloo,

ON H3Z 0A5

Canada

Perk.com Software Private Limited Trading company 100% – Indirectly held No. 95 Koramangala, 4th Block, S.T. Bed,

Bangalore 560034

India

YuMe Inc. (US) Holding company 100% – Directly held 1204 Middlefield Road, Redwood City,

CA 94063

United States

YuMe Holdings Trading company 100% – Indirectly held 1204 Middlefield Road, Redwood City,

CA 94063

United States

YuMe Germany GmBH Trading company 100% – Indirectly held Osborne Clarke, Reeperbahn 1, Tanzende,

Turme 20 Stock, 20359 Hamburg

Germany

YuMe Digital advertising HK Trading company 100% – Indirectly held 11H, Block 1, Queen’s Terrace, 1 Queen’s

Street, Sheung Wan

Hong Kong

YuMe Spain Sl Trading company 100% – Indirectly held Torre Europa Paseo de la Castallana,

95-15 Madrid, 28046

Spain

YuMe Europe Ltd Trading company 100% – Indirectly held 20 Garrick Street, Covent Garden London

WC2E 9BT

United

Kingdom

Yume Advertising Private LTD Trading company 100% – Indirectly held 11H, Block 1, Queen’s Terrace, 1 Queen’s

Street, Sheung Wan

Hong Kong

YuMe Advertising (China)Co Ltd. Trading company 100% – Indirectly held 9F, Tower 12, KIC III, No. 333, Songhu Road,

Yangpu District, Shanghai 00433

China

Yume Digital Advertising Mexico S

De RL De Cv

Trading company 100% – Indirectly held Avenida Patriotismo 229 pisos 7 y 8 oficina

221, San Pedro de los Pinos, Benito Juanez,

03800 Mexico City

Mexico

Yume Chile SpA Trading company 100% – Indirectly held El Bosque Norte 0134, 7th Floor, Las Condes Chile

Yume Advertising Private LTD Trading company 100% – Indirectly held Ascendes International Tech Park, Unit 8,

4th Floor Pinnacle block, Taramani, Chennai

India

R1Demand, LLC (US) Trading company 100% – Directly held 601 Montgomery St, San Fransisco, CA 94111 United States

RadiumOne UK Ltd (UK) Trading company 100% – Indirectly held 20 Garrick Street, Covent Garden London

WC2E 9BT

United

Kingdom

RadimOne SARL (Fr) Trading company 100% – Indirectly held 112 ter Rue Cardinet Paris 75017 France

RadiumOne S.R.L. (Italy) Trading company 100% – Indirectly held Via Copernico, 38 20124 Milano Italy

RadimOne Netherlands Trading company 100% – Indirectly held Kapelplien 8 2587BE’s s Gravenhage Netherlands

RadiumOne Singapore Pte. Ltd. Trading company 100% – Indirectly held 1 Keog Saik Road Singapore 089109 Singapore

RadiumOne Pty Ltd. (Aus) Trading company 100% – Indirectly held 403/83 Kippax Street, Surry Hills Sydney,

NSW 2010

Australia
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18 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND RESTRICTED CASH

AS AT
31 MARCH 2018

$‘000

AS AT
31 MARCH 2017

$‘000

CURRENT ASSETS

Trade receivables 89,345 42,413

Allowance for doubtful debts (4,552) (943)

NET TRADE RECEIVABLES 84,793 41,470

Other receivables and deposits 2,369 1,753

Prepayments 5,246 1,680

Restricted cash amounts 35,000 –

OTHER RECEIVABLES 42,615 3,433

NON CURRENT ASSETS

Other receivables 2,200 1,804

Restricted cash amounts 727 2,882

OTHER RECEIVABLES AND RESTRICTED CASH 2,927 4,686

The average credit period taken on sales is 79 days (2017: 67 days).

Refer to the financial instruments note 28 for information on credit risk.

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts is as follows:

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2018

$‘000

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2017

$‘000

Balance at beginning of the period 943 1,421

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectibles (1,068) (973)

Allowance related to beginning balances of acquired subsidiaries 3,991 –

Provision for receivables impairment 686 495

Balance at end of the period 4,552 943

Aging of Past Due but Not Impaired Receivables

As at 31 March 2018, trade receivables of $32.6m (2017: $5.9m) were past due but not impaired. These relate to a number of
independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The aging analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

AS AT
31 MARCH 2018

$‘000

AS AT
31 MARCH 2017

$‘000

1 – 90 days 26,578 5,399

in excess of 90 days 6,071 547

Total past due but not impaired 32,649 5,946

Aging of Past Due and Impaired Receivables

As at 31 March 2018, trade receivables of $4.6m (2017: $0.9m) were impaired. The aging of these receivables is as follows:

AS AT
31 MARCH 2018

$‘000

AS AT
31 MARCH 2017

$‘000

1 – 90 days 162 5

in excess of 90 days 4,390 938

Total past due and impaired 4,552 943

The Directors have considered the credit quality of assets neither past due nor impaired and do not consider further credit provision
is required in excess of the allowance for sales and doubtful debts. No interest has been charged for overdue debts in the period.

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates their fair value.

(i) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of one month or
less. The carrying amount of these assets approximates their fair value.
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(ii) Restricted Cash

Restricted cash of $0.7m within non-current assets represents deposits with financial institutions as a condition of certain property
leases and restricted cash of $35.0m within current assets represents cash collateral against the term loan which was utilized to fund
a portion of the cash consideration related to the Yume transaction The non-current asset classification is due to the cash not being
immediately accessible by the Group due to the long-term nature of the leases. The current asset classification is due to the short-
term nature of the term loan.

19 MARKETABLE SECURITIES

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2018

$000’s

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2017

$000’s

Balance at beginning of the period 55,866 60,264

Additions – 631

Withdrawal (55,874) (5,002)

Net gain / (loss) transfer to equity 8 (27)

Balance at the end the period – 55,866

Less non-current portion – (22,864)

Current portion – 33,002

Marketable securities include the following:

AS AT
31 MARCH 2018

$000’s

AS AT
31 MARCH 2017

$000’s

Listed securities:

Corporate and government debt instruments – 55,063

Certificates of deposit – 803

Total – 55,866

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of the debt securities classified as marketable
securities. The Group has sold all its marketable securities during the year.

20 DEFERRED TAX

Deferred tax is calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using the substantively enacted tax rates of the
jurisdictions in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse.

(i) Recognized Deferred Tax Assets / Liabilities

Deferred tax assets have been recognized in respect of tax losses and other deductible temporary differences where it is probable
that these assets will be recovered.

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities (including offsetting of balances within the same jurisdiction as permitted under
IAS 12) during the period is shown below. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are only offset where there is a legally enforceable right
of offset and there is an intention to settle the balances net.

ASSETS
31 MARCH

2018
$000’s

ASSETS
31 MARCH

2017
$000’s

LIABILITIES
31 MARCH

2018
$000’s

LIABILITIES
31 MARCH

2017
$000’s

NET
31 MARCH

2018
$000’s

NET
31 MARCH

2017
$000’s

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (2,987) (4,606) 18,186 3,422 15,199 (1,184)

Tax credit and loss carry forward (37,655) (13,080) – – (37,655) (13,080)

Share based payments (53) (583) – – (53) (583)

Other deductible temporary differences (2,369) (1,002) – 441 (2,369) (561)

Net deferred tax (assets)/liabilities (43,064) (19,271) 18,186 3,863 (24,878) (15,408)

Offset tax 13,774 – (13,774) – – –

Net deferred tax (assets)/liabilities (29,290) (19,271) 4,412 3,863 (24,878) (15,408)

There is an unrecognized deferred tax asset arising from unrecognized temporary differences of $1.1m (2017: $25.6m) which has not
been recognized due to insufficient certainty that taxable profits will be available against which this asset could be used.

(ii) Movement in Temporary Differences

BALANCE AT
31 MARCH 2017

$000’s

RECOGNIZED
IN INCOME

$000’s

RECOGNIZED
IN GOODWILL

$000’s

BALANCE AT
31 MARCH 2018

$000’s

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (1,184) 6,297 10,086 15,199

Tax credits and loss carry-forward (13,080) (15,617) (8,958) (37,655)

Share based payments (583) 530 – (53)

Other deductible temporary differences (561) (2,244) 436 (2,369)

(15,408) (11,304) 1,564 (24,878)
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The Group has recognised a net deferred tax asset of $24.9m as at 31 March 2018 (2017: $15.4m), of which $37.7m (2017: $13.1m)
relates to available credits and trading losses which are due to expire within the next 15 to 20 years. All recognised trading losses
relate to the Group’s US operations, as the Directors do not believe it is more likely than not that the UK and other overseas
businesses will be profitable in the foreseeable future.

In relation to the available US trading losses, the Group considers all available evidence to determine whether it is more likely than
not that some portion or all of the available deferred tax asset should be recognised. The ultimate utilisation of the deferred tax
assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income. Management considers projected taxable income in assessing the
expected utilisation of deferred tax assets. In making such judgements, significant weight is given to evidence that can be objectively
verified, such as improved profitability and visible market trends. As at 31 March 2018 and 2017, the recognition of the deferred tax
assets is deemed to be supported by the future taxable profits of the Group. The key assumption in the Directors’ deferred tax asset
model is the revenue growth rate which is disclosed in Note 14. Management have determined that following the acquisition of YuMe
and RadiumOne all previously unrecognised trading loses should be recognised at 31 March 2018 as all are expected to be utilised
within the next three years.

21 OTHER PAYABLES AND PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES

Trade and Other Payables

AS AT
31 MARCH 2018

$‘000

AS AT
31 MARCH 2017

$‘000

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables 43,273 29,734

Customer deposits 1,112 348

Onerous lease provision 558 907

Term loan 35,000 –

Other accrued liabilities (including the amount of finance leases due within 12 months) 40,242 13,304

120,185 44,293

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES

Deferred tax liability 18,186 3,863

Borrowings 9,461 –

Onerous lease provision 628 1,502

Non current liabilities 4,095 2,228

32,370 7,593

Trade creditors and accruals principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The average credit
period taken for trade purchases is 89 days (2017: 86 days). No interest has been charged by suppliers in respect of overdue
amounts in the year. Other accrued liabilities relate primarily to accrued content, rewards and vacation costs.

Non-current liabilities include deferred rent of $0.7m (2017: $0.1m) and obligations under finance leases of $3.4m (2017: $2.1m).

Borrowings

On 8 November 2017, RhythmOne and certain of its subsidiaries entered into a senior secured revolving credit facility with Silicon
Valley Bank and certain other lenders party thereto pursuant to which certain subsidiaries of RhythmOne may borrow up to
$25.0 million of revolving loans. The funds are designed to provide cash resources to support potential strategic initiatives and
general corporate purposes. Subject to satisfaction of certain conditions, the total revolving commitments under the Revolving Credit
Facility may be increased by an amount not to exceed $75.0 million. This facility bears interest at either Libor plus an applicable
margin or the United States Federal Funds effective rate plus 0.5% in addition to an applicable margin. For the period the effective
interest rate for this facility was 4.67%. This revolving credit facility matures on 8 November 2020. As of 31 March 2018, the Company
had $10m of borrowings from this facility.

Under terms of the credit facility, the Company is required to maintain a minimum adjusted quick ratio metric on a monthly basis and
a consolidated adjusted EBITDA measured on a quarterly basis. As at 31 March 2018 the Company was compliant with these
covenants.

The debt issuance costs of $0.6m related to the credit facility have been capitalized and will be amortized over the life of the facility.
At 31 March 2018, there was $0.1m which has been amortized in finance expense and there remains $0.5m capitalized against the
revolving credit facility.

Term Loan

In addition, a Subordinated Loan and Security Agreement was signed, under which Silicon Valley Bank will make available to certain
of RhythmOne’s subsidiaries a subordinated loan not to exceed $35.0 million. The obligations of each borrower under the Bridge
Facility will be guaranteed on a full and unconditional basis by certain of RhythmOne’s subsidiaries. The subordinated loan matures
on 2 June 2018. The loan bears interest at the greater of the Prime Rate less 1.50% and 2.75%, which interest shall be payable
monthly. For the period the effective interest rate for this loan was 3.04%.

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates to their fair value.
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The onerous lease provision comprises obligations for future rents payable on properties that are vacant or only partially utilized.
These provisions are expected to be utilized by 30 September 2021.

Provisions

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2018

$‘000

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2017

$‘000

Balance at beginning of the Period 2,409 705

Additional provision in the year 551 2,159

Utilization of provision (1,774) (455)

Balance at end of the Period 1,186 2,409

Obligations under finance lease:

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities with agreed repayment
period.

AS AT
31 MARCH 2018

$‘000

AS AT
31 MARCH 2017

$‘000

AMOUNTS PAYABLE UNDER FINANCE LEASE

Within on year 2,491 602

In second to fifth years inclusive 3,427 2,165

5,918 2,767

Less: Amounts due for settlement within 12 months (shown under current liabilities) (2,491) (602)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months 3,427 2,165

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the average effective borrowing rate was 6.8% (2017: 6.6%).

There is no material difference between the minimum lease payment and their present values.

The Group’s obligations under finance leases are typically secured on the assets to which the lease relates.

22 SHARE CAPITAL

AS AT
31 MARCH 2018

$‘000

AS AT
31 MARCH 2017

$‘000

ISSUED AND FULLY PAID

77,535,770 ordinary shares of 10 pence each

(2017: 49,509,394 ordinary shares of 10 pence each) 12,641 8,667

The Company has one class of ordinary share which carry no right to fixed income.

On 25 September 2017 the Company completed a share consolidation following a resolution duly passed at the Company’s
Shareholders General Meeting (the “General Meeting”). The share consolidation was effected to bring the number of common shares
in issue in line with comparable London listed companies. The 495,667,540 common shares of £0.01 per share (the “Original Shares”)
were consolidated and divided into 49,566,754 new common shares of £0.10 each (the “Consolidated Shares”). The Consolidated
Shares have the same rights and are subject to the same restrictions (same as to par value) as the Original Shares.

In the event that the number of Original Shares attributable to a shareholder was not exactly divisible by 10, the consolidation
generated an entitlement to a fraction of a Consolidated Share and the Company, pursuant to its articles of association (as amended
at the General Meeting), sold the Consolidated Shares representing the fractions on behalf of the selling shareholder for the best
price reasonably obtained to any person (including the Company) and distribute the proceeds of sale, in due proportion, among
those selling shareholders. In the event that the net proceeds of the sale attributable to a selling shareholder amounted to £5.00 or
less, the Company’s board of directors was of the view that, as a result of the disproportionate costs involved in distributing small
sums to shareholders, it would not be in the best interests of the Company to distribute such proceeds of sale, which instead were
retained for the benefit of the Company.
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The number of shares subject to all outstanding options and restricted stock units have been consolidated on the same 10:1 basis,
except where the consolidation resulted in rights to acquire fractional Consolidated Shares, the Consolidated Shares were rounded
down to the nearest whole Consolidated Share. In the case of options, the per share exercise price payable by option holders on
exercise of an option was multiplied by 10 so that the total exercise price payable by each option holder to acquire Consolidated
Shares is the same as what the total exercise price payable by each option holder would have been to acquire Original Shares.

During the current year 28,026,376 shares were issued, of which 26,048,596 shares related to the acquisition of YuMe, 1,660,569
shares related to the acquisition of RadiumOne, 255,633 shares related to the exercise of employee share options and 61,578
related to the issuance of restricted stock units (2017: 9,063,107 shares were issued, of which 8,823,541 shares related to the
acquisition of Perk, 158,830 shares related to exercise of employee share options and 80,736 shares related to restricted stock
units).

23. CAPITALIZATION AND CAPITAL REDUCTION

On 25 July 2017, RhythmOne Plc capitalized the balance of its merger reserve (reflected in its entity accounts) through issuing one
deferred share at a premium. On 26 July 2017, RhythmOne Plc completed a High Court approved capital reduction. A copy of the
order confirming the capital reduction has been registered by the Registrar of Companies and as such the capital reduction becomes
effective. All share premium, including that created through the capitalization, attaching to the Company’s ordinary shares and the
deferred share issued on 25 July 2017 has consequently been cancelled. The purpose of capital reduction was to create distributable
reserves to enable the Company to pay dividends or buy back shares in the future.

24 SHARE PREMIUM ACCOUNT

SHARE
PREMIUM

$‘000

Balance at 1 April 2016 168,045

Premium arising on issue of equity shares, net of costs 114

Balance at 31 March 2017 168,159

Premium arising on issue of equity shares, net of costs 891

Premium arising on issue of equity shares related to RadiumOne acquisition, net of costs 6,728

Premium arising on issue of equity shares related to Yume acquisition, net of costs 96,237

Capitalization of merger reserve 58,001

Capital reduction (226,160)

Balance at 31 March 2018 103,856

25 SHARES TO BE ISSUED AND MERGER RESERVE

The shares to be issued reserve relates to shares that are expected to be issued to RadiumOne and former Burst shareholders. The
shares to be issued to RadiumOne Inc. shareholders relates to deferred consideration and will be issued on or around June 26, 2018.
The shares related to Burst shareholders is for consideration for those who have not yet submitted the paperwork to effect the
exchange of Burst shares for RhythmOne plc shares.

The merger reserve arises in business combinations where shares are issued for greater than 90% of consideration. The difference
between the fair value and the nominal value of the shares transferred as consideration is taken to the merger reserve.

26 OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2018

$‘000

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2017

$‘000

Lease payments under operating leases recognized as an expense in the year 3,207 2,992

At the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable
operating leases, of which it is recovering a portion of the lease payments under non-cancelable sub-lease agreements, which fall
due as follows:

AS AT
31 MARCH 2018

$‘000

AS AT
31 MARCH 2017

$‘000

Within one year 7,255 3,140

In the second to fifth years inclusive 16,324 6,740

More than five years 4,235 -

27,814 9,880

Amounts due to be received under non-callcellable sub-lease agreements 6,654 1,103

21,160 8,777
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Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office properties, computer equipment and
software. Lease terms range from one to nine years.

27 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS AND EQUITY SETTLED SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

On the demerger from Autonomy Corporation plc the Company established the following share options schemes:

� The blinkx 2007 Enterprise Management Incentive Plan (the ‘RhythmOne EMI Scheme’)

� The blinkx US Share Option Plan (the ‘RhythmOne US Plan’)

� The blinkx Autonomy Employee Discretionary Share Option Scheme 2007 (the ‘Autonomy Discretionary Scheme’)

� The blinkx Autonomy Employee US Share Option Plan (the ‘Autonomy US Plan’)

� The 2017 International Equity Incentive Plan (the ‘2017 Equity Plan’)

The RhythmOne EMI Scheme and the RhythmOne US Plan allow for the grant of options over ordinary shares to employees of the
Company and its subsidiaries. At the time of demerger two special grants were made under these plans. The first allowed a fully
vested grant at nominal value and the second was a grant at nominal value but with a three-year vesting period. Since then grants
have been made at market value and with a three or four-year vesting period with options vesting in varying sized tranches over that
period. No option may be granted for a term in excess of 10 years. Vested options are exercisable following termination of
employment for a period ranging from 40 to 90 days. Vesting criteria are based on continued employment with the Company.

On 16 September 2013, the Board of Directors approved the amendment of RhythmOne Plc US Share Option Plan to allow the grant
of Restricted Stock Units to be made under its terms.

On 3 July 2015 the Board of Directors approved the amendment of RhythmOne Plc US Share Option to allow for Market Value Share
Options (MVSOs) that vest quarterly with an additional performance component. The equity awards require a minimum stock price
threshold for options to vest and have a further accelerated vesting schedule when the stock price reaches a certain predetermined
threshold above the stock price at grant.

The Autonomy Discretionary Scheme and the Autonomy US Plan allowed a one-time grant of RhythmOne plc options to certain
Autonomy employees who at the time of the demerger had vested Autonomy options. Options granted under this plan were granted
at market price and vest over a period of three years. This plan and outstanding options related to this plan expired on May 21, 2017.

On 21 May 2017, the RhythmOne EMI Scheme and the RhythmOne US Plans expired and no future options will be granted under
these plans. Options outstanding under these plans will expire 10 years from the date of grant.

On 14 July 2017, the Board of Directors approved the 2017 International Equity Incentive Plan (‘2017 Equity Plan’) which allows for
grants of options, RSU’s and MVSO’s to employees, directors and contractors of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Share-based compensation charges have been charged in the income statement within the following line:

AS AT
31 MARCH 2018

$‘000

AS AT
31 MARCH 2017

$‘000

Operating expenses 2,164 2,015

The following table summarizes options outstanding at 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017 relating to the RhythmOne EMI scheme and
the RhythmOne US plan. All option exercise prices are quoted in sterling.

The 2017 comparative information has been adjusted to reflect the share consolidation as referred in Note 22.

NUMBER

2018
WEIGHTED

AVERAGE
£ NUMBER

2017
WEIGHTED

AVERAGE
£

Outstanding balance at beginning of year 3,047,296 3.70 2,926,966 3.80

Granted during the year 941,500 3.63 810,250 2.40

Exercised during the year (255,382) 2.66 (158,830) 0.70

Forfeited during the year (658,166) 3.95 (531,090) 3.50

Outstanding balance at end of year 3,075,248 3.68 3,047,296 3.70

Exercisable at end of year 2,057,684 2.62 1,801,393 4.40

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the period was £2.66 (FY2017: £0.70).
The options outstanding at 31 March 2018 had a weighted average exercise price of £3.68 (FY2017: £3.70). The weighted average
remaining contractual life of the options was 7 years (FY2017: 8 years).
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The inputs to the Black-Scholes and Monte Carlo models were as follows:

2018 2017

Weighted average share price 3.72 2.50

Weighted average exercise price 2.66 0.70

Expected volatility 32-57% 39-74%

Expected life 6, 10 years 6, 10 years

Risk free rate 2.19-2.36% 1.57-2.41%

Expected dividend - -

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Group’s share price for the last 90 days prior to grant.
The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability,
exercise restrictions, and behavioral considerations.

Options were granted on 14 July 2017, 17 August 2017 and 13 December 2017. The weighted average of the fair value of the options
granted in the year was £3.63 per share, (2017: £2.40 per share).

The following table summarizes options outstanding as at 31 March 2018 in relation to the Autonomy Discretionary Share Scheme
and Autonomy US Plan options.

NUMBER

2018
WEIGHTED

AVERAGE
£ NUMBER

2017
WEIGHTED

AVERAGE
£

Outstanding balance at beginning of year 22,889 4.50 48,114 4.50

Lapsed during the year (22,889) 4.50 (25,225) 4.50

Outstanding balance at end of year - - 22,889 4.50

Exercisable at end of year - - 22,889 4.50

No options were exercised during the year from the Autonomy plan. (2017: No options were exercised during the year from the
Autonomy plan). These stock options expired on 21 May 2017. No options were granted during the current or prior year.

The following table summarizes Restricted Stock Units (RSUs) outstanding as at 31 March 2018.

NUMBER OF
RSUs
2018

NUMBER OF
RSUs
2017

Outstanding balance at beginning of year 6,667 132,541

RSUs granted 2,760,500 5,000

RSUs vested (61,578) (80,736)

RSUs forfeited (347) (50,138)

2,705,241 6,667

RSU’s were granted on 14 July 2017, 2 September 2017, 25 January 2018, 2 February 2018 and 21 March 2018 totaling 2,760,500
(2017: 5,000).

The RSUs that vested in fiscal year 2018 were net-share settled such that the Company withheld shares with value equivalent to the
employees’ minimum statutory obligation for the applicable income and other employment taxes, and remitted the cash to the
appropriate taxing authorities. The weighted average vesting share price during the period was £2.36 (2017: £3.20).

28 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue operating as a going concern while
maximizing shareholder returns. The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, and
equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings. The Group’s overall
strategy remains unchanged from the prior year. The Group finances its operations through a combination of retained profits and
interest received on bank accounts. Management maintains its capital structure and makes adjustments as necessary in light of
changes in the economic environment and strategic objectives of the Group, ensuring that there are sufficient liquid resources
available to take advantage of opportunities as they arise.

The Group’s capital risk management policies are unchanged from prior year. The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.
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Categories of financial instrument:

AS AT
31 MARCH 2018

$‘000

AS AT
31 MARCH 2017

$‘000

Financial assets

Loans and receivables:

Cash and cash equivalents 37,331 19,338

Trade receivables 84,793 41,470

Restricted cash and other receivables 40,296 6,439

Available-for-sale:

Marketable securities - 55,866

162,420 123,113

Financial liabilities (amortized cost):

Provisions (1,186) (2,409)

Borrowings (9,461) -

Term loan (35,000) -

Trade and other payables (78,045) (42,343)

(123,692) (44,752)

Financial Risk Management

Management is responsible for monitoring and managing the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group, which include
credit risk, market risk arising from interest rate risk and currency risk, and liquidity risk. The Board of Directors and the Audit
Committee review and approve the internal policies for managing each of these risks as summarized below. The Group is not subject
to any externally imposed capital requirements.

The Group’s financial function provides services to the business, monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations
of the Group. These risks (together with the related risk management policy) include:

Credit Risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. The
Group’s credit risk is primarily with cash and cash equivalents and amounts owing from customers. The Group’s principal financial
assets are cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables.

One customer represents 18.48% of revenue in the year (2017: one customer represented 23.62% of revenue). This is not considered
indicative of a high credit risk as the customer in question has a history with the Company and a positive credit rating. The Group
does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar
characteristics. The Group defines counterparties as having similar characteristics if they are related entities.

Concentration of credit risk did not exceed 7% of gross monetary assets at any time during the year (2017: 16%). Before accepting any
new customer, the Group uses an external credit rating system to assess the potential customer’s credit quality. All customers have
credit limits set by credit managers and are subject to standard terms of payment. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing
with counterparties that are considered to be creditworthy by management, having completed various credit checks.

The risk of default from a financial institution is considered limited because counterparties are a number of different banks with high
credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies, which range from A to AA.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, which is net of impairment losses, represents the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk.

MARKET RISK (INCLUDING INTEREST RATE RISK AND CURRENCY RISK)

Interest rate risk

The Group has loans and borrowings outside finance leases and however, the Directors are satisfied that interest rate risk is limited.

Currency risk

The Group does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for any purpose. The Group
maintains the majority of its cash in US Dollars as a natural hedge, in line with our revenue and costs which are predominantly
US-based.

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates as it undertakes certain
transactions denominated in foreign currencies. The Group’s presentational currency is US Dollars and the Company’s functional
currency is Sterling. The Group operates subsidiaries primarily in the US, UK and Canada and as a result cash is held predominantly
in Sterling, Canadian Dollars and US Dollars. The Group holds its funds in several different financial institutions.
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The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 20% increase and decrease in the functional currency of the entity against the
relevant foreign currencies. 20% is the sensitivity rate used (2017: 20%) when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.
The sensitivity includes outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year-end for a
20% change (2017: 20%) in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes loans to foreign operations within the Group
where the denomination of the loan is in a currency other than the currency of the lender or the borrower. A negative number
indicates a decrease in profit and other equity where the foreign currencies weaken 20% against the US Dollar. For a 20%
strengthening of the foreign currencies against the US Dollar there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit and other
equity and the negative balances below would be positive.

2018
$‘000

2017
$‘000

Cash and cash equivalents (1,545) (308)

Trade and other receivables (4,370) (111)

Trade and other payables 2,986 676

No sensitivity has been performed on a change in interest rates, as the impact of interest rate risk is so low.

Liquidity risk

The Group seeks to manage financial risk to ensure sufficient liquidity is available to meet foreseeable needs and to invest cash
safely and profitably by maintaining adequate reserves and cash on hand by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows
and by matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. The Group reviews its cash flow requirements on a monthly
basis, to ensure that it maintains adequate cash reserves, diversifying its cash accounts across several banking institutions and
constantly monitoring forecast and actual cash flows.

The fair value of all of the Group’s financial instruments is derived from inputs other than unadjusted quoted prices that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortized cost in the financial statements approximate their fair values. Therefore there is no difference between the
carrying value and fair value of the above financial assets and liabilities.

Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities

The Group has assets and liabilities that have been fair valued, on a non-recurring basis, which have arisen through the acquisitions
in the previous years.

The only asset carried at fair value is marketable securities which represent the Group’s investments in corporate bonds, commercial
papers, government bonds, collateralized securities and certificates of deposit. These are valued using both level 1 and level 2
inputs. There are no marketable securities as at 31 March 2018.

Level 1 financial assets are valued using quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. Level 2 financial assets are valued by an
external specialist based upon net asset value per unit of the collective assets in the pooled fund.
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29 EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

The following table sets out exceptional items, being those items included in the profit/(loss) from continuing operations that are
material in terms of size and/or nature. One-off acquisition and exceptional costs and other costs related to acquisitions are
separately identified as exceptional costs. The types of costs included within acquisition costs are those which are directly
attributable to an acquisition, such as legal and accounting expenses, integration costs, severance and retention remuneration. The
types of costs which are considered exceptional include restructuring charges, impairment losses, other significant assets write-
downs, severance and retention costs, settlement of litigation, fair value adjustments onerous contract provisions and professional
fees.

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2018

$‘000

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2017

$‘000

Acquisition related costs:

Severance and retention 1,277 217

Onerous lease 1,579 917

Professional fees 10,990 1,301

Total acquisition related costs 13,846 2,435

Exceptional costs:

Restructuring charges 1,361 2,042

Severance costs 3,175 768

Litigation settlement 976 -

Total exceptional costs 5,512 2,810

Remeasurement of deferred consideration (3,119)

Total remeasurement of deferred consideration (3,119) -

Total acquisition and exceptional costs 16,238 5,245

The acquisition related costs primarily relate to the acquisition of YuMe, RadiumOne and Perk Inc. The exceptional costs primarily
relate to restructuring changes, onerous lease provisions, severance charges and a payment related to a commercial litigation
settlement.

The deferred consideration relating to the RadiumOne, Inc. (RadiumOne) acquisition has been recognised within Trade and other
payables. This item meets the definition of a financial liability and was consequently re-measured as at 30 September 2017. The
resulting gain of $3.1 million has been recognised as an exceptional item within other income in the consolidated income statement.
The liability was reclassified as shares to be issued as at 30 September 2017.

30 OPERATING EXPENSES BY NATURE FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Operating expenses by nature include the following:

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2018

$‘000

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2017

$‘000

Depreciation and amortization 18,846 9,456

Market research, public and investor relations, branding 6,659 4,313

Occupancy 5,874 4,049

Other expenses(a) 4,400 969

Professional services 7,019 3,499

Salaries and wages 51,056 29,467

Share based compensation 2,164 2,015

Technology 11,449 5,177

Travel 2,794 1,612

110,261 60,557

(a) Other expenses primarily include bank charges and merchant fees, dues and subscriptions, office costs, training and recruitment costs.

31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on
consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.

The remuneration of the Directors, who are the Group’s key management personnel, in accordance with IAS 24 Related Party
Disclosures, is disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 32 to 35. There were no other related party transactions in
either the current or prior year.

32 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

There are no post balance sheet events to report.
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NOTE

AS AT
31 MARCH 2018

£000’s

AS AT
31 MARCH 2017

£000’s

ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Investments in subsidiaries 34 283,632 151,877

283,632 151,877

CURRENT ASSETS

Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings 35 5,153 5,285

Other receivables and restricted cash 271 24

Cash and cash equivalents 1,196 233

Total Current Assets 6,620 5,542

Total assets 290,252 157,419

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 35 (1,369) (440)

Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings 35 (56,422) (2,065)

Total liabilities (57,791) (2,505)

NET ASSETS 232,461 154,914

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Share capital 38 7,754 4,951

Share premium account 39 73,267 98,210

Shares to be issued reserve 1,560 15

Share-based compensation reserve 14,794 12,506

Merger reserve - 44,616

(Loss) / Profit for the year 40 (2,356) 2,809

Retained earnings / (deficit) 40 137,442 (8,193)

TOTAL EQUITY 232,461 154,914

Note 33 to Note 43 form an integral part of this balance sheet. The Financial Statements of RhythmOne plc (registered number
06223359) were approved by the Board of Directors and authorized for issue on 14 June 2018. They were signed on its behalf by:

Mark Bonney
President and Chief Executive Officer
RhythmOne plc
14 June 2018
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ORDINARY
SHARE

CAPITAL
£000’s

SHARE
PREMIUM

ACCOUNT
£000’s

SHARES
TO BE

ISSUED
£000’s

SHARE BASED
COMPENSATION
RESERVE £000’s

MERGER
RESERVE

£000’s

RETAINED
(DEFICIT)/

EARNINGS
£000’s

TOTAL
EQUITY
£000’s

BALANCE AS AT

31 MARCH 2016 4,045 98,119 15 11,013 9,984 (8,193) 114,983

Net profit for the year - - - - - 2,809 2,809

Other comprehensive income/(loss) - - - - - -

Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - - - 2,809 2,809

Issue of shares, net of costs 906 91 - - 34,632 - 35,629

Capital contribution - - - 1,493 - - 1,493

BALANCE AS AT

31 March 2017 4,951 98,210 15 12,506 44,616 (5,384) 154,914

Net loss for the year - - - - - (2,356) (2,356)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) - - - - - - -

Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - - - (2,356) (2,356)

Issue of shares, net of costs 32 656 - - - - 688

Issue of shares, net of costs related to acquisitions 2,771 72,611 1,545 679 - - 77,606

Capitalization of merger reserve - 44,616 - - (44,616) - -

Capital reduction - (142,826) - - - 142,826 -

Capital contribution - - - 1,609 - - 1,609

BALANCE AS AT

31 MARCH 2018 7,754 73,267 1,560 14,794 - 135,086 232,461
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YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2018

£000’s

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2017

£000’s

NET CASH GENERATED FROM / (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 275 (388)

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES - -

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issuance of shares 688 116

NET CASH GENERATED FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 688 116

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 963 (272)

Beginning cash and cash equivalents 233 505

Effect of foreign exchange on cash and cash equivalents - -

ENDING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,196 233
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33 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The separate financial statements of the Company are presented in accordance with the Companies Act 2006. As permitted by that
Act, the separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards adopted
by the European Union. The Company has two Executive Directors and five Non-Executive Directors. Their remuneration is shown in
the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 32.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. The principal accounting policies adopted are the same as
those set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements except as noted below.

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less, where appropriate, provisions for impairment.

These Company financial statements are presented in sterling as that is the currency of the primary economic environment in which
the Company operates.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis as the Company controls a group of subsidiaries with
sufficient cash reserves.

As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the income statement of the parent Company is not presented as part of
these financial statements. The parent Company’s loss for the financial year amounted to £2,356,000 (2017: profit of £2,809,000).
The Company’s loss/profit for each year is the same as its total comprehensive income and hence no separate statement has been
presented.

34 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

£’000

Cost and net book value

At 31 March 2016 110,443

Capital contribution due to share-based payments 1,493

Investment in subsidiaries 39,941

At 31 March 2017 151,877

Capital contribution due to share-based payments 1,609

Investment in subsidiaries 130,146

At 31 March 2018 283,632

Investments in subsidiary companies are subject to review for impairment.

The capital contribution is in respect of equity settled share-based payments made to employees of the Company’s subsidiaries for
which the Company receives no reimbursement. Refer to note 41 for further details on the Group’s Share Option Schemes.

All subsidiary companies within the Group’s operation at 31 March 2018 are shown in note 17.

35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial Assets

Amounts Due from Subsidiary Undertakings

At the balance sheet date there are receivables from fellow Group companies amounting to £5,153,000 (2017: £5,285,000). The
carrying amount of these assets approximates their fair value. There are no past due or impaired receivable balances (2017: none).
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and are repayable on
demand.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

These comprise cash held by the Company and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.

The carrying amount of these assets approximates their fair value.

Financial Liabilities

Amounts Due to Subsidiary Undertakings

At the balance sheet date there are payables to fellow Group companies amounting to £56,422,000 (2017: £2,065,000). The carrying
amount of these liabilities approximates to their fair value. Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings include loans of £50,151,000
(2017: nil) that carry interest at 2.84% per annum and are repayable one year following the origination date of the loan. The remaining
amount due to subsidiaries is unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and are repayable on demand.

Trade and Other Payables

Trade payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The average credit period taken
for trade purchases is 128 days (2017: 134 days).

The carrying amount of trade payables approximates to their fair value.

The financial risk and risk management policies are the same as those of the Group, which are discussed in note 28.
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Foreign Currency Risk Management

The Company is mainly exposed to movements in US Dollar. The table below shows the carrying amounts of the Company’s foreign
currency monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting date:

2018
LIABILITES

£‘000

2017
LIABILITES

£‘000

2018
ASSETS

£‘000

2017
ASSETS

£‘000

US Dollar 6,348 2,392 5,424 5,309

Foreign Currency Sensitivity Analysis

The Company has maintained its sensitivity at 20% in 2018 (2017: 20%).

The following table details the Company’s sensitivity to a 20% increase and decrease (2017: 20%) in the functional currency of the
entity against the relevant foreign currencies. 20% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the
year-end for a 20% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes loans to foreign operations where the
denomination of the loan is in a currency other than the currency of the lender or the borrower. A negative number indicates a
decrease in profit and other equity where the US Dollar weakens 20% against the Sterling. For a 20% strengthening of the US Dollar
against the Sterling there would be an equal and opposite impact on profit and other equity and the negative balances below would
be positive.

2018
£‘000

2017
£‘000

Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings (1,288) (1,322)

Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings 1,587 517

AS AT
31 MARCH 2018

£‘000

AS AT
31 MARCH 2017

£‘000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 1,196 233

Other receivables (loans and receivables) 271 24

Amounts due from group undertakings (loans and receivables) 5,153 5,285

6,620 5,542

Financial liabilities

Trade payables (amortised cost) 1,369 327

Amounts due to group undertakings (amortised cost) 56,422 2,065

57,791 2,392

The fair value of all of the Group’s financial instruments is derived from inputs other than unadjusted quoted prices that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortized cost in the financial statements approximate their fair values. Therefore there is no difference between the
carrying value and fair value of the above financial assets and liabilities.

36 DEFERRED TAX

No deferred tax assets or liabilities have been recognized by the Company in the year. At the balance sheet date there is an
unrecognized deferred tax asset of £1.4m (2017: £0.8m).

37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The amount owed by subsidiary undertakings is £5.2m (2017: £5.3m). The amount owed to subsidiary undertaking is £56.4m (2017:
£2.1m). Amounts are repayable on demand. No interest is payable and the amounts are unsecured.

The remuneration of the Directors, who are the Group’s key management personnel, in accordance with IAS 24 Related Party
Disclosures, is disclosed in the Directors Remuneration Report on page 32.

38 SHARE CAPITAL

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2018

£‘000

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2017

£‘000

ISSUED AND FULLY PAID

77,535,770 ordinary shares of 10 pence each (2017: 49,509,394 ordinary shares of 10 pence each) 7,754 4,951
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The Company has one class of ordinary share which carry no right to fixed income.

On 25 September 2017 the Company completed a share consolidation following a resolution duly passed at the Company’s
Shareholders General Meeting (the “General Meeting”). The share consolidation was effected to bring the number of common shares
in issue in line with comparable London listed companies. The 495,667,540 common shares of £0.01 per share (the “Original Shares”)
were consolidated and divided into 49,566,754 new common shares of £0.10 each (the “Consolidated Shares”). The Consolidated
Shares have the same rights and are subject to the same restrictions (same as to par value) as the Original Shares.

In the event that the number of Original Shares attributable to a shareholder was not exactly divisible by 10, the consolidation
generated an entitlement to a fraction of a Consolidated Share and the Company, pursuant to its articles of association (as amended
at the General Meeting), sold the Consolidated Shares representing the fractions on behalf of the selling shareholder for the best
price reasonably obtained to any person (including the Company) and distribute the proceeds of sale, in due proportion, among
those selling shareholders. In the event that the net proceeds of the sale attributable to a selling shareholder amounted to £5.00 or
less, the Company’s board of directors was of the view that, as a result of the disproportionate costs involved in distributing small
sums to shareholders, it would not be in the best interests of the Company to distribute such proceeds of sale, which instead were
retained for the benefit of the Company.

The number of shares subject to all outstanding options and restricted stock units have been consolidated on the same 10:1 basis,
except where the consolidation resulted in rights to acquire fractional Consolidated Shares, the Consolidated Shares were rounded
down to the nearest whole Consolidated Share. In the case of options, the per share exercise price payable by option holders on
exercise of an option was multiplied by 10 so that the total exercise price payable by each option holder to acquire Consolidated
Shares is the same as what the total exercise price payable by each option holder would have been to acquire Original Shares.

During the current year 28,026,376 shares were issued, of which 26,048,596 shares related to the acquisition of YuMe, 1,660,569
shares related to the acquisition of RadiumOne, 255,633 shares related to the exercise of employee share options and 61,578
related to the issuance of restricted stock units (2017: 9,063,107 shares were issued, of which 8,823,541 shares related to the
acquisition of Perk, 158,830 shares related to exercise of employee share options and 80,736 shares related to restricted stock
units).

39 SHARE PREMIUM

SHARE
PREMIUM

£‘000

Balance at 31 March 2016 98,119

Premium arising on issue of equity shares, net of costs 91

Balance at 31 March 2017 98,210

Premium arising on issue of equity shares, net of costs 656

Issue of shares, net of costs related to acquisitions 72,611

Merger reserve transferred to Share Premium 44,616

Capital reduction (142,826)

Balance at 31 March 2018 73,267

40 RETAINED DEFICIT

£‘000

Balance at 31 March 2016 (8,193)

Net profit for the year 2,809

Balance at 31 March 2017 (5,384)

Net loss for the year (2,356)

Capital reduction 142,826

Balance at 31 March 2018 135,086

41 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

See note 27, Share-based Payments Equity Settled Share Option Schemes.
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42 NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2018

£000’s

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2017

£000’s

Cash Flow From Operating Activities:

(Loss) / Profit for the year (2,356) 2,809

Gain on intercompany balances - (4,260)

Remeasurement on deferred consideration (2,350) -

Interest expenses 239 -

Unrealized foreign exchange gain (140) (167)

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (4,607) (1,618)

Decrease in amounts due from group undertakings 4,199 982

Increase / (decrease) in receivables (247) 6

Increase in payables 930 242

Cash generated / (used) in operations 275 (388)

43 STAFF COSTS

The average monthly number of employees and related staff costs for the year were:

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2018

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2017

Sales and marketing 1 -

Research and development 4 1

Total 5 1

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2018

£000’s

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2017

£000’s

Wages and salaries 423 435

Social Security costs 65 68

Other pension costs - 1

488 504

Other employee benefits and costs 102 57

INCLUDED IN (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 590 561
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REGISTRARS AND RHYTHMONE PLC SHAREHOLDER SERVICES

All administrative inquiries regarding shareholdings such as questions about lost share certificates should be directed to the Company’s registrars as

follows:

Computershare Investor Services PLC

The Pavilions

Bridgewater Road

Bristol

BS99 6ZY

United Kingdom

Tel: +44 870 707 1593

email: web.queries@computershare.co.uk

STOCK EXCHANGES

RhythmOne’s ordinary shares are listed on the London Stock Exchange (AIM) under the symbol “RTHM.” RhythmOne does not maintain listings on any

other stock exchanges.

SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATIONS

Topics featured in this Annual Report can be found via the RhythmOne plc home page on the Internet (http://www.rhythmone.com). Financial results, news

on RhythmOne products, services and other activities can also be found via that address.
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AD BLOCKING
Using technology to remove or alter advertising content in a webpage. Advertising can exist in a variety of forms including static banners,
rich media, video, text, or pop-up windows.

AD EXCHANGE
An online marketplace for advertisers and publishers to buy and sell inventory, often through real-time auctions.

AD NETWORK
A company that has deals with advertisers and publishers to manually buy and sell ads across the Internet.

AD SERVER
Company whose technology relays an ad buy to a website and reports on how it performed.

AGENCY TRADING DESK
A division within an ad agency focused on buying ads using ad technology.

AUDIENCE EXTENSION
Sometimes called “look-alike modeling,” a process that takes a known audience segment and catalogs various shared characteristics that
can be used to target people who bear similarities.

AUDIENCE VERIFICATION
Third-party reporting to provide validation that a site, and the ads on it, reach a legitimate, verifiable audience.

BEHAVIORAL TARGETING
Showing ads to people based on the type of sites they visit.

CLICK THROUGH RATE (CTR)
Measure of how many people clicked on an ad or a piece of digital content. Used as a proxy to determine the level of engagement of the
ad or content by the consumer.

CONNECTED TV
Television sets and set-top boxes with built-in integration of web features, such as streaming services and apps. Also known as Smart TVs.

COOKIE
Identifier attached to a person’s Internet browser to track the sites he or she visits.

COST PER CLICK (CPC)
Represents the cost an advertiser pays each time a user clicks on their ad.

COST PER DOWNLOAD/INSTALL (CPD/CPI)
Represents the cost an advertiser/software provider pays each time a consumer downloads or installs their software.

COST PER MILLE/THOUSAND ADVERTISING IMPRESSIONS (CPM)
Represents the cost of an advertising placement divided by the number of impressions generated (in thousands).

COST PER VIEW (CPV)
The price an advertiser pays for a single view of their content or ad, typically measured and priced in increments of one thousand views.

DATA-MANAGEMENT PLATFORM (DMP)
Company that provides technology to store and catalog marketer data.

DEMAND
Advertisers’ need for advertising inventory to place their ads on digital properties. Typically represented by volume, price and ad format
for a specified timeframe. Demand is typically executed on behalf of advertisers by their agency who may also use a series of
intermediaries, such as trading desks, demand side platforms and advertising exchanges to execute ad campaigns.

DEMAND SIDE PLATFORM (DSP)
A company that provides technology for media buyers to purchase ad placements, typically via bids in exchange’s real-time auctions.

FIRST-PARTY DATA
Data that a company has collected directly, like a retailer’s list of loyalty members.

FRAUDULENT ADVERTISING
When a company knowingly serves ads that no one will actually see as a way to drive “views” and revenue (Ad Fraud).

GEO-TARGETING
Showing ads to people based on their mobile device’s location; ZIP code information they submit when registering for a site/service; or
GPS coordinates collected by a site/service.

HASHING
A way for separate companies to match their data sets without either side being able to access the other’s data.
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HEADER BIDDING
Also known as pre-bidding, header bidding is a programmatic technique wherein publishers offer inventory to multiple ad exchanges
simultaneously before making calls to their ad servers. By letting multiple demand sources bid on the same inventory at the same time,
publishers are able to better monetize their inventory.

IDENTIFIER FOR ADVERTISERS (IDFA OR IFA)
A temporary device identifier used on mobile devices for targeted advertising, which provides device identification without compromising
personally identifiable information. Replaces Apple’s Unique Identifier (UDID) and Android ID and used instead of cookies that are
common on desktop devices.

IMPRESSION
Measure of the number of times an ad is seen.

IN-STREAM
An ad that appears within a piece of content.

MOBILE APPS
Specialized computer programs designed to run on smartphones, tablets and other mobile devices.

MOBILE WEB
Access to the web from a handheld mobile device, such as a smartphone or tablet.

PIXEL
A piece of code placed on websites so companies can recognize which cookies have already been dropped on a person’s browser and
put in new cookies.

PROGRAMMATIC DIRECT
An ad buy done directly between a publisher and advertiser through automated ad-buying systems.

REAL-TIME BIDDING (RTB)
The purchase and sale of ads through computer-run auctions that happen within milliseconds.

RETARGETING
Showing an ad to a person who visited your site while that person is visiting another site.

SECOND-PARTY DATA
When a company makes its first-party data directly available to another company.

SUPPLY
Advertising inventory offered by publishers or owners of digital properties. Typically supply is represented by volume, price and ad format
for a specified time period. Supply may be offered up directly by the owners of the inventory (owned and operated supply) or through a
series of intermediaries (such as ad networks, exchanges and Supply Side Platforms).

SUPPLY SIDE PLATFORM (SSP)
An ad-tech company that works with publishers to help them sell their inventory at scale.

THIRD-PARTY DATA
Information that a company collects indirectly (such as through cookies) or aggregated from others (such as credit card companies and
magazine publishers) and then sells to ad buyers to aid in targeting.

TRAFFIC
The result of the act of browsing the Internet or other digital properties by consumers. Such browsing behavior generates advertising
inventory. Used as a proxy for the volume and level of user attention or engagement and typically priced and aggregated into and sold as
audiences to agencies who represent advertisers.

UNIQUE-USER/DEVICE ID
Identifier assigned to a device or user that lasts until the device in reset or the account is deleted.

VIEWABILITY
Measuring an ad to make sure that it was visible to the user. The industry is moving toward this as a new standard for impression.

VTR (VIEW-THROUGH RATE)
The measurement of how many people saw an ad and eventually visited the advertiser’s site.
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